

Investigation of Multiple Concurrent Human Papillomavirus Infections, Oncogenicity, and STI Co-infection as Risk Factors for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection.

Author: Janine Jewanraj (Student Number: 211502126)

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science (Medical Microbiology) in the School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal.

Supervisor: Dr Lenine Liebenberg Co-Supervisor: Dr Derseree Archary

2017

PLAGIARISM DECLARATION

I, Janine Jewanraj, declare that the work described in this dissertation has been composed solely by myself except where otherwise stated by reference or acknowledged and has not been submitted to UKZN or any other institution for the purposes of an academic qualification. This work was done under the supervision of Dr Lenine Liebenberg, at the Centre for the AIDS Program of Research in South Africa, Durban.

I, Dr Lenine Liebenberg, hereby declare that I have read this dissertation and believe its contents to be the original work of the candidate, with other work adequately referenced.

Manung

Janine Jewanraj (Candidate)

Dr Lenine Liebenberg (Supervisor)

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Jane and Rajesh Jewanraj, who from a young age instilled in me the importance of education and striving for greatness in all aspects of life.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS

1. Human Papillomavirus and Discharge-Associated Sexually Transmitted Infections Increase HIV Risk Through CCR5⁺T Cell Recruitment.

Janine Jewanraj, Anne Rositch, Sanele Mhlungu, Andile Mtshali, Farzana Osman, Leila Mansoor, Salim Abdool Karim, Quarraisha Abdool Karim, Jo-Ann Passmore and Lenine Liebenberg.

HIV Research for Prevention Conference, Chicago, Illinois, 18 October 2016



Human Papillomavirus and Discharge-Associated Sexually Transmitted Infections Increase HIV Risk Through CCR5⁺T Cell Recruitment

Janine Jewanraj ^{1,6}, Anne Rositch ³,Sanele Mhlungu ¹, Andile Mtshali ¹, Farzana Osman ¹, Lyle Mckinnon ^{1,6,7}, Leila Mansoor ¹, Salim Abdool Karim ^{1,2}, Quarraisha Abdool Karim ^{1,2}, Jo-Ann Passmore ^{1,4,5}, and Lenine Liebenberg ^{1,6}

¹ Centre for the AIDS Programme of Research in South Africa (CAPRISA), Durban, South Africa. ² Department of Epidemiology, Columbia University, New York City, NY, USA. ³ Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland, USA. ⁴ Institute of Infectious Disease and Molecular Medicine (IDM), University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa. ⁵ National Health Laboratory Service, South Africa. ⁶ University of KwaZulu-Natal, Department of Medical Microbiology, Durban, South Africa ⁷University of Manitoba, Department of Medical Microbiology, Durban, South Africa ⁷University of Manitoba, Department of Medical Microbiology, Durban, South Africa ⁷University of Manitoba, Department of Medical Microbiology, Minpeg, MB, Canada.

Introduction

- Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) increase the risk of HIV acquisition likely through its association with inflammation in the female genital tract (FGT).
 A Mulitplexed PCR was used to detect the presence of several dischargeassociated sexually transmitted microbes (*T.vaginalis, C.trachomatis*,
- Several discharge-associated STIs cause genital inflammation and immune activation, and have been implicated as risk factors for HIV acquisition.
- Human Papillomavirus (HPV), the genital wart and cervical cancer-causing agent, is one of the most common STIs worldwide.
- A coinfection with multiple inflammatory agents could likely impact the level
 of genital inflammation that promotes HIV acquisition.
- Here we investigate potential compounding effects of HPV and discharge-associated STI coinfection on targets for HIV infection in the female genital tract.

Results

Women with a HPV/STI coinfection had greater CCR5⁺ expression in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells compared to women with a discharge-associated STI only (Figure 1).

While cytokine concentrations were similar between the two groups, significant increases in several proinflammatory and chemotactic cytokines were observed predominantly in women infected with discharge-associated STI only, or both HPV and other STIs compared to women with no evidence of HPV or other STIs (Table 1).



Figure 1. Comparison of cervical cellular event counts among CAPRISA 008 participants at baseline

Conclusion

STI was associated with increased cytokine concentrations. More than dischargeassociated STI infection alone, HPV/STI coinfection increases the frequency of CCR5⁺ target cells for HIV infection, rendering these women more susceptible to HIV infection. Further investigation is needed to determine the impact of HPV vaccination, or STI treatment on target cell recruitment.

CAPRISA 008 participants at baseline					
	HPV-STI-	HPV-STI+	HPV+STI-	HPV+STI+	
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	
Cytokine	log10 pg/mL	log ₁₀ pg/mL	log ₁₀ pg/mL	log ₁₀ pg/mL	P-value
ΙL-1α	2.1 (1.6 - 2.5)*	2.7 (2.0 - 3.0)	2.1 (1.8 - 2.4)	2.5 (2.2 - 2.8)*	0,008ª
IL-1β	1.6 (1.0 - 2.0)*	2.4 (1.7 - 2.7)* **	1.5 (1.0 - 2.2)**	2.1 (1.7 - 2.4)	0,003°
IL-6	0.8 (0.5 - 1.3)*	1.2 (1.0 - 1.7)*	1.0 (0.8 - 1.3)	0.9 (0.7 - 1.0)	0,004ª
IL-12p40	2.4 (2.3 - 2.5)	2.6 (2.4 - 2.7)	2.4 (2.3 - 2.5)	2.5 (2.3 - 2.6)	0,048
TNF-α	1.0 (0.8 - 1.4)	1.4 (1.1 - 1.8)	1.1 (0.9 - 1.3)	1.2 (1.0 - 1.5)	0,028
TNF-β	0.5 (0.4 - 0.7)	0.6 (0.4 - 0.9)	0.5 (0.4 - 0.6)	0.8 (0.5 - 0.9)	0,047
TRAIL	1.4 (1.1 - 1.7)* **	1.9 (1.5 - 2.3)**	1.5 (1.2 - 1.8)	1.9 (1.5 - 2.2)*	0,002ª
СТАСК	1.2 (1.0 - 1.4)* **	1.4 (1.3 - 1.8)**	1.2 (1.1 - 1.4)	1.5 (1.2 - 1.6)*	0,003ª
IL-8	2.6 (2.2 - 3.0)	3.0 (2.6 - 3.6)	2.6 (2.3 - 3.0)	3.0 (2.7 - 3.2)	0,045
IL-16	1.5 (1.3 - 1.8)*	1.9 (1.7 - 2.3)*	1.6 (1.4 - 1.8)	1.8 (1.5 - 2.1)	0,013ª
MIG	2.4 (1.8 - 3.0)*	3.2 (2.5 - 3.8)*	2.5 (2.1 - 3.1)	3.3 (2.3 - 3.5)	0,005°
MIP-1α	-0.0 (-0.3 - 0.2)*	0.3 (0.0 - 0.7)*	-0.0 (-0.2 - 0.3)	0.2 (-0.0 - 0.4)	0,013ª
RANTES	0.8 (0.4 - 1.0)*	1.2 (0.9 - 1.5)*	0.8 (0.5 - 1.0)	1.0 (0.7 - 1.2)	0,014ª
IFN-α2	1.2 (1.1 - 1.3)	1.4 (1.2 - 1.6)	1.2 (1.1 - 1.4)	1.4 (1.2 - 1.6)	0,009
β-NGF	-0.2 (-2.0 - 0.3)	0.2 (-0.1 - 0.7)	-0.1 (-0.5 - 0.2)	0.4 (-0.4 - 0.6)	0,021
HGF	2.1 (1.8 - 2.7)*	2.8 (2.3 - 3.3)*	2.3 (1.9 - 2.8)	2.6 (2.3 - 2.9)	0,004ª
IL-3	2.0 (1.9 - 2.1)	2.1 (2.0 - 2.5)	2.0 (2.0 - 2.1)	2.3 (2.0 - 2.3)	0,032
LIF	1.1 (0.9 - 1.3)	1.2 (1.1 - 1.6)	1.1 (0.9 - 1.2)	1.3 (1.2 - 1.4)	0,008
PDGF-bb	1.1 (0.9 - 1.3)	1.3 (1.1 - 1.7)	1.1 (1.0 - 1.3)	1.3 (1.0 - 1.4)	0,042
SCF	1.0 (0.7 - 1.2)	1.4 (0.9 - 1.8)	1.0 (0.8 - 1.3)	1.5 (0.9 - 1.7)	0,013
SCGF-B	2.6 (2.1 - 2.9)*	3.1 (2.5 - 3.3)*	2.7 (2.4 - 3.0)	2.8 (2.4 - 3.1)	0,032ª
IL-4	-0.0 (-0.2 - 0.1)*	0.2 (-0.0 - 0.4)*	0.0 (-0.1 - 0.1)	0.1 (-0.1 - 0.2)	0,039ª
IL-5	0.0 (-0.9 - 0.4)*	0.5 (0.3 - 0.7)*	0.2 (-0.2 - 0.5)	0.4 (0.3 - 0.6)	0,007°
IL-17	1.1 (0.9 - 1.3)	1.2 (1.0 - 1.7)	1.1 (1.0 - 1.2)	1.1 (1.0 - 1.4)	0,040
IFN-y	1.3 (1.1 - 1.5)	1.6 (1.3 - 1.8)	1.4 (1.2 - 1.5)	1.4 (1.3 - 1.6)	0,052
IL-2Rα	1.3 (1.1 - 1.5)	1.5 (1.4 - 1.9)**	1.2 (1.1 - 1.4)* **	1.6 (1.2 - 1.7)*	0,002ª
^a ANOVA p-value statistically significant after multiple comparisons adjustment. * Statistically significant association by Kruskall-Wallace Test. ** Statistically significant association by Kruskall-Wallace Test. P-values <0,05					

G The Global Fund 🚺 GILEAD CDC 7/2 AIDS FUND 1 National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases CONRAD 6 () UNAIDS fhi 340 🗺 CHAVI of the Univ CIPRA

associated sexually transmitted microbes (*T.vaginalis, C.trachomatis, N.gonorrhoeae and M.genitalium*) in a study group of 166 participants at baseline visits during the CAPRISA 008 trial.

Methods

- The Roche linear array assay was used for genotyping HPV in this population. CCR5* expression in cervical cytobrush-derived CD4* and CD8* T cells was
- assessed by multiparameter flowcytometry. Multiplex ELISA assays were conducted on matching cervicovaginal lavage supernatants to detect the presence of 48 cytokines collectively involved in characteric informatical growth adaptive recorders conduction and in
- supernatants to detect the presence of 48 cytokines collectively involved in chemotaxis, inflammation, growth, adaptive responses, regulation, and in haematopoeisis.

Table 1. Statistically significant genital cytokine associations among

2. Potential Immune Mechanisms for the Relationship between HIV Risk, Multiple Concurrent HPV Infections and Oncogenicity

Janine Jewanraj, Anne Rositch, Sanele Mhlungu, Andile Mtshali, Frazana Osman, Lyle Mckinnon, Leila Mansoor, Salim Abdool Karim, Quarraisha Abdool Karim, Jo-Ann Passmore and Lenine Liebenberg.

8th SAAIDS Conference, Durban, ICC, 13 June 2017

9th IAS Conference on HIV Science, Paris, July 2017

CAPRISA Risk, Multiple Concurrent HPV Infections and Oncogenicity

Janine Jewanraj ^{1,6}, Anne Rositch ³, Sanele Mhlungu ¹, Andile Mtshali ¹, Farzana Osman ¹, Lyle Mckinnon ^{1,6,7}, Leila Mansoor ¹, Salim Abdool Karim ^{1,2}, Quarraisha Abdool Karim ^{1,2}, Jo-Ann Passmore ^{1,4,5}, and Lenine Liebenberg ^{1,6}

¹ Centre for the ADS Programme of Roserch in Sorth Africe (CAPRISA), Durban, Sorth Africe, ¹ Department of Ljudeniology, Columbus University, New York City, NY, USA. ³ Johan Hopking Hornberg School of Public Houth, Bahmore, Maryland, USA. ⁴ Institute of Ljudeniology, Columbus University, New York City, NY, USA. ³ Johan Hopking Hornberg School of Public Houth, Bahmore, Maryland, USA. ⁴ Institute of Ljudeniology, Columbus University, New York City, NY, USA. ³ Johan Hopking Hornberg School of Public Houth, Bahmore, Maryland, USA. ⁴ Institute of Markel Markel Markel, Department of Markel Markel, Department of Medical Markel, Department of Medi

Introduction

In Sub-Saharan Africa women are disproportionately affected by both human papillomavirus (HPV) and Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). HPV has been shown to increase the risk of HIV infection, but the biological bases for this association remains unclear. Infection with multiple HPV strains and high risk (HR) HPV, has been implicated as possible risk factors for HIV acquisition. Here we investigated whether proinflammatory immune responses associated with multiple HPV infections and HPV oncogenicity, contribute to a genital immune environment conducive to an increased risk of HIV infection.

Methods

- This study included baseline assessment of 167 women of the CAPRISA 008 trial, aged between 18-40 years, and all without PCR evidence of *Trichomonas vaginalis*, *Chlamydia trachomatis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, and *Mycoplasma genitalium* (N=139).
- The Roche Linear Array was used to detect the presence of 37 relevant HPV genotypes.
- The frequency of immune cells was assessed on cervical cytobrush-derived specimens by multiparametric flow cytometry.
- Multiplex ELISA was conducted to detect the concentrations of 48 different cytokines and markers of epithelial barrier integrity (Matrix Metalloproteinase and Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinase) in the CVL supernatant.

Results

- Among the 167 women, 85 (51%) were HPV positive and 82 (49%) were HPV negative at baseline (Table 1). HPV positive women had a lower mean age, were more likely to have a partner with a higher mean age, were less likely to be living with a regular partner and a lower reported number of live births compared to HPV negative women (Table 1).
- HPV positive women had significantly higher frequencies of lymphocytes (Figure 1a) and cytokine concentrations of G-CSF, IL-5, IL-6 (Figure 1b).
- Women with multiple concurrent HPV infections had a greater frequencies of lymphocytes at the genital tract, compared to HPV negative women (P=0.035, data not shown).
- Women with HR HPV had significantly higher levels of growth factor G-CSF compared to HPV negative women and IL-12p70, IL-5 and IL-6 concentrations trended towards women with HR HPV having elevated levels of these cytokines (Figure 2).

Conclusion

HPV infection was associated increased cytokines concentrations and lymphocyte frequencies. Having multiple concurrent HPV infections was significantly associated with increased lymphocyte frequencies, and HR HPV was associated with increased concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines. These data suggest a potential biological mechanism for the relationship between HIV risk and HPV infection.



Figure 1. a) Cell frequencies and b) cytokine concentrations among HPV+ (N=68) and HPV- (67) women. The Mann Whitney-U test was used to compare cell frequencies and cytokine concentrations among HPV positive and HPV negative women. Represented above are the medians and interparatile ranges (OR).



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr Lenine Liebenberg for her guidance, encouragement and un-ending support during my Masters' studies. I have been extremely fortunate to have a supervisor who was so involved and always responded promptly to my queries. Completing this dissertation would have been impossible without her motivation and contribution towards my write-up. I have learned so much from her in the past two years and look forward to continuing my research career under her supervision.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr Derseree Archary for her guidance when my supervisor was away on maternity leave and for taking the time to look through my dissertation and offering me detailed and valuable feedback.

A special thanks goes to CAPRISA for allowing me to conduct my Masters' research within their organization and utilisation of their facilities during this time. I always felt extremely comfortable and welcomed by all the staff at CAPRISA and remain grateful to them. I would particularly like to thank the CAPRISA study participants, as this study would not have been possible without them. I would also like to acknowledge and thank Andile Mtshali and Sanele Mhlungu for their laboratory assistance.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the DST-NRF Centre of Excellence who funded me during this time. Their financial support to young researchers such as myself is both encouraging and admirable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTE	RACT	1
1. CI	HAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	2
2. CI	HAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1.	HPV Epidemiology	4
2.2.	HPV Virology	5
2.3.	HPV Life Cycle	
2.4.	HPV Immune Evasion Strategies	9
2.4	4.1. Evasion of Host Innate Immunity in HPV Infection	
2.4	4.2. Evasion of Host Adaptive Immunity in HPV Infection	
2.5.	HPV Persistence and Clearance	
2.6.	HPV Symptoms and Risk Factors	
2.6	5.1. Sexual Behaviour and Age	
2.6	5.2. Microabrasions in the Genital Tract	14
2.6	5.3. <i>Circumcision</i>	14
2.6	5.4. <i>Smoking</i>	14
2.6	5.5. Alcohol Abuse	15
2.6	5.6. Long Term use of Oral Contraceptives	15
2.6	5.7. Immunosuppression	16
2.7.	HPV Prevention	16
2.8.	HPV Treatment	17
2.9.	HPV Infection Increases the Risk of HIV Acquisition	
2.10.	HIV Epidemiology	19
2.11.	HIV Transmission in the Female Genital Tract	
2.12.	Biological Defences of the Female Genital Tract	21
2.13.	Genital Inflammation Increases Susceptibility to HIV Infection	
2.14.	Sexually Transmitted Infections and Genital Inflammation	
2.15.	Genital inflammation as the underlying link between HPV and HIV risk	
3. H	YPOTHESIS	
4. O I	BJECTIVES	
5. M	ETHODOLOGY	
5.1.	Study Design	
5.2.	Study Population	

5.3. S	Specimen Collection and Processing	.27
5.3.1.	Cervical Cytobrush Collection and Processing	.27
5.3.2.	Cervicovaginal Lavage Collection and Processing	. 28
5.3.3.	Swab Collection and Processing	. 28
5.4. I	Detection of HPV Genotypes in Cervicovaginal Lavage Pellet Specimens	. 28
5.4.1.	HPV Roche Linear Array Assay	. 28
5.4	.1.1. Specimen Preparation	. 28
5.4	.1.2. Amplification Reagent Preparation	. 29
5.4	.1.3. Amplification Procedure	. 29
5.4	.1.4. HPV Genotyping	. 29
5.5. I	Investigation of Immune Cell Frequency Cervical Cytobrush Pellet Specimens	.31
5.5.1.	Surface Staining of Cellular Immune Markers	.31
5.5.2.	Intracellular Staining of Cellular Immune Markers	. 32
5.5.3.	Preparation of Compensation Beads	. 32
5.5.4.	Data Acquisition	. 32
5.6. In	vestigation of Epithelial Barrier Integrity and Cytokine Biomarkers of Genital flammation in CVL Supernatant Specimens	33
561	Multiplex ELISA Assay	.33
5.6	5.1.1. Preparation of the Bio-Plex 200 Suspension Array System and Software for Data	
010	Acquisition	. 34
5.6	5.1.2. Preparation of samples, standards, beads, controls, the detection antibody and SA PE for the Bio-Plex Pro Human Cytokine Assays	- 35
5.6	5.1.3. Preparation of sample, standards, beads, controls and detection antibody and SA- for the Bio-Plex Pro Human MMP Assays	<i>PE</i> 36
5.6	5.1.4. Conducting the Multiplex ELISA Assays (Cytokines and MMPs)	.37
5.6	5.1.5. Data Quality Control	. 39
5.7. S	Statistical Considerations	. 39
6. RESU	U LTS	.40
6.1. I	HPV prevalence and genotype distribution	.40
6.2.	Baseline demographics, behavioural and clinical characteristics of the str population	u dy 40
6.3. I	Prevalent HPV and biomarkers of inflammation	.43
6.3.1.	Association between prevalent HPV and genital cytokine concentrations	.43
6.3.2.	Association between prevalent HPV and epithelial barrier integrity	.43
6.3.3.	Association between prevalent HPV and immune cell recruitment	.45
6.4. A	Association between multiple HPV genotypes and genital immunity	.49
6.5. A	Association between oncogenic HPV and genital immunity	.51

6	.6. HI	PV, discharge-associated STIs, and biomarkers of inflammation	53
	6.6.1.	Association between HPV, STIs, and genital cytokine concentrations	53
	6.6.2.	Association between HPV, STIs, and epithelial barrier integrity	55
	6.6.3.	Association between HPV, STIs, and immune cell recruitment	55
7.	DISCU	SSION	57
8.	CONC	LUSION	68
9.	REFE	RENCES	69
10.	APPEN	DIX	

Table 1. Thermal cycler specification for amplification	29
Table 2. Preparation of Wash Buffers for HPV genotyping	30
Table 3. Prevalence of HPV at Baseline ($N = 167$)	40
Table 4. Baseline characteristics by HPV status	42
Table 5. Cytokine concentrations among HPV- and HPV+ women	44
Table 6. MMP concentrations by HPV status	45
Table 7. Cellular frequencies by HPV status	46
Table 8. Cytokine concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ w	omen
	54
Table 9. MMP concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ wom	en55
Table 10. Cellular frequencies among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ wom	nen56

Figure 1. Typical genomic structure of HPV 16	6
Figure 2. HPV E6 and E7 oncoproteins mechanisms of action	7
Figure 3. Human Papillomavirus life cycle	9
Figure 4. Human Papillomavirus host immune evasion strategies	10
Figure 5. Current HPV vaccines available as routine	17
Figure 6. Global HIV prevalence in 2015	19
Figure 7. Epithelial composition and HIV targets of the female genital tract	20
Figure 8. Clustering of HIV positive and HIV negative women based on their cytokine express	sion
profiles	23
Figure 9. Representative flow cytometry gating plot for the assessment of T cell activation	33
Figure 10. Graphical representation of multiplex ELISA assay	34
Figure 11. Example of a plate layout on the Bio-Plex 200	35
Figure 12. Preparation of a fourfold standard dilution series	36
Figure 13. Preparation of a threefold standard dilution series	37
Figure 14. Multiplex ELISA assay protocol summary	38
Figure 15. Type-specific HPV prevalence among participants	41
Figure 16. Association between HPV status and biomarkers of genital inflammation	48
Figure 17. Association between multiple HPV genotypes and biomarkers of genital inflammat	ion 50
Figure 18. Association between oncogenic HPV and biomarkers of genital inflammation	52

Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndromes
APCs	Antigen Presenting Cells
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
BV	Bacterial Vaginosis
BV700	Brilliant Violet 700
CAPRISA	Centre for the AIDS Program of Research in South Africa
CCR5	C-C Chemokine Receptor 5
CIN	Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia
COC	Combined Oral Contraceptives
СТАСК	Cutaneous T Cell Attracting Chemokine
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes
CV	Coefficient of Variation
CVL	Cervicovaginal Lavage
DCs	Dendritic Cells
dH ₂ O	Distilled Water
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
ds	Double-Stranded
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
FACS	Fluorescent-Activated Cell Sorting
FcRn	Neonatal Fc Receptor
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FGF basic	Fibroblast Growth Factor Basic
FGT	Female Genital Tract
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
FMO	Fluorescence Minus One
G-CSF	Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor
GRO-a	Growth Regulated Oncogene Alpha

H_2O_2	Hydrogen Peroxide
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
HIF-1	Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HPV	Human Papillomavirus
HR	High Risk
HSV-2	Herpes Simplex Virus 2
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
ICC	Invasive Cervical Cancer
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IP-10	Interferon Gamma Induced Protein 10
KZN	KwaZulu-Natal
LCs	Langerhan Cells
LIF	Leukaemia Inhibitory Factor
LR	Low Risk
M. genitalium	Mycoplasma Genitalium
МСР	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein
M-CSF	Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
МНС	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MIF	Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor
MIG	Monokine Induced by Interferon Gamma
MIP	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
MMX	Master Mix
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
N. gonorrhoeae	Neisseria Gonorrhoeae
NICD	National Institute for Communicable Diseases
NK	Natural Killer Cell
OC	Oral Contraceptives
OOR	Out of Range

ORF	Open Reading Frame
ORI	Origin of Replication
Pap	Papanicolaou
РВМС	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDGF-BB	Platelet Derived Growth Factor BB
PE	Phycoerythrin
PerCP-Cy5.5	Peridinin-Chlorophyll Protein-Cyanine 5.5
pRb	Retinoblastoma Protein
RANTES	Regulated on Activation, Normal T Expressed and Secreted
RPM	Revolutions per Minute
SA-HRP	Streptavidin-Horseradish Peroxidase
SA-PE	Streptavidin Phycoerythrin
SCF	Stem Cell Factor
SCGF-β	Stem Cell Growth Factor Beta
SDF-1a	Stromal Cell-Derived Factor 1 Alpha
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
SSPE	Sodium Chloride-Sodium Phosphate-EDTA
STIs	Sexually Transmitted Infections
T. vaginalis	Trichomonas Vaginalis
TIMP	Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
TRAIL	Tumour Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand
URR	Upstream Regulatory Region
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VLPs	Virus-Like Particles
vs.	Versus
β-NGF	Nerve Growth Factor Beta

ABSTRACT

Background: Human papillomavirus (HPV) is one of the most common sexually transmitted infections (STIs) globally and a necessary factor for cervical cancer development. While HPV infection has been associated with increased Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) risk, the underlying mechanisms remain unclear. Since STIs upregulate cytokine production and immune cell recruitment, and reduce epithelial barrier integrity, this study investigated whether the immune responses associated with HPV infection contribute to a genital immune environment conducive to an increased risk of HIV infection.

Methods: This study included a baseline assessment of 167 HIV negative women participating in the CAPRISA 008 trial. The Roche Linear Array was used to detect the presence of 37 HPV genotypes in cervicovaginal lavage (CVL) pellets. The concentrations of 48 cytokines and 9 matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) were assessed in matching CVL supernatants by multiplex ELISA. The frequencies of activated or proliferating T cells, NK cells, and of HIV target cells were assessed on cervical cytobrush-derived specimens by flow cytometry. Multiplex PCR was conducted to determine infection with common discharge-associated STIs.

Results: The study demonstrated a 50.8% HPV prevalence. HPV infection was associated with younger age, older male partners, not living with a regular partner, and higher parity. HPV infection was also associated with greater levels of IL-5, IL-6 and G-CSF, an association otherwise masked by the inflammatory nature of other STI. Concomitant HPV/STI infection resulted in reduced concentrations of IL-6 and IL-1RA relative to HPV-STI+ women. In multivariate analyses controlling for other STI and nugent score, HPV-infected women had increased concentrations of SDF-1 α ($\beta = 0.148$ pg/ml). Women with HR-HPV had higher concentrations of MCP-1 ($\beta = 0.127$ pg/ml) and IL-13 ($\beta = 0.117$ pg/ml), and greater frequencies of lymphocytes ($\beta = 1.987$ pg/ml) relative to those infected with LR-HPV. Having multiple HPV infections was associated with reduced concentrations of IL-5 ($\beta = -0.170$ pg/ml).

Conclusion: While discharge-related STIs are inflammatory, a more subtle immune profile was associated with HPV infection that did not overtly relate to an increased potential for HIV risk. However, this study demonstrated an association between HR-HPV and biomarkers of inflammation, suggesting the need for longitudinal investigation to confirm a biological mechanism for the relationship between persistent HR-HPV infection and HIV acquisition.

1. CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The association between STIs and increased HIV risk has been well established (Houlihan *et al.*, 2012). HPV is one of the most common STIs globally, and is related to an increased risk of HIV acquisition (Smith-McCune *et al.*, 2010a; Averbach *et al.*, 2010; Auvert *et al.*, 2011; Low *et al.*, 2011; Konopnicki *et al.*, 2013a). Both HIV and HPV are sexually transmitted, with HPV being more prevalent than HIV, even in areas where HIV is endemic (Lissouba *et al.*, 2013). While the epidemiological link between HPV and HIV risk is well established, the biological mechanisms involved remain to be elucidated.

Since HPV-associated dysplastic cervical lesions are associated with a larger number of CD4⁺ T cells compared to normal cervical epithelium (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2004), HPV infection could predispose a woman to HIV by exposing susceptible target CD4⁺ T cells to HIV. Furthermore, dendritic cells (DCs) (van Seters *et al.*, 2008), natural killer (NK) cells (Lee *et al.*, 2001) and T cells are also associated with genital wart regression; and genital warts are successfully treated with Imiquimod, a Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 agonist that prompts an inflammatory response (van Seters *et al.*, 2008). HPV, an epithelial virus, may also increase the risk of HIV infection and facilitate HIV dissemination through disruption of the epithelial barrier and upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Herfs *et al.*, 2011; Nicol *et al.*, 2005). Further, studies have reported that the risk of acquiring HIV is greatly increased if there are two or more types of HPV isolated from the same individual (Konopnicki *et al.*, 2013a; Averbach *et al.*, 2010). *It is therefore possible that multiple concurrent HPV infections could lead to an elevated immune response and a greater number of cervical lesions that disrupt the mucosal epithelia integrity, facilitating HIV entry at the genital tract (Laga <i>et al.*, 1993; Freeman *et al.*, 2006).

Low risk (LR), non-oncogenic HPV is generally cleared by the immune system without any permanent damage. Conversely, high risk (HR), oncogenic HPV has the ability to evade the host immune responses and cause persistent infection, leading to the development of pre-cancer lesions and invasive cervical cancer (ICC). Conflicting reports exist for the impact of HPV oncogenicity on HIV infection risk (Averbach *et al.*, 2010; Smith-McCune *et al.*, 2010a; Auvert *et al.*, 2011). Auvert *et al.* showed that HIV seroconversion among female sex workers was associated with genital HR-HPV infection. Whereas, another study reported that the risk of acquiring HIV between women infected with high versus low risk HPV types was similar (Averbach *et al.*, 2010). Thus *further investigation is required to determine the relationship*

between HPV oncogenicity and HIV risk in KwaZulu-Natal, the heart of South Africa's HIV pandemic.

Several studies have shown that discharge-associated and ulcer-linked STIs contribute to genital inflammation through the recruitment of immune cells, reduced epithelial barrier integrity and upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Laga *et al.*, 1993; van de Wijgert *et al.*, 2009; Van Der Pol *et al.*, 2008; Petrova *et al.*, 2013; Wira *et al.*, 2015; Rasmussen *et al.*, 1997). HPV coinfection with Chlamydia, Herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV-2), or even a state of vaginal dysbiosis such as Bacterial Vaginosis (BV), has been associated with the persistence of HPV infection, and increased risk of cervical cancer (Silins *et al.*, 2005; Simonetti *et al.*, 2009; Castle *et al.*, 2003). *However, it is unclear whether coinfections with HPV and STIs have a compounding effect on genital inflammation, cellular activation and HIV risk.* Nevertheless, increased concentrations of similar pro-inflammatory cytokines have been observed in genital specimens of patients with persistent HPV infection (Scott *et al.*, 2013, Liebenberg *et al.*, unpublished), as well as in patients with other STIs, and this implies the possibility of an additional contribution to the genital inflammation (Masson *et al.*, 2015) that promotes HIV acquisition.

Here it was hypothesized that the immune responses associated with multiple concurrent HPV infections, oncogenicity and STI coinfection each contribute to a genital immune environment conducive to an increased risk of HIV infection. The CAPRISA 008 trial provided a unique opportunity to collectively address these unknowns related to HPV infection, genital inflammation and HIV risk among KwaZulu-Natal (KZN) women, since both HPV prevalence and the risk of acquiring HIV is particularly high in KZN. This study attempts to expand on the research questions posed in a current CAPRISA study underway to determine the immune mediators associated with HPV clearance as predictors of HIV acquisition (5R01 AI115983-02; PI: Liebenberg/Celentano). In this study, multiple HPV genotypes and HPV oncogenicity was associated with the frequency of concurrently-infecting discharge-related STIs; and the cytokine, cellular and epithelial integrity biomarkers of genital inflammation.

2. CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. HPV Epidemiology

HPV is one of the most common STIs globally and a necessary factor for the development of cervical cancer. In 2008, approximately 12.7 million new cancer infections occurred globally and 4.8% of these were attributable to HPV (Bosch *et al.*, 2013). The estimated global HPV prevalence among women with normal and abnormal cervical cytology was 32.1% (Vinodhini *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, the prevalence of HPV was shown to be higher in less developed countries (42.2%) compared to more developed countries (22.6%) (Vinodhini *et al.*, 2012). A study by Bruni *et al.* showed that globally, young women (<25 years) remain disproportionately affected by HPV, with a prevalence of 43.9% in African countries (Bruni *et al.*, 2010). In Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) the HPV prevalence, similar to the prevalence of HIV, is among the highest in the world (Bruni *et al.*, 2010; Denny *et al.*, 2014), particularly among women from urban and rural KZN with an alarming prevalence of 76.3% (Ebrahim *et al.*, 2016).

HPV is generally acquired soon after sexual debut, with the greatest prevalence observed among young women (Mbulawa et al., 2015). Although approximately 80% of women will acquire HPV at some point in their life, most women are able to clear the infection (Vinodhini et al., 2012). However, if infection persists it may result in the development of high grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) and eventually, ICC (Vinodhini et al., 2012). There are currently more than 200 HPV types that have been identified and approximately 40 types infect the anogenital region (Fernandes et al., 2013; Bzhalava et al., 2015). HPV is classified as LR or HR based on their relation to the development of benign or malignant lesions (Fernandes et al., 2013). LR, non-oncogenic HPV is associated with the development of anogenital warts, which are benign, hyperproliferative lesions, the most common types being HPV6 and HPV11 (Fernandes et al., 2013). HR, oncogenic HPV is associated with the development of premalignant and malignant cervical lesion and the most common types are HPV16 and HPV18 (Fernandes et al., 2013). Persistent infection with an oncogenic HPV type has been established as the cause of almost all cervical cancers (Denny et al., 2014; McDonald et al., 2014). The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies HPV16, HPV18, HPV31, HPV33, HPV35, HPV39, HPV45, HPV51, HPV52, HPV56, HPV58 and HPV59 as "carcinogenic" and HPV68 as "probably carcinogenic" to humans (Denny et al., 2014; IARC, 2015). The prevalence of HPV in women fluctuates by country, region and population group and is particularly high among women exhibiting high risk sexual behaviour (Smith, 2008).

2.2. HPV Virology

HPV belongs to the Papillomaviridae family and is further categorised into five genera, represented by letters of the Greek alphabet (alpha, beta, gamma, mu and nu) according to their nucleotide sequences and their phylogenetic and pathology features (Bernard *et al.*, 2010; de Villiers *et al.*, 2004). Alphapapillomaviruses are linked to infections of the anogenital tract and the oral mucosa, and consists of a group of oncogenic HPV types that are responsible for the majority of cervical cancers and other cancers of the genital tract (Stanley, 2010). Alphapapillomaviruses consist of three primary clades in which all potentially carcinogenic HPV genotypes are grouped to form one high risk clade, consisting of five species (Alpha 5, Alpha 6, Alpha 7 and Alpha 9) (Fernandes *et al.*, 2013). Alpha 9 is the most important HPV species group as it is composed solely of carcinogenic types, with the main being HPV16 (Schiffman *et al.*, 2010). In 1977, Harald zur Hausen postulated that HPV played a significant role in the development of cervical cancer (zur Hausen, 1977). In 1983 and 1984 zur Hausen and colleagues went on to identify HPV16 and HPV18 in cervical cancer, which has since been identified as a major cause of cancer (zur Hausen, 1977).

Papillomaviruses are non-enveloped viruses consisting of a double-stranded, closed circular DNA genome of approximately 8000 base pairs (Fernandes *et al.*, 2013; de Sanjose *et al.*, 2017; Schiffman *et al.*, 2016; Doorbar *et al.*, 2012) (**Figure 1**). HPV encodes proteins that are able to initiate cellular DNA synthesis, prevent apoptosis and delay differentiation of infected keratinocytes, thereby establishing an environment conducive to viral DNA replication (Stanley, 2012). The viral genome is divided into three main regions: the early region (E) which encodes genes that play role in the viral life cycle and cell transformation (E1, E2, E4, E5, E6 and E7), the late region (L) which encodes the major and minor capsid proteins (L1 and L2, respectively), and the upstream regulatory region (URR) which consists of the origin of replication (ORI) and transcription factor-binding sites that function in the control of early gene transcription and replication (de Sanjose *et al.*, 2017; Stanley, 2012).



Figure 1. Typical genomic structure of HPV 16 (figure taken from de Sanjosé, 2017). The viral genome consists of early and late regions. The early region consists of genes (E2, E1, E6, and E7) that are necessary for the viral cycle and they play essential roles in cell transformation. The E2 gene encodes a protein involved in viral replication and transcriptional regulation of the viral early genes while the E6 and E7 genes encode proteins that play essential roles in the viral life cycle of HR-HPV. The major and minor capsid proteins (L1 and L2 respectively) are involved in the formation of the capsid during viral assembly. The URR controls early gene transcription and replication and is comprised of promoter and enhancer elements and the ORI.

These proteins can be further divided into core (E1, E2, L1 and L2) and accessory proteins (E4, E5, E6 and E7) (Schiffman *et al.*, 2016). The core proteins are highly conserved and play important roles in viral genome replication (E1 and E2) and viral assembly (L1 and L2) (Schiffman *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, the expression and functional characteristics of accessory proteins tend to vary (Schiffman *et al.*, 2016). The genes that encode accessory proteins are able to modify the host cell, thereby facilitating viral replication (Wise-Draper *et al.*, 2008). One of the most important roles of the E6 and E7 proteins is to increase viral fitness and virion production by facilitating cell cycle re-entry and genome amplification (Doorbar, 2006; Doorbar, 2005). The E6 and E7 oncogenes of HR-HPV also mediate carcinogenesis through the inhibition of p53 and the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) which are important tumour suppressors (de Sanjose *et al.*, 2017; Stanley, 2012). The E6 protein binds to p53 and degrades it, leading to alteration of cell cycle regulation (Stanley, 2012).

The E7 protein binds to the pRb and deactivates it, resulting in its degradation which leads to the infected cell's loss of control over its cell cycle (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2004; Jefferies *et al.*, 2001; Stanley, 2012). Expression levels of the E6 and E7 proteins is related to the type of cervical lesions: in low grade cervical lesion, these proteins are present at lower levels in the basal cells and greater levels in the upper layers of the epithelium, whilst in high-grade lesions, these proteins are present in high levels throughout the epithelium (Scheurer *et al.*, 2005). The L1 and L2 capsid proteins are crucial in maintaining replication of the virus and synthesis of the genes through differentiation of the epithelium (Morshed *et al.*, 2014). These capsid proteins are also required for the virus to complete replication (Remy-Ziller *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 2. HPV E6 and E7 oncoproteins mechanisms of action (figure taken from Janicek and Averette, 2001). The E6 protein binds to p53 and induces its degradation. The E7 protein binds to the Rb gene, causing the transcription factor E2F-1 to become unbound and free to activate the cell cycle.

2.3. HPV Life Cycle

The duration of the HPV life cycle is long and even under optimal conditions, it takes approximately three weeks from the time of initial infection to the release of HPV virions (Stanley, 2012). However, the duration from infection of the host cells to the appearance of lesions is variable, ranging from weeks to months, which suggests that in some cases, HPV is able to effectively evade host immune responses (Stanley, 2012). HPV is separated into two tropism groups: those infecting the keratinized surface of the skin, resulting in the development of warts; and those infecting the mucosa of the mouth, throat, respiratory tract and the anogenital tract (Burd, 2003; Mistry et al., 2008). HPV is highly infectious and may incubate for weeks, to months, or even years. At some point the environmental conditions become permissive and viral growth commences, and infectious virions are produced and released from the cell (Fernandes et al., 2013). The replication phase can continue for variable lengths of time; however, the majority of infected individuals are able to produce an effective immune response and are able to clear the infection (Stanley, 2006). HPV is an intraepithelial virus and infection and vegetative growth are reliant on the expression of the complete cycle of keratinocyte differentiation (Doorbar, 2005). The viral particles enter the basement membrane through microabrasions in the squamous epithelium and infect basal epithelial cells (Figure 3) (Passmore et al., 2016). High levels of viral gene expression occurs solely in the upper, more differentiated layers of the stratum spinosum and granulosum of the squamous epithelium (Chow et al., 2010). After the virus has infected the wounded basal cells, viral DNA replication occurs and the viral copy number is amplified to 50-100 copies per cell (Stanley, 2012). The infected host cell then enters the proliferative compartment of the epithelium, where the viral copy number remains unchanged and gene expression is low (Stanley, 2012). At this stage of the life cycle of HR-HPV, the expression of the E6 and E7 oncogenes are under stringent control and the E6 and E7 transcripts are hardly detectable in the proliferative compartment of the epithelium (Stanley, 2012). Once the infected keratinocyte reaches the differentiating compartment in the stratum spinosum, viral gene expression is upregulated and the viral copy number is amplified to thousands of copies per cell (Chow et al., 2010; Doorbar, 2007). At this stage, there is high expression of the E6 and E7 early and late genes from the late promoter (Chow et al., 2010; Doorbar, 2007).



Figure 3. Human Papillomavirus life cycle (figure taken from Stanley, 2012). HPV is species and tissue specific and only infects and replicates in completely differentiated squamous epithelium. Microtrauma of the genital epithelium provides a portal of entry for HPV to infect keratinocytes of the basal epithelium. In the proliferating compartment of the epithelium, the virus replicates along with the host cell and the viral copy number is approximately 50-100 copies in the daughter cells. In HR-HPV the E6 and E7 genes are under stringent control during cell division and are consequently expressed at low levels. Once the host cell stops dividing and starts to differentiate into a mature keratinocyte, the virus activates all of its genes and the viral genomes is highly expressed. In the upper layers of the epithelium, all viral genes are expressed, viral genomes are encapsidated and the resulting virions exit the cell. The time taken from infection of the basal cell to the production of infectious viral particles is approximately 3 weeks.

2.4. HPV Immune Evasion Strategies

The life cycle of HPV is suited to the differentiation of the keratinocyte and the virus utilises this differentiation program to evade the host immune responses (Stanley, 2012). HPV infection does not culminate in cytolysis or cytopathic death and important events of the virus life cycle occurs in fully differentiated keratinocytes, which are cells that are destined for death and desquamation at distant locations from immune activation (Stanley, 2012; Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). Hence, there is no virus-induced cell death, no inflammatory response throughout most of its lifecycle and minimal production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, crucial for activation and recruitment of antigen-presenting cells (APCs), into the local environment (Stanley, 2006; Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). HPV is exclusively intraepithelial and does not have a viremic phase of the life cycle, thus only small amounts of virus are visible to the host immune defences (**Figure 4**).

Infectious Cycle of High Risk HPVs

Very low levels of protein, no viremia No cell death, no inflammation

HPV globally downregulates innate immune sensors in keratinocytes HPV E6 and E7 genes down-regulate type 1 interferon response



HPVs evade the innate immune response and delay activation of adaptive immunity

Figure 4. Human Papillomavirus host immune evasion strategies (figure taken from Stanley, 2012). HPV is capable of downregulating keratinocyte innate immune responses and supressing type I interferon responses, which are crucial for controlling viral infections (Stanley, 2012). HPV does not cause viremia or virus-induced cell death, thus there is no host inflammatory response (Stanley, 2012).

2.4.1. Evasion of Host Innate Immunity in HPV Infection

HPV has developed immune evasion strategies in order to escape the host innate and adaptive immunity (Senba *et al.*, 2012; Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012; Stanley, 2012). The innate immune response towards HPV infection is non-specific and involves the recruitment of macrophages, NK cells and NK T cells (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). NK cells are a group of lymphocytes that destroy virus-infected and tumour cells not expressing major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). Cervical cancer and precursor lesions were found to have low expression of NK cell receptors and decreased cytotoxic activity of NK cells (Garcia-Iglesias *et al.*, 2009), indicative of a reduced ability to destroy infected cells.

Virus-infected cells release type 1 interferons (IFNs), such as IFN- α and IFN- β (Grandvaux *et al.*, 2002) that have antiviral, antiproliferative and antiangiogenic properties, and activate NK cells (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012; Le Bon *et al.*, 2002). HPV16 E6 and E7 proteins downregulate the transcription of type 1 IFNs (Koromilas *et al.*, 2001) and inhibit its translocation to the nucleus (Arany *et al.*, 1995). Downregulation of co-stimulatory molecules such as IFNs during antigen recognition may induce immune tolerance of HPV-infected cells (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). Macrophages are activated by cytokines and are able to destroy HPV infected cells through Tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (Routes *et al.*, 2005) secretion or antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein-3 α (MIP-3 α) are chemokines that recruit macrophages to the site of infection (Sasagawa *et al.*, 2012). These chemokines are downregulated by the HPV16 E6 and E7 proteins, thereby inhibiting translocation of macrophages to the site of HPV infection (Hacke, 2010; Guess *et al.*, 2005).

2.4.2. Evasion of Host Adaptive Immunity in HPV Infection

The adaptive immune response is specific and is largely mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) (Sasagawa et al., 2012). MHC class I molecules bind viral peptides and present them at the cell surface to CD8⁺ CTLs. The HPV16 E5 protein reduces the expression of MHC class I and results in evasion of CTL attack (Sasagawa et al., 2012). HPV is exclusively intraepithelial and HPV antigens are processed and presented by Langerhans Cells (LCs), which are APCs that reside within the epidermis (Stanley, 2012; Sasagawa et al., 2012). Since HPV gene expression is restricted to keratinocytes, cross presentation of viral antigens by LCs and other DCs is crucial for the production of effective T cell responses towards HPV proteins (Stanley, 2012). However, the suboptimal codon usage by HPV (Zhao et al., 2005) results in low levels of protein expression in infected cells and may prevent effective cross presentation by intraepithelial DCs (Stanley, 2012). Furthermore, LCs are not activated upon exposure to the HPV16 L1 protein (Stanley, 2012; Fausch et al., 2002), but rather immune tolerance is induced (Fausch et al., 2005). Most HPV genotypes are also able to decrease the expression of E-cadherins on the epidermal cell surface, thereby decreasing the localization of LCs in the epidermis (Leong et al., 2010). Although the host immune responses are able to clear the majority of HPV infections (Senba et al., 2012), persistent infection may result in the development of lesions that may progress to malignancy and eventually ICC (Moody et al., 2010; Bodily et al., 2011; Richardson et al., 2003).

2.5. HPV Persistence and Clearance

Infection with oncogenic HPV generally lasts for 12-18 months before it is cleared by the host immune responses (Franco et al., 1999). HPV clearance has been linked to an increased risk of HIV infection (Averbach et al., 2010), however, the biological mechanisms involved in the clearance of HPV remains unclear (Fernandes et al., 2013). HPV clearance results in lasting B cell antibody and cellular responses able to prevent reinfection by the same HPV genotype (Gonzalez et al., 2010). In contrast, the persistence of HPV infection, dramatically increases the risk of progression to cancer (Schiffman et al., 2010). HPV is defined as persistent if the same genotype is detectable in two consecutive visits (Fernandes et al., 2013). However, HPV infections that go unrecognised by the host's immunity may be due to viral latency, during which viral gene expression levels are below the limit of detectability of current HPV DNA detection assays (Fernandes et al., 2013). The persistence of HPV, and its integration into the genome of the host cell, leads to an increased possibility of developing high-grade and malignant lesions due to genomic instability (Fernandes et al., 2013). The expression of the E5, E6 and E7 genes can prompt cellular defects, such as fusion of cells, generation of aneuploidy and chromosomal instability (Fernandes et al., 2013). Abnormal centrosome duplication may also result in abnormal numbers of centrosomes (Fernandes et al., 2013). Disruption of the host cell-cycle through the interference of p53 and pRB, allows retention of cells with chromosomal anomalies (Münger et al., 2004). These anomalies culminate in genomic instability in HPV-infected cells, thereby increasing the risk of occurrence and accumulation of genetic mutations that extend over a long period of time (Fernandes et al., 2013). The combination of genetic mutations and lack of an effective host immune response to identify and eradicate infected cells, provide an environment conducive for cancer to develop (Fernandes et al., 2013). Cellular proliferation within benign and malignant HPV lesions increase the need for nutrients, thereby causing competition for nutrients and oxygen (Fernandes et al., 2013). In order to overcome this, both oncogenic and non-oncogenic HPV E7 proteins increase the levels of transcription hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and HIF-1 target genes under hypoxic conditions (Toussaint-Smith et al., 2004). The heightening of HIF-1 activity results in the upregulation of gene transcription that favours angiogenesis, and this plays a fundamental role in the persistence and progression of HPV-induced lesions, as it provides sufficient nutrients and oxygen in both benign and malignant HPV-induced lesions (Smith et al., 2007; Mukonoweshuro et al., 2005).

2.6. HPV Symptoms and Risk Factors

HPV is predominantly a sexually transmitted infection and can be spread through penetrative vaginal or anal intercourse, oral sex and by direct contact with infected skin or mucosa (Moscicki *et al.*, 2006). HPV infection is generally asymptomatic and is not typically related to symptoms such as itching, burning and vaginal discharge (Mao *et al.*, 2003). The Papanicolaou (Pap) test is utilised to screen for cervical cancer; however, such tests are only recommended for women aged 30 years or older (CDC, 2017). Most HPV infected women are unaware that they are infected until they develop genital warts or when they receive abnormal Pap test results (CDC, 2017). The HPV genotype is the primary factor that determines the progression of persistent HPV infection, however, there are several other risk factors that contribute to HPV acquisition and persistence in women, including sexual behaviour and age, microabrasions in the genital tract, circumcision, smoking, alcohol abuse, long-term use of oral contraceptives and immunosuppression (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016; Burchell *et al.*, 2006; Dunne *et al.*, 2007; Kahn *et al.*, 2007; Manhart *et al.*, 2006; Rosa *et al.*, 2009; da Silva Barros *et al.*, 2012; Vaccarella *et al.*, 2008; Minkoff *et al.*, 2004; Koshiol *et al.*, 2006; Schabath *et al.*, 2015; Appleby *et al.*, 2007; ACS, 2016; Goedert *et al.*, 1998).

2.6.1. Sexual Behaviour and Age

Sexually active women between 15-25 years have the highest prevalence of HPV infection and are at greatest risk of acquiring incident HPV (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016; Burchell *et al.*, 2006; Dunne *et al.*, 2007; Kahn *et al.*, 2007; Manhart *et al.*, 2006). Biological factors and immune responses in young women may increase their susceptibility to HPV infection. Younger women lack sufficient adaptive immune responses (Dempsey, 2008) and have a large area of cervical epithelium undergoing squamous metaplasia, and during this time the cervical cells are more vulnerable to HPV infection and persistence (Trottier *et al.*, 2006; Moscicki *et al.*, 1999; Louie *et al.*, 2009; Moscicki *et al.*, 2006; Castle *et al.*, 2006). Studies have demonstrated an important link between women who had their sexual debut before the age of 16 years and HPV infection (Ribeiro *et al.*, 2015; Baudu *et al.*, 2014). HPV prevalence has been described as bimodal, with a second peak among women 55 years and older, this may be due to weakening immunity, reactivation of latent HPV infection or birth-cohort effects (Herrero *et al.*, 2000; Castle *et al.*, 2005). Sexual intercourse with a new partner or multiple partners has also been linked with increased risk of acquiring HPV infection, progression to pre-cancer lesions and invasive cervical cancer (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016; Burk *et al.*, 1996).

2.6.2. Microabrasions in the Genital Tract

In order to establish infection, HPV requires a portal of entry to the basal cells through microabrasions in the mucosal epithelium (Mammas *et al.*, 2009). Genital warts, HSV and chlamydia cause genital inflammation and lesions in the epithelial barrier, providing HPV direct access to basal cells (Rosa *et al.*, 2009; da Silva Barros *et al.*, 2012). Friction during sexual intercourse may also cause lesions in the epithelium and contribute to HPV acquisition. A study conducted by Norvell *et al.* demonstrated that microabrasions were present in 60% of healthy women after consensual sexual intercourse (Norvell *et al.*, 1984).

2.6.3. Circumcision

Circumcised men are at a reduced risk of developing penile and prostate cancer (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016). According to the Centres for the Disease Control, the foreskin of the penis is more susceptible to infections than the skin on the shaft of the penis. The foreskin is more susceptible to lesions during sexual intercourse, thereby providing a point of entry for HPV infection and the ideal environment for viruses and bacteria to flourish (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016). HPV is highly infectious and is easily transmitted from one sexual partner to another (Lacey, 2005). Studies have shown that HPV is often transmitted from men with penile warts to their female partners (Campion *et al.*, 1985). Circumcision of adolescent men was shown to significantly reduce the prevalence and incidence of HPV infection among their female partners (Wawer *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, clearance of HR-HPV was more likely among women with circumcised male partners as opposed to those with uncircumcised partners (Wawer *et al.*, 2011). Removal of the foreskin is likely to be associated with a reduction of penile HPV carriage (Wawer *et al.*, 2011). Studies have shown HPV detection differs by the anatomical site and male circumcision is related to a reduction in HPV detection at the urethra, coronal sulcus and shaft of the penis (Giuliano *et al.*, 2009; Weaver *et al.*, 2004; Nielson *et al.*, 2009).

2.6.4. Smoking

Cigarette smoking has been linked to HPV prevalence, persistence and increased risk of progression to ICC among women (Vaccarella *et al.*, 2008; Minkoff *et al.*, 2004; Koshiol *et al.*, 2006; Bauer *et al.*, 1993; Giuliano *et al.*, 2002; Sellors *et al.*, 2003; Sellors *et al.*, 2000; Syrjanen *et al.*, 2007; Winer *et al.*, 2003). Although the biological mechanisms are uncertain, studies have demonstrated that smoking upregulates cellular proliferation and metaplasia in numerous tissues and cell subsets (Harris *et al.*, 2004; Peters *et al.*, 1993; Sekhon *et al.*, 1994; Wright *et al.*, 2001; Wright *et al.*, 1983), which may lead to increased replication of HPV due

to cell proliferation that is induced by smoking (Schabath *et al.*, 2012). Acrolein, an aldehyde in cigarette smoke, was shown to alter neutrophil function (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2001), cause DNA damage (Feng *et al.*, 2006), and suppress resistance to pulmonary infections (Li *et al.*, 1998). Cigarette smoking may also increase viral load by reducing the cellular immune response since it has deleterious effects on systemic and local immunity (Barton *et al.*, 1988; Kalra *et al.*, 2000; Poppe *et al.*, 1995; Sopori, 2002). Smoking leads to the recruitment of cells and the upregulation of cytokines, chemokines, oxygen radicals and protease production, which changes the function of immune cells (Mehta *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, nicotine has been associated with immune suppression in animals (Geng *et al.*, 1996) and humans (Guslandi, 1999).

2.6.5. Alcohol Abuse

Alcohol is a potent modulator of immune function and may result in immune deficiency and increased susceptibility to chronic and infectious diseases (Dunne, 1989; Szabo, 1997; Cook, 1998; Diaz *et al.*, 2002). Chronic alcohol abuse and even moderate alcohol consumption may have an undesirable effect on the immune system (Szabo, 1997; Diaz *et al.*, 2002; Molina *et al.*, 2010; Nelson *et al.*, 2002). Alcohol consumption can hamper both the inflammatory response and development of immunity towards the pathogen (Szabo, 1997). Men and women who have a greater consumption of alcohol are at increased risk of having multiple HPV genotypes, resulting in higher cervical/anal lesions and genital warts (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016). Four alcoholic drinks per week has been shown to double the risk of developing genital warts and five or more drinks is associated with a 2-4 times greater risk of HPV infection (Schabath *et al.*, 2015).

2.6.6. Long Term use of Oral Contraceptives

Studies have reported that long-term use of oral contraceptives (OCs) is associated with progression to cervical cancer in HPV infected women (ACS, 2016). Contraceptive use may affect the clearance or persistence of HPV infection and the progression of pre-cancer lesions (Appleby *et al.*, 2007). The risk of acquiring cervical cancer is significantly increased if OCs are used for more than 5 years (Appleby *et al.*, 2007; Moreno *et al.*, 2002). Marks *et al.* showed that women who reported current combined oral contraceptive (COC) use were less likely to clear HPV infection (Marks *et al.*, 2011a).

2.6.7. Immunosuppression

HIV attacks the immune system leading to an increased risk of incident HPV infection and progression to cervical cancer (Mbulawa *et al.*, 2012; Wang *et al.*, 2011; Massad *et al.*, 2004; Aubin *et al.*, 2011). Individuals with autoimmune or oncological diseases, undergoing immunosuppressive treatments (chemotherapy, monoclonal/polyclonal antibodies and glucocorticoids) are also at greater risk of acquiring HPV (Zitkute *et al.*, 2016). Immunosuppression may facilitate the reactivation of latent HPV infections (Jamieson *et al.*, 2002; Moscicki *et al.*, 2000; Ozsaran *et al.*, 1999; Palefsky *et al.*, 1999; Paternoster *et al.*, 2008; Savani *et al.*, 2008; Veroux *et al.*, 2009). The dampening of the T cell immune responses through the administration of cyclosporine to renal transplant recipients or due to HIV infection, has been suggested as a cause of HPV reactivation (Jamieson *et al.*, 2002; Moscicki *et al.*, 2000; Ozsaran *et al.*, 1999; Palefsky *et al.*, 1999; Paternoster *et al.*, 2002; Moscicki *et al.*, 2000; Ozsaran *et al.*, 2008; Veroux *et al.*, 2009). The dampening of the T cell immune responses through the administration of cyclosporine to renal transplant recipients or due to HIV infection, has been suggested as a cause of HPV reactivation (Jamieson *et al.*, 2002; Moscicki *et al.*, 2000; Ozsaran *et al.*, 1999; Palefsky *et al.*, 1999; Paternoster *et al.*, 2008; Savani *et al.*, 2008; Veroux *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, among older women lacking signs of cervical disease by cytology, waning T cell immunity may be responsible for the increased prevalence of HPV infection (Maglennon *et al.*, 2014).

2.7. HPV Prevention

Since there is no cure currently available for HPV infection, prevention of HPV infection is of utmost importance (Hathaway, 2012). Current HPV prevention strategies include vaccination, limiting sexual partners, postponing age of sexual debut, avoiding smoking, use of latex or vinyl condoms, and male circumcision (Hathaway, 2012; Diaz, 2008). Vaccines developed to prevent HPV infection were initially developed as the first vaccines to prevent cervical cancer (Fernandes et al., 2013). These vaccines consist of non-infectious virus-like particles (VLPs) that are immunologically similar to HPV and can induce neutralizing antibodies to the specific virus genotype (Frazer et al., 2011). Cervarix[™] (GlaxoSmithKline), Gardasil[™] (Merck and Co, Inc.) and Gardasil 9TM (Merck and Co, Inc.) are licensed prophylactic HPV vaccines that are accessible to adolescent girls as part of routine immunization schedules in some countries (Figure 5) (Frazer et al., 2011). Cervarix, the bivalent vaccine consists of VLPs assembled from the major coat proteins (L1) of HPV16 and HPV18 which have been implicated as the leading cause of cervical cancer (Stanley, 2012). Gardasil, the quadrivalent vaccine incorporates VLPs assembled from the L1 proteins of HPV16, HPV18, HPV6 and HPV11 (Frazer et al., 2011; Stanley, 2012). Both vaccines are administered intramuscularly with three doses and provide rapid access to the local lymph node, thereby escaping the immune evasion strategies of the HPV life cycle (Stanley, 2012). These vaccines confer long-term protection

for up to 6.4 years for the bivalent vaccine (David *et al.*, 2009) and 8.5 years for the quadrivalent vaccine (Villa *et al.*, 2006; Rowhani-Rahbar *et al.*, 2009). Recently, a 9-valent vaccine which additionally incorporates HPV31, HPV33, HPV45, HPV52 and HPV58 has been approved for routine use and has a high rate of efficacy against cervical lesions (Yang *et al.*, 2016). HPV VLPs induce the production of neutralizing antibodies targeting the L1 capsid protein (Harro *et al.*, 2001). The protective efficacy of these vaccines has been defined as the absence of persistent HPV infection and/or diseases related to the HPV genotypes incorporated into vaccines (Frazer *et al.*, 2011). Donovan *et al.* demonstrated a reduction in the appearance of HPV-associated genital warts among women below 28 years old, this provided the first evidence of field efficacy of HPV vaccines in the general population (Donovan *et al.*, 2011). There are currently thirteen HR-HPV types that may cause cervical cancer and some cross protection against other HPV types not included in the current vaccines, has been observed (Frazer *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 5. Current HPV vaccines available as routine (figure taken from elbiruniblogspotcom.blogspot.com). The bivalent vaccine incorporates HPV16 and HPV18. The quadrivalent vaccine also incorporates HPV6 and HPV11. The 9-valent vaccine confers protection against HPV6, HPV11, HPV16, HPV18, HPV31, HPV33, HPV45, HPV52 and HPV58.

2.8. HPV Treatment

Most HPV-infected women will clear infection spontaneously (Hathaway, 2012). However, some individuals are unable to do so and may undergo treatment. Treatment of HPV-related disease generally involves ablative and/or excisional procedures in order to remove the HPV-infected cells (Fernandes *et al.*, 2013). Chemical therapy for genital warts include trichloroacetic acid, podophyllin compounds, and Imiquimod (Hathaway, 2012; Fernandes *et al.*, 2013).

Trichloroacetic acid is a caustic substance that is applied topically to the lesion (Hathaway, 2012). Podophyllin compounds block cell division and Imiquimod compounds induce IFN and TNF production (Tyring *et al.*, 1998). Cryotherapy is used to freeze the lesion which leads to cell death (Chumworathayi *et al.*, 2010). Common agents used for cryotherapy are liquid nitrogen or a cooled metal probe known as a cryoprobe (Hathaway, 2012). The cryoprobe is not typically suitable for use in the vagina due to fistula formation, however, liquid nitrogen is acceptable (Hathaway, 2012). Extensive HPV lesions may be treated with electrocautery (Hathaway, 2012). The spread and damage caused by vaginal lesions can be control with precise destruction by a laser (Hathaway, 2012). Large and extensive lesions may require surgical removal (Hathaway, 2012). In this case, a scalpel is used to excise the lesion to the level of the skin and the base of the lesion is cauterized with electrocautery or a laser (Hathaway, 2012).

2.9. HPV Infection Increases the Risk of HIV Acquisition

In recent years, the association between genital HPV infection and HIV risk has generated much interest. Several studies have reported an association between HIV infection and increased HPV prevalence (Banura et al., 2008a; Ng'andwe et al., 2007; Baay et al., 2004; Didelot-Rousseau et al., 2006; Safaeian et al., 2008; Marais et al., 2008; Yamada et al., 2008), HR-HPV prevalence (Ng'andwe et al., 2007; Didelot-Rousseau et al., 2006), HPV incidence (Safaeian et al., 2008) and HPV persistence, which is related to increased risk of HPV-related lesions (Safaeian et al., 2008; Banura et al., 2008b) and infection with multiple concurrent HPV genotypes (Ng'andwe et al., 2007; Didelot-Rousseau et al., 2006; Marais et al., 2008). In women, the risk of acquiring HIV was increased in the presence of any HPV genotype compared to those without HPV (Averbach et al., 2010; Low et al., 2011; Smith-McCune et al., 2010a). Averbach et al. compared infection with LR-HPV (no HR-HPV) whilst Smith-McCune et al. compared infection with LR-HPV (irrespective of concurrent HR-HPV infection) to no HPV, and a doubling of HIV risk was observed in both studies (Averbach et al., 2010; Smith-McCune et al., 2010a). Several studies have shown that infection with HR-HPV was independently associated with an increased risk of HIV seroconversion (Averbach et al., 2010; Auvert et al., 2011; Smith-McCune et al., 2010b). Having 2 concurrent HPV genotypes has been related to a doubling in the odds of acquiring HIV, whilst having 4 or more concomitant HPV genotypes had a odds ratio of 5.6 (Averbach et al., 2010). Moreover, Auvert et al. demonstrated that having multiple concurrent HR-HPV infections significantly increases the risk of acquiring HIV (Auvert et al., 2011).

2.10. HIV Epidemiology

In 2015, an estimated 36.7 million people were living with HIV, 2.1 million people became newly infected and 1.1 million people died from Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS)-related illnesses globally (UNAIDS, 2016). In Africa, more than 1% of the population becomes infected with HIV each year (Wang *et al.*, 2016). SSA is home to merely 12% of the global population, yet accounts for 71% of the global burden of HIV infection (**Figure 6**) (Kharsany *et al.*, 2016; UNAIDS, 2016). It is interesting to note that it is also in SSA that the prevalence of HPV is among the highest in the world (Bruni *et al.*, 2010; Denny *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 6. Global HIV prevalence in 2015 (figure taken from: Kaiser Family Foundation based on UNAIDS). Sub-Saharan Africa had the highest global HIV prevalence >10% in 2015.

In 2016, an estimated 7.1 million people were living with HIV in South Africa (UNAIDS, 2017). HIV incident rates remain unacceptably high in South Africa, with 270,000 new infections and 110,000 AIDS-related deaths in 2016 (UNAIDS, 2017). The KZN province bares a disproportionate burden of HIV infection, accounting for the highest percentage (16.9%) of prevalent infections in South Africa (Shisana *et al.*, 2014). The introduction of antiretroviral therapy (ART) in 1996 has greatly reduced HIV-related mortality (Ford *et al.*, 2016; Granich *et al.*, 2015). However, maintenance and scale-up of adequately funded AIDS efforts will be imperative to accomplish the goal of an "AIDS free generation" by 2030 (Piot *et al.*, 2015). New prevention strategies which address the biological risk factors associated with HIV acquisition are urgently required.

2.11. HIV Transmission in the Female Genital Tract

In order to develop successful HIV prevention strategies it is important to understand how HIV is transmitted in the female genital tract (FGT). Most female HIV-1 infections are the result of heterosexual intercourse with an infectious male partner (UNAIDS, 2012). The female reproductive tract is comprised of two different mucosal surfaces (Eid et al., 2015). In order for HIV to establish infection in the FGT, HIV-1 in the male ejaculate must evade both innate and adaptive immune responses, cross the epithelial barrier and establish infection in the underlying CD4⁺ target cells (Carias et al., 2013). The primary receptor for HIV entry into the host cells is CD4, and the major co-receptors are CXCR4 and CCR5 (Sattentau et al., 1986; Deng et al., 1996; Feng et al., 1996). There are three main mechanisms that HIV employs to traverse the epithelial cells of the FGT: through microabrasions in the epithelial barrier, through transcytosis mediated by neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn); or by paracellular movement between the epithelial cells (Rodriguez-Garcia, 2013). The endocervix and upper reproductive tract is made up of a monolayer of columnar epithelial cells (Figure 7A) and the ectocervix and vagina which is covered with a multilayer of squamous epithelial cells and tight junctions (Figure 7B to F) that HIV-1 must transverse in order to establish infection (Carias et al., 2013; Eid et al., 2015; Kumamoto et al., 2012).



Figure 7. Epithelial composition and HIV targets of the female genital tract (figure taken from Carias et al., 2013). (A) The upper reproductive tract is primarily composed of a monolayer of columnar epithelial cells. (B) The lower reproductive tract consisting of the ectocervix and vagina is covered with a multilayer of squamous epithelial cells which is made up of the stratum corneum (C), stratum granulosum (D), stratum spinosum (E) and stratum basale (F). Intraepithelial target cells include Langerhans cells (red). HIV target cells in the lamina propria consists of dendritic cells (green), T cells (blue) and macrophages (purple).

The columnar epithelium of the endocervix and upper FGT may be an easier route of entry for HIV-1 to access target cells since it is composed of a thin, single layer of cells (Shattock *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, the transition between the squamous and columnar epithelial cells that occurs at the transformation zone provides a portal of entry for HIV-1 (Eid *et al.*, 2015).

2.12. Biological Defences of the Female Genital Tract

Globally, females are at greater risk of acquiring HIV than their male counterparts (UNAIDS, 2013; Ramjee et al., 2013; Boily et al., 2009). Although unprotected vaginal sex increases the risk of acquiring HIV infection, the majority of exposures to the virus does not lead to infection (Boily et al., 2009). This is largely due to the mucosal immune responses at the FGT that help to prevent HIV from establishing infection. Mucosal immunity in the FGT consists of innate and adaptive immune responses. Innate immunity includes defences such as the epithelial barrier, mucus, low or acidic pH, the complement system and cells of the immune system (Reis Machado et al., 2014). The layer of mucus produced by the vagina and cervix can trap HIV and prevent it from crossing the epithelial barrier and minimises damage caused by friction during sexual intercourse (Petrova et al., 2013; Wira et al., 2015). The mucus consists of mucins that form a thick gel mesh which acts as a physical barrier to HIV (Gipson, 1997; Vigil, 2009). The aqueous component of the mucus is rich in immunoglobulins and antimicrobial peptides which also provide protection against invading pathogens (Ming, 2007). The squamous epithelium of the vagina and ectocervix are many layers thick and acts as a physical barrier against HIV entry (Shattock et al., 2003). The multi-layered and single cell layer epitheliums are both held together by proteins that form desmosomes, tight junctions and adherens junctions, which reduces its permeability (Carias, 2013). Among women in developed countries, the lower portion of the FGT (vagina and ectocervix) is colonised by commensal bacteria that consists predominantly of Lactobacillus species (Ravel et al., 2011; Martin et al., 2008). Lactobacillus maintains an acidic pH in the vagina through the production of lactic acid and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), which has antimicrobicidal activity (Ravel et al., 2011; Martin et al., 2008; Lai et al., 2009). The adaptive immune response in the FGT consists of antibodies and immune cells in the vaginal mucus and epithelial lining that attacks and inactivates HIV (Reis Machado et al., 2014)rkell. Although the immune system offers protection against HIV infection, the immune cells located in the FGT may also increase vulnerability to HIV infection, because HIV can attack these immune cells in the vaginal mucous and epithelial lining (Griesbeck et al., 2016; Adimora et al., 2013). The adaptive immune response is pathogen-specific that occurs after T cell presentation and stimulation by APCs or by B cell

antibody secretions (Reis Machado, 2014). APCs in the FGT include macrophages, DCs, Langerhans cells and epithelial cells of the cervix and endometrium (Reis Machado, 2014). The effector cells are CD4⁺ T cells including the cytokines they produce, CD8⁺ T cells and immunoglobulins (Reis Machado, 2014).

2.13. Genital Inflammation Increases Susceptibility to HIV Infection

Inflammation is a natural response of the immune system to fight off infection and invading pathogens, however, inflammation can increase susceptibility to HIV infection. Genital inflammation may render an individual more vulnerable to HIV infection through the recruitment and activation of HIV target cells (CD4⁺CCR5⁺) (McKinnon *et al.*, 2011; Arnold *et al.*, 2016). Infection, irritation and/or epithelial disruption may lead to immune activation in the FGT, resulting in increased expression of soluble immune proteins (Haase, 2010) and recruitment of cells expressing HIV co-receptors, thereby increasing the risk of HIV acquisition (Fichorova *et al.*, 2001b). Although there are several HIV target cells in the FGT, the virus either directly infects CD4⁺CCR5⁺ T cells in the mucosa or binds to DCs with subsequent presentation and infection of CD4⁺ T cells (Belyakov *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2009).

The innate immune response in the FGT is regulated by cytokines and chemokines. Cytokines are small glycoproteins that are synthesised by numerous cell types, primarily leukocytes, they regulate immunity, inflammation and haematopoiesis (Khan, 2008). Cytokines can be categorized as pro-inflammatory, anti-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors and adaptive cytokines based on their biological activity. Pro-inflammatory cytokines are synthesised predominantly by activated macrophages and helper T cells and are involved in the upregulation of inflammatory responses (Zhang et al., 2007). Chemokines are secreted in order to recruit immune cells to the epithelial surface (Fahey et al., 2005). The levels of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines which recruit activated HIV target cells to the genital mucosa are used as biomarkers of inflammation in the FGT (Fichorova et al., 2004; Schwartz et al., 2006; Fichorova et al., 2001b; Fichorova, 2004; Masson et al., 2015). In the CAPRISA004 1% tenofovir gel trial, a pro-inflammatory cytokine profile predicted HIV acquisition (Figure 8) (Masson et al., 2015). Genital inflammation was defined by having at least 5 of 9 proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-a, IL-8, IP-10, MCP-1, MIP-1a and MIP-1β) concentrations above the 75th percentile (Masson *et al.*, 2015). The risk of acquiring HIV was increased among women with evidence of genital inflammation, and also with increasing concentrations of MIP-1β, IP-10, and IL-8 (Masson et al., 2015). Furthermore, the presence of
chemokines MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β and IL-8 in the genital tracts of rhesus macaques was shown to be necessary for establishment of SIV infection after vaginal challenge (Li *et al.*, 2009). High levels of chemokines also result in the recruitment of CD4⁺ T cells to the site of infection thereby facilitating HIV replication (Li *et al.*, 2009). Genital cytokine production has been associated with the frequency of local HIV target cells (Arnold *et al.*, 2016; McKinnon *et al.*, 2011); and a reduced ability of the genital mucosa to function as an effective physical barrier to HIV infection (Arnold *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 8. Clustering of HIV positive and HIV negative women based on their cytokine expression profiles (figure taken from Masson et al., 2015). Women who later became HIV seropositive (n = 58; blue blocks) had greater cytokine concentrations in CVL specimens and clustered together, whilst women who remained HIV seronegative (n = 58; yellow blocks) had lower cytokine concentrations and clustered separately. Cytokine concentrations range from low (green) to high (red). The dendrogram above the heat map demonstrates degrees of relatedness between the genital cytokine profiles.

The epithelial barrier is one of the most important defences against HIV, since the virus must cross this barrier in order to establish infection. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are zinc dependent endopeptidases that function in the degradation and remodelling of the epithelial barrier (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2015). They are grouped according to domain structure and substrate preferences into collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins and membrane type MMPs (Egeblad *et al.*, 2002). MMPs contribute to inflammation through the regulation of physical barriers, modulating cytokines and chemokines and establishing chemokine gradients in inflamed tissues that control the recruitment of leukocytes at the site of infection (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2015). MMP concentrations have been used as biomarkers of inflammation and an indicator of reduced epithelial barrier integrity (Ngcapu *et al.*, 2015; Arnold *et al.*, 2016). Selhorst *et al.* reported that reduced epithelial barrier integrity and HIV target cell recruitment facilitates infection by less-infectious HIV variants (Selhorst *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, among HIV

positive individuals, mucosal ulcerations have been associated with higher genital HIV viral load (Kreiss *et al.*, 1989), indicating that an intact epithelial barrier may reduce secondary sexual HIV transmission from an infected person (Kaul *et al.*, 2008).

2.14. Sexually Transmitted Infections and Genital Inflammation

STIs are able to induce robust mucosal immune responses and genital inflammation in order to clear infection (Patel et al., 2014). Since STIs upregulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and are associated with reduced epithelial barrier integrity and HIV target cell recruitment, they are considered risk factors for HIV acquisition (Laga et al., 1993; van de Wijgert et al., 2009; Van Der Pol et al., 2008; Anahtar et al., 2015; Arnold et al., 2016; Kaul et al., 2008). Ulcerations caused by STIs may facilitate blood to blood contact and HIV transmission, furthermore, HIV infected individuals with concomitant STI infection may have increased viral shedding at the genital tract (Fox et al., 2010). STIs such as genital herpes or syphilis cause ulcerations in the epithelial cell layers of the vagina or cervix, providing a portal of viral entry (Petrova et al., 2013; Wira et al., 2015). Furthermore, independent associations have also been reported between HIV risk and Chlamydia trachomatis (C. trachomatis), Neisseria gonorrhoeae (N. gonorrhoeae), Trichomonas vaginalis (T. vaginalis) and HPV (Ramjee et al., 2005; Losina et al., 2010; Wilkinson et al., 1998; Naidoo et al., 2014). Gonorrhoea and Chlamydia have been shown to cause genital inflammation and increase activated mucosal CD4⁺ T cells, thereby increasing the risk of HIV acquisition (Levine et al., 1998).

Among HPV positive women, concomitant STI infection has been shown to prolong HPV infection and increase the risk of CIN (Finan *et al.*, 2002; Syrjänen *et al.*, 1985; Silins *et al.*, 2005; Alberico *et al.*, 1988). For instance, *T. vaginalis* infection has been associated with a greater risk of squamous intraepithelial lesions and CIN (Noel *et al.*, 2010). *N. gonorrhoea* was identified as a co-factor for the persistence of HR-HPV infection in cervical carcinogenesis (de Abreu *et al.*, 2016). Studies have even demonstrated that *Mycoplasma genitalium (M. genitalium)* was significantly associated with an increased risk of HR-HPV infection (Biernat-Sudolska *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, coinfection with *C. trachomatis* has been associated with a HPV persistence and cancer (Simonetti *et al.*, 2009). Silins *et al.* demonstrated that among women with HR-HPV, antibodies elicited against *C. trachomatis* were associated with a two-fold increased risk of cervical cancer (Silins *et al.*, 2005). Cervical carcinoma cell lines infected with *C. trachomatis* secrete increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines compared to primary uninfected cervical cells and non-cervical epithelial cell lines (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1997),

suggesting that coinfection with HPV and *C. trachomatis* may exacerbate genital inflammation (Castle *et al.*, 2003).

2.15. Genital inflammation as the underlying link between HPV and HIV risk

The biological mechanisms HPV employs to increase HIV risk remains to be elucidated. HPV infection could escalate HIV infection and dissemination via disruption of the epithelial barrier and alteration of the genital mucosa (Clarke et al., 2002), through recruitment and activation of HIV target cells (Nicol et al., 2005) and upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Herfs et al., 2011; Nicol et al., 2005). Both HIV and HPV use common portals of entry such as the squamo-columnar junctions which are primary sites of metaplastic conversion and viral establishment in order to gain access to susceptible cells (Herfs et al., 2011). Adhesion molecules are less dense at squamo-columnar junctions which allows for paracellular permeation (Herfs et al., 2011). Microabrasions which permit HPV access to the basal epithelial layers may also favour HIV acquisition (Herfs et al., 2011). The host immune response to HPV is mediated by T-lymphocytes, which are also primary target cells for HIV (Houlihan et al., 2012; Stanley, 2001). Recruitment of HIV target cells (CD4⁺CCR5⁺) to the FGT to clear HPV infection may also provide an immune environment conducive to HIV acquisition. An abundance of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β , which activates a promoter region in the HIV genome (Osborn et al., 1989) has been observed in women with HPVassociated abnormal cervical cytology (Behbakht et al., 2002).

Combining HIV treatment with adequate prevention strategies is crucial in continuing the path to altering the trajectory of the AIDS epidemic (Kharsany *et al.*, 2016). HPV is one of the most common STIs globally, and prior infection with HPV is associated with an increased risk of HPV persistence and HIV acquisition in both women and men (Mbulawa *et al.*, 2012; Smits *et al.*, 2005; Heard *et al.*, 2000; Lissouba *et al.*, 2013; Rositch *et al.*, 2013; Chin-Hong *et al.*, 2009). The HPV vaccine is highly effective in preventing HPV-associated cervical cancers and could have potential use as an additional HIV prevention strategy, particularly in KZN where both HPV and HIV prevalence are unacceptably high. Understanding the biological mechanisms for the relationship between HPV and increased risk of HIV acquisition is critical to the design of effective methods to limit the spread of both HPV and HIV. This study investigated whether the immune responses associated with HPV infection.

3. HYPOTHESIS

The immune responses associated with HPV infection (including multiple HPV infections, oncogenicity, and STI coinfection) each contribute to a genital immune environment conducive to an increased risk of HIV acquisition.

4. OBJECTIVES

- To compare genital inflammation (as measured by cytokine biomarkers, HIV target cell frequency, and/or epithelial barrier integrity) in HPV positive and HPV negative women.
- 2) To determine the contribution of multiple concurrent HPV infections on genital inflammation.
- To compare genital inflammation in women with oncogenic and non-oncogenic HPV infection.
- To compare genital inflammation in women with HPV/STI coinfection and those without.

5. METHODOLOGY

5.1. Study Design

This cross-sectional study was conducted to compare biomarkers of genital inflammation among women with HPV infection and those without, women with multiple concurrent HPV infections and those without, women with HR-HPV infection and LR-HPV infection, and among women with an HPV/STI coinfection and those without. This study was approved by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee at the University of KwaZulu-Natal under the ethics number BE248/16 (**Appendix A**). All laboratory assays were conducted at the CAPRISA Mucosal Immunology Laboratory in Durban, South Africa.

5.2. Study Population

The study population included 167 HIV negative women from the CAPRISA 008 trial, an open-label randomized controlled trial to assess the effectiveness of delivering tenofovir 1% gel in the context of routine family planning. The women enrolled in this study were aged 18-40 years old, were from urban and rural KwaZulu-Natal, and had previously participated in the CAPRISA 004 trial. At the time of sampling, all participants had not used 1% Tenofovir gel for a minimum of 3 years since exiting the CAPRISA 004 trial.

5.3. Specimen Collection and Processing

5.3.1. Cervical Cytobrush Collection and Processing

The study participants were positioned with their buttocks at the edge of the exam table. The speculum was inserted into the vagina and the blades were locked into position wide enough to allow complete visualisation of the cervix. The cytobrush was inserted into the endocervical canal, gently rotated 360° twice, and removed. The cytobrush was then immediately placed into a conical centrifuge tube containing 3ml of collection medium. The tube was labelled, sealed and transported on ice to the CAPRISA laboratory within 2 hours of sample collection. Immediately upon receipt of the sample, the cytobrushes were irrigated with a Pasteur pipette containing sterile PBS and thereafter, centrifuged at 400 xg. The cytobrush pellet was used for *ex vivo* cellular phenotyping by flow cytometry.

5.3.2. Cervicovaginal Lavage Collection and Processing

The tip of a plastic bulb pipette was cut off and the bulb was affixed to a 10 ml syringe. A volume of 5 ml of sterile saline was drawn up, a speculum was lubricated and inserted into the vagina and the pipette was inserted into the vagina through the speculum. The saline was squeezed out of the pipette and allowed to bathe the cervix. The fluid was then aspirated into the same pipette and this procedure was repeated 2 to 3 times and then dispensed into a collection container. The cervicovaginal lavage (CVL) sample was kept on ice and transported to the laboratory along with the cytobrush. Immediately upon receipt at the CAPRISA laboratory, the sample was processed by: spinning at 800 g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was stored in 1 ml cryovials without disturbing the pellet. The cryovials containing the cell pellet and supernatant were stored at -85°C degrees in the cryofreezer.

5.3.3. Swab Collection and Processing

Moistened cotton wool swabs were used to clean the vulva, wiping from front to back. The vulva and perineum were examined for external lesions or warts. The labia were then gently parted and a swab was inserted into the vagina. Two vaginal swabs were collected and each was placed into a 1.5 ml cryovials containing 0.4 ml PBS. The stem of the swab was cut off, allowing the swab to fit into the container. The cryovials were sealed and shipped to the CAPRISA laboratory. One swab was sent to the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD) where Multiplex PCR assays were conducted as a service, to identify infection with discharge-associated agents: *T. vaginalis, C. trachomatis, N. gonorrhoeae, and M. genitalium,* as described by Mhlongo *et al.*, 2010.

5.4. Detection of HPV Genotypes in Cervicovaginal Lavage Pellet Specimens

The Roche linear array assay was conducted to detect the presence of 37 relevant HPV types (HPV 6, 11, 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 35, 39, 40, 42, 45, 51, 52, 53, 54, 56, 58, 59, 61, 62, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 81, 82, 83, 84, 55, 64, CP6108, and IS39) in CVL pellet specimens that were collected at baseline.

5.4.1. HPV Roche Linear Array Assay

The Linear Array assay (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA) was conducted according to the manufacturer's instructions. These are briefly detailed here.

5.4.1.1. Specimen Preparation

HPV DNA extraction was conducted using the MagNA Pure 96 DNA and Viral Nucleic Acid Small Volume Kit (Roche Applied Science, Manheim, Germany). A volume of 200 µl of the

CVL pellet was placed into a MagNA Pure 96 Processing Cartridge, which was inserted into the MagNA Pure 96 Extraction Machine. The specimen preparation yielded HPV target DNA which was subsequently used for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification.

5.4.1.2. Amplification Reagent Preparation

The Master Mix (MMX) was prepared by adding 125 μ l of Magnesium Chloride solution to a vial of HPV MMX, included in the kit. The vial was inverted to mix its contents, which were then transferred to a reservoir. A multichannel pipette was used to add 50 μ l of Working MMX into a 96 well PCR plate. A volume of 50 μ l of the samples and controls were added to the microtiter plate.

5.4.1.3. Amplification Procedure

The 96 well plate containing samples and working MMX was placed into the GeneAmp® PCR System 9700 (Applied Biosystems, Norwalk, CT). The thermal cycler program was set according to **Table 1**. In the cycle programs, the ramp rate was set to 50%. The plate was removed within 4 hours of the start of the final "Hold" programme, and samples were immediately denatured by the addition of 100 μ l of the denaturation solution.

Table 1. Thermal cycler specification for amplification (Table adapted fromRoche Linear Array Instruction Manual).				
Program Type	Description	Number of Cycles		
Hold	50°C, 2 minutes	1		
Hold	95°C, 9 minutes	1		
HOIU	95°C, 30 seconds	40		
Cycle	55°C, 1 minute	40		
Cycle	72°C, 1 minute	40		
Hold	72°C, 5 minutes	1		
Hold	72°C, forever	1		

5.4.1.4. HPV Genotyping

The Working Hybridization Buffer, Working Ambient Wash Buffer, Stringent Wash Buffer and the Working Citrate Buffer (all supplied with kit) were prepared as shown in **Table 2**. The Linear Array HPV strips were removed from the pouch using sterile forceps and labelled. Each labelled HPV strip was placed into the 24 well tray with the probe lines facing upwards. Thereafter, 4 ml of pre-warmed Working Hybridization Buffer was added into each well containing the labelled strip. A volume of 75 μ l of denatured PCR product was added to the wells and the tray was covered with the lid. The tray contents were mixed by rocking back and forth between each sample addition. The covered tray was placed into a 53°C shaking water bath with a 0.5 kg lead ring on top to prevent the tray from moving. Hybridization occurred for 30 minutes while shaking at 60 revolutions per minute (RPM) on a Mini Orbital SSM1 Shaker (Stuart, Staffordshire, UK). A Working Conjugate was prepared by adding 15 μ l of Streptavidin-Horseradish Peroxidase (SA-HRP) to 5 ml of Working Ambient Wash Buffer for each strip to be tested. The tray was removed from the water bath and the Working Hybridization Buffer was vacuum aspirated.

Table 2. Preparation of Wash Buffers for HPV genotyping.				
Buffer	Contents	Volume (ml)		
	Distilled Water (dH ₂ O)	388		
Working Hybridization Buffer	Sodium Chloride-Sodium Phosphate-EDTA (SSPE)	100		
	20% Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS)	12		
	dH ₂ O	2520		
Working Ambient Wash Buffer	20x SSPE	133		
	20% SDS	13.3		
Stringent Wash Buffer	Wash Buffer per strip was warmed to 53°C for 15 minutes.	5ml per strip		
Working Citrate Buffer	20x Citrate Buffer	25		
Working Chrate Buller	dH ₂ O	475		

A volume of 4 ml of Working Ambient Wash Buffer was added to each well of the tray which was gently shaken to rinse the strips and the wash buffer was removed using vacuum aspiration. A volume of 4 ml of Stringent Wash Buffer was added to each well and the lid was placed onto the tray which was incubated in the 53°C shaking water bath for 15 minutes. Afterwards, the tray was taken out of the water bath and the wash buffer was aspirated. A volume of 4 ml of Working Conjugate was pipetted into each well and the lid was placed back onto the tray and incubated at 60 RPM for 30 minutes at room temperature on the shaker. The Working Conjugate was aspirated and 4 ml of Working Ambient Wash Buffer was added to the tray which was then gently shaken to rinse the strips and vacuum aspirated once again. A volume of 4 ml of the Working Ambient Wash Buffer was added to each well and the tray was incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature on a platform shaker. The wash buffer was aspirated and the wash step was repeated with aspiration. A volume of 4 ml of Working Citrate Buffer was added to each well and incubated at 60 RPM for 5 minutes at room temperature on a platform shaker. The Working Substrate was prepared by adding 4 ml of Substrate A to 1 ml of Substrate B per strip and mixed well. The Working Citrate Buffer was aspirated and 4 ml of Working Substrate was added to each well and incubated for 5 minutes on a platform shaker at room temperature. The Working Substrate was aspirated and 4 ml of dH₂O was added to each well. The strips were removed from the tray using forceps and left to air dry for up to 72 hours at room temperature. The strips were interpreted manually using the HPV Reference Guide by

aligning the reference line on the guide with the ink line of the strip. Detection of the endogenous beta-globin sequence was used as an internal positive control to determine whether DNA extraction was successful.

5.5. Investigation of Immune Cell Frequency Cervical Cytobrush Pellet Specimens

Multiparametric flow cytometry was conducted to investigate the dynamics and the frequency of activated (CD38⁺ or HLA-DR⁺) or proliferating (Ki67⁺) T cells (CD3⁺ CD4⁺ or CD8⁺), NK cells (CD56⁺CD16⁺) and activated CCR5⁺CD4⁺ targets for HIV replication in cervical cytobrush pellet specimens.

5.5.1. Surface Staining of Cellular Immune Markers

After processing, cells were isolated from cytobrushes (~100 µl) and placed into a 96 well plate for staining. The cytobrush samples were washed with 150 µl Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) and added to the respective wells. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 2100rpm for 3 minutes (833 xg) at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellets were resuspended in 200 µl PBS and centrifuged at 2100rpm for 3 minutes (833 xg) at 4°C. The live/dead stain Fixable Violet Dead Cell Stain kit (VIVID, Molecular probes, Life technologies, USA) was used to identify viable cells. The Vivid dye was prepared by making a 1:40 dilution with dH₂O. This solution was further diluted 1:20 with PBS and 50 µl of this working stock solution was added to each well containing cell pellets. The plate was incubated at 4°C for 20 minutes in darkness. The pellets were resuspended in 200 µl Wash Buffer (1% FBS in PBS) to each well. The plate was centrifuged at 2100rpm (833 xg) for 3 minute at 4°C in an Eppendorf 5810 Centrifuge (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany) and the supernatant was discarded. The mononuclear cells were stained extracellularly with a concoction of antibody-conjugated fluorochromes: Allophycocyanin Tandem Dye (APC-H7)-labelled anti-CD3 (BD Bioscience), Pacific Blue-labelled anti-CD14 (BD Bioscience), Pacific Blue labelled anti-CD19 (BD Bioscience), eF605-labelled anti-CD16 (eBioscience), Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (FITC)labelled anti-CD8 (BioLegend), Peridinin-Chlorophyll Protein-Cyanine 5.5 (PerCP-Cy5.5)labelled anti-CD4 (BD Bioscience) and Phycoerythrin Cyanine 7 labelled anti-CD56 (BD Bioscience). These antibodies were pre-titrated and 2 µl of each was added to the wells, with the exception of anti-CD4, of which only 1 µl was added into each well. The plate was incubated at 4°C for 20 minutes in darkness to facilitate antibody binding.

5.5.2. Intracellular Staining of Cellular Immune Markers

Once incubation was completed, the cells were gently resuspended in 200 µl Wash Buffer (1% FBS in PBS) and centrifuged at 2100rpm for 3 minutes (833 xg) at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellets were treated with 100 µl Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Bioscience) and the plate was incubated at 4°C for 20 minutes in darkness. A volume of 150 µl of Perm Wash Buffer (BD Biosciences) was added to each well and the plate was centrifuged at 2100rpm for 3 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 10 µl Allophycocyanin-labelled anti-CCR5, along with 2 µl of the following antibodies were added into each well: eF655-labelled anti-CD38 (eBioscence) and Phycoerythrin (PE)-labelled anti-HLA-DR (eBioscience), and Brilliant Violet 700 (BV700)-labelled anti-Ki67 (BioLegend). The plate was then incubated for 20 minutes at 4°C in darkness. After incubation, 200 µl of Perm Wash Buffer was added to each well and the plate was centrifuged at 2100rpm for 3 minutes (833 xg) at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 100 µl of BD Cell Fix was added to each well to resuspend the pellet. The cells were then transferred to a sterile, fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) tube. The plate wells were washed with an additional 50 µl of BD Cell Fix and were transferred to FACS tubes. Acquisition was conducted using an LSRII flow cytometer (BD Immunocytometry Systems).

5.5.3. Preparation of Compensation Beads

The compensation beads were vortexed thoroughly at high speed and 1 drop each of the negative and positive beads were added into each FACS tube. A volume of 2 μ l of antibodies was added into labelled FACS tubes.

5.5.4. Data Acquisition

Data acquisition was conducted on a LSRII flow cytometer (BD Immunocytometry Systems), and the data was analysed using FlowJo Software version 9.9 (Tree Star). Fluorescence minus one (FMO) controls were prepared using thawed peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). FMOs consist of all the markers excluding the one of interest, and are perfect for showing gating boundaries in flow cytometry. Specimens with a CMC CD3 T cell event count below 100 were excluded from analysis. Below is a representative of the gating strategy used (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9. Representative flow cytometry gating plot for the assessment of T cell activation. Live cells were identified, followed by lymphocytes, and $CD3^+$ *T cells. The expression of activation markers (CD38⁺, HLA-DR⁺), the marker of proliferation (Ki67⁺), and the HIV coreceptor for entry (CCR5⁺) was assessed on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ <i>T cell subsets. NK cells were assessed by measuring CD16 and CD56 co-expression.*

5.6. Investigation of Epithelial Barrier Integrity and Cytokine Biomarkers of Genital Inflammation in CVL Supernatant Specimens

A multiplexed Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) was used to detect the presence of 48 cytokines (IL-1 α , IL-2R α , IL-3, IL-12 (p40), IL-16, IL-18, CTACK, GRO- α , HGF, IFN- α 2, LIF, MCP-3, M-CSF, MIF, MIG, β -NGF, SCF, SCGF- β , SDF-1 α , TNF- β , TRAIL, FGF basic, Eotaxin, G-CSF, GM-CSF, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL1ra, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL12 (p70), IL-13, IL-15, IL-17, IP-10, MCP-1 (MCAF), MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , PDGF-BB, RANTES, TNF- α and VEGF), and to assess markers of epithelial barrier integrity (MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-7, MMP-8, MMP-9, MMP-10, MMP-12 and MMP-13) in CVL supernatant specimens. The Bio-Plex Pro Human Cytokine 21 plex (#MF0005KMII), 27 plex (#M500KCAF0Y) kits and MMP (#171-AM001M) kits (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) were used to investigate cytokine and MMP concentrations respectively.

5.6.1. Multiplex ELISA Assay

The Bio-Plex multiplex ELISA utilises fluorescently dyed beads, each with distinct colour codes to distinguish between individual analytes within a multiplex suspension. In this study, this allowed for simultaneous detection of 48 cytokines and 9 MMPs in a single well of a 96 well microplate. Lasers and associated optics measure the various molecules bound to the surface of the beads and a high speed digital signal processor efficiently manages the fluorescent data (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10. Graphical representation of multiplex ELISA assay (figure taken from the Bio-Plex Pro instruction manual). The magnetic bead is coupled to a capture antibody that will bind specifically to the analyte of interest. A biotinylated detection antibody is bound to the biomarker of interest, sandwiching the analyte between the capture antibody and the detection antibody. Streptavidin Phycoerythrin (SA-PE) is added to bind to the biotin. The laser will detect the fluorescent phycoerythrin and the mean fluorescence intensity of the analyte of interest is determined.

5.6.1.1. Preparation of the Bio-Plex 200 Suspension Array System and Software for Data Acquisition

The Bio-Plex system was switched on and allowed to warm up for approximately 30 minutes. In the accompanying Bio-Plex Manager software, the appropriate analytes to be quantified were selected, and the assay standard information was loaded. The plate layout was formatted similarly to that depicted in **Figure 11**. On each plate, 8 biological samples in addition to 10 standards, were run in duplicate to assess intraplate variability. Once the Bio-Plex system had been warmed up, calibration was conducted using the Bio-Plex Pro Calibration Kit.



Figure 11. Example of a plate layout on the Bio-Plex 200 (figure taken from the Bio-Plex Pro instruction manual). The plate layout corresponded with the plating of Standards, Blanks, Samples and Controls on the Bio-Plex Pro Magnetic 96 well microtitre plate. Standards were encoded by circles, Blanks were diamond shape, Unknown Samples were the square blocks and Controls were indicated with octagons.

5.6.1.2. Preparation of samples, standards, beads, controls, the detection antibody and SA-PE for the Bio-Plex Pro Human Cytokine Assays

The biological controls were prepared by combining excess CVL samples, vortexing thoroughly, and dispensing into cryovials for impending use. The standards were reconstituted with 500 μ l of Standard Diluent, vortexed and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. A fourfold standard dilution series was prepared as shown in **Figure 12**. A 15 ml Falcon tube was labelled as 10x coupled beads and 5175 μ l of Assay Buffer was added to the tube. The beads were stored on ice, in darkness until ready for use. The beads were vortexed for 30 seconds and 575 μ l was added to the tube containing Assay Buffer. The Detection Antibody was prepared by adding 300 μ l of 10x Detection Antibody to a polypropylene tube containing 2700 μ l of Detection Antibody Diluent. The SA-PE was prepared by adding 60 μ l of 100x SA-PE to a 15 ml Falcon tube containing 5940 μ l of Assay Buffer. Undiluted samples were assessed.



Figure 12. Preparation of a fourfold standard dilution series (figure taken from the Bio-Plex Pro instruction manual). Ten polypropylene tubes were labelled as standards 1 to 10. A volume of 72 μ l of standard diluent was added to standard 1, while standards 2 to 10 contained 150 μ l each of the same diluent. A volume of 128 μ l of the reconstituted standard was added to the tube labelled Standard 1. Thereafter, 50 μ l of the previous standard was added to the subsequent tube, with thorough vortexing between each liquid transfer.

5.6.1.3.Preparation of sample, standards, beads, controls and detection antibody and SA-PE for the Bio-Plex Pro Human MMP Assays

The biological controls were prepared by combining excess CVL samples, vortexing thoroughly, and dispensing into cryovials for impending use. A 1x Wash Buffer was prepared by diluting 60 ml of 10x Wash Buffer in 540 ml of dH₂O. The 10% Serum-Based Standard Diluent was prepared by adding 4 ml Standard Diluent HB to 6 ml Sample Diluent HB. The standards were reconstituted with 781 μ l of Standard Diluent, vortexed and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. A threefold standard dilution series was prepared as shown in **Figure 13**. The beads were kept on ice, in darkness till until ready for use. The beads were vortexed for 30 seconds and 288 μ l was added to a 15 ml Falcon tube containing 5472 μ l Assay Buffer. The Detection Antibody was prepared by adding 150 μ l of 20x Detection Antibody to a polypropylene tube containing 2850 μ l of Detection Antibody Diluent. The SA-PE was prepared by adding 60 μ l of 100x SA-PE to a 15 ml Falcon tube containing 5940 μ l of Assay Buffer. Samples were diluted 1:4 by adding 50 μ l of sample to 150 μ l Sample Diluent.



Figure 13. Preparation of a threefold standard dilution series (figure taken from the Bio-Plex Pro instruction manual). Ten polypropylene tubes were labelled as standards 1 to 10. A volume of 150 μ l of sample diluent was added to each tube. A volume of 75 μ l of the reconstituted standard was added to the tube labelled standard 1. Thereafter, 75 μ l of the previous standard was added to the subsequent tube, with thorough vortexing between each liquid transfer.

5.6.1.4. Conducting the Multiplex ELISA Assays (Cytokines and MMPs)

A volume of 50 µl of the Coupled Beads was added to each well of the 96 well microtiter plate using a multichannel pipette. The plate was washed twice with 100 µl of Bio-Plex Wash Buffer. Once the plate was washed, the samples, standards, blanks and controls were vortexed and 50 µl was added to each well. The plate was covered with sealing tape and aluminium foil and incubated on the plate shaker for 30 minutes (cytokine assays) or 1 hour for (MMP assays). After incubation the plate was washed 3 times with 100 µl of Wash Buffer. The Detection Antibodies were vortexed for 30 seconds and 25 µl was added to each well of the microtiter plate using a multichannel pipette. The plate was covered with sealing tape and aluminium foil and incubated for 30 minutes on the plate shaker. After incubation, the plate was washed 3 times with 100 µl of Wash Buffer. The SA-PE was vortexed for 30 seconds and 50 µl was added to each well of the 96 well microtiter plate. The plate was covered with sealing tape and aluminium foil and incubated on the plate shaker for 10 minutes. The plate was then washed 3 times with 100 µl wash buffer. A volume of 125 µl of Assay Buffer was added to each well with a multichannel pipette. The plate was covered with sealing tape and foil and incubated on the plate shaker for 1 minute. Finally, the sealing tape and foil were removed and the plate was read on the Bio-Plex 200 system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., USA). Figure 14 depicts a summarised version of the Multiplex ELISA protocol.



Figure 14. Multiplex ELISA assay protocol summary.

5.6.1.5. Data Quality Control

The standard curves were automatically optimised by Bio-Plex Manager software. For each cytokine or MMP, each standard had an acceptable recovery range of between 70% and 130%, and those standards outside this range were excluded to obtain an appropriate 5-point standard curve. Additionally, standards with coefficients of variation (%CV) greater than 20% were either removed partially or completely, depending on its effect on the standard curve. The observed concentrations of all the plates were combined for validation. All extrapolated values were accepted, and all values below or above the detectable limit were replaced with either half the lowest value in the dataset or double the highest value in the dataset, respectively. Intraplate and interplate wells or interplate wells, respectively. This was conducted as quality control to assess any possible pipetting errors. Significant (P<0.05) Spearman r values >8, and Wilcoxon T test P-values <0.05 were considered acceptable when conducting intraplate and interplate variability.

5.7. Statistical Considerations

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism version 7 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA), STATA version 11 (StataCorp, College Station, TX), SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and Microsoft Excel (2013). The output variables were cytokine concentrations (pg/ml), MMP concentrations (pg/ml), cellular frequency (%) and genital inflammation status. Cytokine and MMP concentrations were log10-transformed. The immune exposure variables were analysed as either dichotomous or continuous variables as appropriate based on their presence or level of detection in the population. Genital inflammation was defined as having 5 of the 9 pro-inflammatory cytokines above the 75th percentile in the FGT and analysed as binary variables using the Fisher's exact test. Since the cytokine, MMP and cellular data were unpaired and followed a non-gaussian distribution, the Mann-Whitney U test was used when comparing biomarkers of inflammation between two groups. The Dunn's posttest was used to adjust for multiple comparisons. Linear regression models were used to compare the levels of immune markers between HPV+ versus (vs.) HPV- women; women with HR-HPV vs. LR-HPV; those with single vs. multiple HPV infections; and those with an HPV/STI coinfection and those without. Multivariate regression analyses adjusted for discharge-associated STIs and nugent score, which was significantly associated with genital inflammation in this cohort of women.

6.1. HPV prevalence and genotype distribution

Among the 167 women who participated in this study, 50.8% had detectable HPV DNA at baseline (**Table 3**). The prevalence of HR-HPV was 26.9% (**Table 3**), and HR-HPV was detected in 53% of HPV-infected participants. HPV52 was the most prevalent HR HPV genotype; while the most prevalent LR HPV genotype was HPV62 (**Figure 15**).

Table 3. Prevalence of HPV at Baseline (N = 167).			
HPV Infection	% (n)		
HPV Negative	49.2 (82)		
HPV Positive	50.8 (85)		
Low Risk HPV strains	35.3 (59)		
High Risk HPV strains	26.9 (45)		
Cervarix strains	7.8 (13)		
Gardasil strains	10.8 (18)		
Gardasil 9 strains	24.6 (41)		
Cervarix: HPV16, HPV18; Gardasil: HPV16, HPV18, HPV6, HPV11; Gardasil 9: HPV16, HPV18, HPV6, HPV11, HPV31, HPV33, HPV45, HPV52, HPV58			

6.2. Baseline demographics, behavioural and clinical characteristics of the study population

As expected, HPV positive women had a significantly lower mean age than their HPV negative counterparts at baseline [mean±standard deviation (SD) 28.4 ± 4.9 years vs 30.9 ± 5.9 years, respectively, **P** = **0.004**; **Table 4**]. HPV positive women were more likely to have a partner with a higher median age [median 34 (interquartile range (IQR) 30 - 37) years vs 32 (IQR 28 – 36) years, **P** = **0.005**; **Table 4**], and were less likely to be living with a regular partner than HPV negative women (16.5% and 30.5%, respectively, **P** = **0.026**; **Table 4**). In addition, the reported number of live births was higher among HPV positive women compared to HPV negative women [median 1 (IOR 1 - 2); median 2 (IQR 1 - 3) respectively, **P** = **0.015**; **Table 4**]. There was no significant difference among HPV positive and HPV negative women in terms of the age of sexual debut, number of lifetime partners, number of sex acts in the past 30 days, condom use, and the presence of inflammatory STIs (gonorrhoea, chlamydia, trichomonas, mycoplasma and HSV-2; **Table 4**).



Figure 15. Type-specific HPV prevalence among participants. The red bars indicate HR HPV genotypes, while the blue bars indicate LR HPV genotypes detected in the population of 167 women at baseline. Vaccine strains are indicated by stripes.

	<i>.</i>				
DEMOGRAPHICS		OVERALL (N = 167)	HPV+(N=85)	HPV- $(N = 82)$	P-VALUE
		% (n)	% (n)	% (n)	
Age mean (SD)	20.25	29.6 (5.5)	28.4 (4.9)	30.9 (5.9)	0.004*
Age (years)	20-25	18.6% (31)	20.0% (17)	17.1% (14)	0.032
	25-29	41.3% (69)	49.4% (42)	32.9% (27)	
	>= 30	40.1% (67)	30.6% (26)	50.0% (41)	
Education					
	Less than primary school	39.5% (66)	31.8% (27)	47.6% (39)	0.204
	Primary school complete	2.4% (4)	2.4% (2)	2.4% (2)	
	High school complete	53.3% (89)	60.0% (51)	46.3% (38)	
	Tertiary complete	4.8% (8)	5.9% (5)	3.7% (3)	
Sexual Behaviour median (IQR)					
Age of Sexual Debut		18 (16 - 19)	18 (16 - 19)	18 (16 - 20)	0.323
Age of regular/stable partner		32 (28 - 37)	34 (30 - 37)	32 (28 - 36)	0.005*
Age of first partner		21 (19 - 24)	20 (19 - 24)	21 (19 - 24)	0.426
Number of live births		1 (1 - 2)	1 (1 - 2)	2 (1 - 3)	0.015*
Age at first pregnancy		19 (17 - 22)	19 (17 - 21)	19.5 (18 - 23)	0.191
Age when started menstruating		14 (13 - 16)	14 (13 - 15)	14 (13 - 16)	0.701
Number of lifetime partners		2 (2 - 4)	3 (2 - 4)	2 (1 - 4)	0.264
Number of pregnancies		2 (1 - 2)	1 (1 - 2)	2 (1 - 3)	0.094
Number of vaginal sex acts in the last 30		4 (2 – 8)	4 (3 – 8)	4 (2 – 6)	0.110
days			0	2 (2)	0.040
Anal sex act in the last 30 days	Yes	1.2% (2)	0	2.4% (2)	0.240
	NO	98.8% (165)	100.0% (85)	97.6% (80)	0.272
Partner HIV Status	No answer Desitive	12.6% (21)	16.5% (14)	8.5% (7)	0.272
	Positive	2.4% (4)	3.3% (3)	1.2% (1)	
	Inegative	05.9% (110) 10.2% (22)	04.7%(55) 15.2%(12)	0/.1%(55) 22.2%(10)	
Portnor Circumsision	No answer	19.270(32) 14.494(34)	13.3%(13) 20.0%(17)	23.270 (19)	0.002
rattier Circumcision	No aliswei Vas	14.470(24)	20.0% (17)	3.3%(7)	0.093
	No	29.370 (49) 54 5% (91)	$\frac{30.0\%}{44.0\%}$ (20)	23.1%(23)	
	Unknown	1 7% (3)	24%(2)	1.2%(51)	
Relationshin Status	Married	15.6% (26)	9.4% (8)	22.0% (18)	0.074
Kentionship Status	Stable partner	80.8% (135)	87.1% (74)	74 4% (61)	0.074
	Casual Partner	3.6% (6)	3 5% (3)	3.7% (3)	
Living with regular partner	Yes	23.4% (39)	16.5%(14)	30.5% (25)	0.026*
za ing inter regular partitor	No	76.6% (128)	83.5% (71)	69.5% (57)	0.020
How often see regular/stable partner	About every day	27.4% (45/164)	24.1% (20/83)	30.9% (25/81)	0.310
	About every week	43.9% (72/164)	50.6% (42/83)	37.0% (30/81)	
	About every month	26.2% (43/164)	24.1% (20/83)	28.4% (23/81)	
	Less than every month	2.4% (4/164)	1.2% (1/83)	3.7% (3/81)	
Contraceptive type	Depo-provera	57.8% (93/161)	51.9% (42/81)	63.8% (51/80)	0.158
	Oral contraceptive	21.1% (34/161)	19.8% (16/81)	22.5% (18/80)	
	Nur-isterate	15.5% (25/161)	1.0% (17/81)	10.0% (8/80)	
	Other	5.6% (9/161)	7.4% (6/81)	3.8% (3/80)	
Use of Male Condoms	Always	37.7% (63)	34.1% (29)	41.5% (34)	0.638
	Sometimes	48.5% (81)	45.1% (37)	45.1% (37)	
	Never	13.8% (23)	13.4% (11)	13.4% (11)	
STI Testing					
Gonorrhoea	Negative	96.2% (150/156)	95.0% (76/80)	97.4% (74/76)	1.000
	Positive	3.8% (6/156)	5.0% (4/80)	2.6% (2/76)	
Chlamydia	Negative	92.3% (144/156)	93.7% (75/80)	90.8% (69/76)	0.363
	Positive	7.7% (12/156)	6.3% (5/80)	9.2% (7/76)	
Trichomonas	Negative	95.5% (149/156)	95.0% (76/80)	96.1% (76/76)	1.000
	Positive	4.5% (7/156)	5.0% (4/80)	3.9% (3/76)	
Mycoplasma	Negative	95.5% (149/156)	95.0% (76/80)	96.1% (73/76)	0.720
	Positive	4.5% (7/156)	5.0% (4/80)	3.9% (3/76)	
HSV-2 serostatus	Negative	10.2% (17)	10.6% (9)	9.8% (8)	1.000
	Positive	89.8% (150)	89.4% (76)	90.2% (74)	
Any STI ^a	No	82.6% (138)	82.4% (70)	82.9% (68)	1.000
-	Yes	17.4% (29)	17.6% (15)	17.1% (14)	
Bacterial Vaginosis score [median (IQR)]		1 (0 - 4)	2 (0 - 4.5)	1 (0 - 3)	0.330

 Table 4. Baseline characteristics by HPV status.

*P < 0.05 were considered statistically significant and are listed in bold. ^aAny STI defined as infection with Gonorrhoea, Chlamydia, Trichomonas and/or Mycoplasma. IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation.

Numerous studies have demonstrated that STIs and BV are able to induce a robust immune response and contribute to genital inflammation (Levine *et al.*, 1998; Fichorova *et al.*, 2001a; Reddy *et al.*, 2004; Yudin *et al.*, 2003). STIs increase the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which in turn, recruit immune cells and impact epithelial barrier integrity (Anahtar *et al.*, 2015; Arnold *et al.*, 2016; Kaul *et al.*, 2008). These immune response are presumably elicited in order to facilitate pathogen clearance and even defend against reinfection (Kaul *et al.*, 2008), but may render individuals more vulnerable to HIV infection (Laga *et al.*, 1993; van de Wijgert *et al.*, 2009; Van Der Pol *et al.*, 2008; Mlisana *et al.*, 2012; Masson *et al.*, 2014; Taha *et al.*, 1998). However, whether HPV infection has a similar effect on the genital mucosa is yet unclear. Here, the relationship between HPV infection and three biomarkers of inflammation associated with increased risk of HIV acquisition: genital cytokines, epithelial barrier integrity, and immune cell activation was investigated.

6.3. Prevalent HPV and biomarkers of inflammation

6.3.1. Association between prevalent HPV and genital cytokine concentrations

To determine whether HPV infection was associated with a distinct cytokine profile, the concentrations of 48 cytokines involved in chemotaxis, growth, inflammation, adaptive responses, and regulation were measured in baseline CVL specimens (**Table 5**). Cytokine concentrations were similar between the groups, with the exception of the adaptive cytokine IL-5, which trended towards a higher concentration among HPV positive women (P = 0.078; **Table 5**).

6.3.2. Association between prevalent HPV and epithelial barrier integrity

An intact epithelium is an important physical barrier protecting against HIV entry. Elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines disrupts tight junctions between epithelial cells, thereby reducing epithelial barrier integrity (Nazli *et al.*, 2010), as measured by MMPs, the enzymes responsible for the degradation and remodelling of the epithelial barrier (Arnold *et al.*, 2016). HPV is an epithelial virus and may facilitate HIV dissemination through disruption of the epithelial barrier (Herfs *et al.*, 2011). Soluble protein biomarkers of epithelial barrier integrity were compared between HPV positive and HPV negative women (**Table 6**). However, concentrations of MMPs did not differ between the groups (**Table 6**), suggesting that prevalent HPV infection may not impact epithelial barrier integrity.

	OVERALL (<i>N</i> = 163)	HPV- (<i>N</i> = 81)	HPV + $(N = 82)$	
Cytokine	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	P-value
IL-1a	2,154 (1,806-2,522)	2,074 (1,653-2,616)	2,233 (1,854-2,503)	0.270
IL-1β	1,706 (1,106-2,295)	1,668 (1,086-2,348)	1,721 (1,109-2,290)	0.926
IL-6	0,948 (0,700-1,337)	0,897 (0,633-1,363)	0,984 (0,768-1,309)	0.270
IL-12P40	2,431 (2,317-2,524)	2,429 (2,313-2,515)	2,432 (2,321-2,551)	0.787
IL-12P70	1,761 (1,495-2,050)	1,712 (1,475-1,969)	1,827 (1,531-2,072)	0.208
IL-18	2,351 (1,945-2,720)	2,374 (1,934-2,734)	2,267 (1,977-2,730)	0.901
MIF	3,559 (3,241-3,873)	3,583 (3,237-3,902)	3,534 (3,240-3,860)	0.765
TNF-α	1,071 (0,859-1,413)	1,026 (0,775-1,494)	1,102 (0,914-1,363)	0.418
TNF-β	0,548 (0,405-0,708)	0,544 (0,398-0,652)	0,570 (0,407-0,720)	0.381
TRAIL	1,486 (1,250-1,875)	1,467 (1,240-1,835)	1,495 (1,289-1,879)	0.427
CTACK	1,272 (1,060-1,453)	1,274 (1,047-1,412)	1,264 (1,095-1,486)	0.515
EOTAXIN	0,814 (0,477-1,046)	0,794 (0,434-1,023)	0,833 (0,619-1,062)	0.321
GRO-a	2,882 (2,320-3,494)	2,758 (2,211-3,475)	2,989 (2,402-3,549)	0.331
IL-8	2,722 (2,353-3,170)	2,701 (2,253-3,174)	2,742 (2,363-3,132)	0.690
IL-16	1,603 (1,424-1,869)	1,617 (1,367-1,858)	1,590 (1,448-1,905)	0.664
IP-10	2,325 (1,692-2,913)	2,351 (1,661-2,792)	2,321 (1,782-3,003)	0.455
MCP-1	1,469 (1,368-1,569)	1,477 (1,368-1,568)	1,467 (1,356-1,607)	0.927
MCP-3	1,023 (0,807-1,207)	1,039 (0,786-1,180)	0,990 (0,810-1,233)	0.958
MIG	2,579 (2,061-3,117)	2,589 (1,974-3,052)	2,559 (2,078-3,222)	0.289
MIP-1a	0,064 (-0,187-0,344)	0,061 (-0,201-0,347)	0,064 (-0,163-0,339)	0.952
MIP-1β	1,220 (0,822-1,738)	1,203 (0,792-1,688)	1,245 (0,866-1,773)	0.352
RANTES	0,797 (0,455-1,078)	0,804 (0,372-1,047)	0,793 (0,589-1,190)	0.221
IFN-α2	1,256 (1,143-1,399)	1,246 (1,154-1,386)	1,267 (1,119-1,409)	0.656
β-NGF	-0,051 (-0,509-0,332)	-0,076 (-0,678-0,261)	-0,032 (-0,485-0,405)	0.437
FGF BASIC	1,423 (1,363-1,504)	1,423 (1,360-1,508)	1,422 (1,367-1,499)	0.981
G-CSF	2,330 (1,876-2,859)	2,286 (1,703-2,813)	2,388 (1,957-2,925)	0.141
GM-CSF	1,843 (1,795-1,908)	1,851 (1,788-1,911)	1,839 (1,796-1,902)	0.542
HGF	2,302 (1,924-2,799)	2,247 (1,851-2,797)	2,399 (1,949-2,820)	0.528
IL-3	2,029 (1,949-2,156)	2,029 (1,943-2,138)	2,018 (1,953-2,188)	0.581
IL-7	0,862 (0,681-1,051)	0,795 (0,597-1,060)	0,871 (0,704-1,051)	0.256
IL-9	0,733 (0,566-0,863)	0,708 (0,553-0,864)	0,738 (0,617-0,867)	0.302
LIF	1,113 (0,940-1,291)	1,103 (0,931-1,292)	1,145 (0,963-1,293)	0.668
M-CSF	1,851 (1,601-2,132)	1,793 (1,578-2,132)	1,981 (1,613-2,130)	0.200
PDGF-BB	1,126 (0,895-1,328)	1,103 (0,86/-1,311)	1,151 (0,970-1,367)	0.147
SCF	1,016 (0,750-1,440)	0,990 (0,710-1,323)	1,062 (0,787-1,482)	0.227
SCGF-B	2,687 (2,302-3,060)	2,645 (2,137-2,980)	2,746 (2,372-3,076)	0.231
SDF-1a	2,421 (2,133-2,676)	2,378 (2,089-2,666)	2,443 (2,212-2,690)	0.198
VEGE	2,399 (2,064-2,723)	2,336 (1,970-2,699)	2,437 (2,123-2,746)	0.255
ΙΓΝ-γ	1,369 (1,153-1,561)	1,359 (1,072-1,619)	1,386 (1,228-1,546)	0.476
IL-2	0,446 (0,188-0,668)	0,458 (0,242-0,659)	0,418(0,1/4-0,6/5)	0.486
1L-4 II 5	0,013(-0,119-0,179)	-0,009(-0,140-0,200)	0,037 (-0,072-0,164)	0.535
IL-5 IL-12	0,236(-0,921-0,498)	0,041 (-1,222-0,443)	0,299 (-0,189-0,522)	0.078
IL-13 IL-15	0,543 (0,575-0,755)	0,537(0,566-0,730)	0,505(0,580-0,738)	0.607
1L-13 1L-17	0,510(-1,200-0,055) 1.086(0.057,1.202)	0,283 (-1,200-0,033) 1 081 (0 046 1 204)	0,31/(-1,200-0,08/) 1 002 (0 077 1 201)	0.491
	1,000 (0,95/-1,302)	1,001 (0,940-1,304)	1,093(0,977-1,291) 1,216(1,004,1,504)	0.342
IL-2KA	1,518 (1,115-1,498)	1,529 (1,120-1,501)	1,510(1,094-1,504) 1,626(1,521,1,912)	0.020
IL-10 IL-1RA	4,101 (3,939-4,220)	4,107 (3,946-4,219)	4,096 (3,931-4,227)	0.289

Table 5. Cytokine concentrations among HPV- and HPV+ women.

P-values <0.05 were considered significant. Nonparametric comparisons were conducted using the Mann Whitney U test. *Cytokine/Chemokine functions: Pro-inflammatory, Chemokines, Growth Factors, Adaptive response, Anti-inflammatory.*

	OVERALL (<i>N</i> = 163)	HPV- (<i>N</i> = 81)	HPV + ($N = 82$)	-
	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	P-value
MMP-1	3,200 (2,780-3,450)	3,210 (2,795-3,480)	3,190 (2,750-3,420)	0.596
MMP-2	3,460 (2,900-3,840)	3,400 (2,860-3,900)	3,560 (3,128-3,803)	0.535
MMP-3	2,950 (2,630-3,230)	2,920 (2,640-3,210)	3,020 (2,618-3,263)	0.660
MMP-7	2,440 (2,000-3,180)	2,420 (1,870-3,135)	2,455 (2,088-3,223)	0.261
MMP-8	5,010 (4,210-6,230)	5,010 (4,275-6,520)	5,010 (4,150-6,093)	0.648
MMP-9	4,720 (3,970-5,540)	4,630 (4,015-5,660)	4,750 (3,895-5,440)	0.670
MMP-10	2,940 (2,390-3,290)	2,960 (2,390-3,275)	2,925 (2,385-3,295)	0.877
MMP-12	2,930 (2,520-3,400)	2,930 (2,540-3,310)	2,965 (2,508-3,435)	0.926
MMP-13	2,270 (1,740-2,650)	2,310 (1,725-2,665)	2,270 (1,785-2,623)	0.857
P-values <0 Whitney U	0.05 were considered significant test.	. Unpaired nonparametric com	parisons were conducted using	the Mann

Lable 0. Whith concentrations by the viscatas	Table 6.	MMP	concentrations	by	HPV	status
--	----------	-----	----------------	----	-----	--------

6.3.3. Association between prevalent HPV and immune cell recruitment

The frequency of activated (CD38⁺ and/or HLA-DR⁺) or proliferating (Ki67⁺) T cells (CD3⁺ CD4⁺ or CD8⁺), NK cells (CD56⁺CD16⁺) and activated CCR5⁺CD4⁺ T cell targets for HIV replication was compared between HPV positive and HPV negative women (**Table 7**). Cellular frequencies were similar between the groups, with the exception of the CD4⁺ T cell population, which trended towards a reduced frequency among HPV positive women (**P** = 0.056; **Table 7**).

Table 7.	Cellular	frequencies	by	HPV	status.

Median % (IQR) Median % (IQR) Median % (IQR) L MARHO GWEEG 2 262 (1 000 5 500) 2 202 (1 000 5 500) 2 202 (1 000 5 500)	P-value
	0.852
LYMPHOCYTES 2,360 (1,020-5,590) 2,325 (1,008-6,053) 2,610 (1,020-5,410)	0.052
CD3 11,200 (2,330-25,500) 10,350 (1,883-27,980) 12,000 (2,650-23,800)	0.908
CD3CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺ 5,670 (1,490-14,000) 6,060 (1,395-15,100) 5,225 (1,950-13,850)	0.942
CD3CCR5⁺CD38⁺ 17,650 (6,800-30,100) 16,800 (6,170-31,600) 19,400 (6,950-28,400)	0.808
CD3CCR5⁺DR ⁺ 11,300 (4,620-28,000) 11,200 (4,515-24,150) 11,700 (4,643-32,700)	0.512
CD3CCR5⁺KI67 ⁺ 7,725 (0,000-21,950) 6,320 (0,000-18,230) 9,510 (0,000-24,700)	0.380
CD3CD38⁺DR ⁺ 11,100 (5,058-24,330) 10,700 (4,935-22,250) 11,200 (5,055-25,300)	0.700
CD3CCR5 ⁺ 43,350 (23,950-64,080) 41,700 (21,200-66,700) 44,900 (24,500-63,300)) 0.989
CD3CD38 ⁺ 39,700 (21,300-58,100) 38,650 (25,000-57,400) 43,500 (18,100-61,500)) 0.908
CD3HLA-DR 25,050 (12,480-47,080) 24,900 (11,450-41,950) 25,550 (14,500-51,900)) 0.510
CD3KI67 18,700 (0,099-37,100) 14,100 (0,106-36,080) 22,900 (0,098-38,100)	0.433
CD3 - 37,250 (23,450-58,950) 40,700 (24,330-60,730) 33,500 (22,250-58,430)) 0.450
NK Cells ² 4,365 (1,380-14,030) 5,465 (1,324-12,830) 4,020 (1,340-17,000)	0.954
CD3 Activation ¹ 75,000 (55,500-91,000) 72,850 (54,450-91,480) 75,600 (59,500-90,100)) 0.860
CD4 60,000 (48,100-68,900) 62,250 (49,350-72,000) 57,500 (46,200-66,700)) 0.056
CD4CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺ 4,270 (0,484-12,100) 4,300 (0,371-11,600) 4,125 (0,535-12,130)	0.987
CD4CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺ 18,950 (6,033-32,280) 18,300 (4,940-33,600) 20,400 (6,360-32,200)	0.725
CD4CCR5⁺DR ⁺ 8,970 (2,210-25,900) 9,090 (2,500-20,550) 8,940 (2,045-27,750)	0.887
CD4CCR5⁺KI67 ⁺ 3,610 (0,000-23,250) 3,390 (0,000-19,730) 3,830 (0,000-27,330)	0.713
CD4CD38⁺DR ⁺ 8,305 (1,813-17,950) 8,535 (1,788-18,080) 8,035 (1,768-17,480)	0.843
CD4CCR5 45,450 (24,900-69,000) 45,300 (25,000-69,800) 45,700 (22,200-66,800)) 0.798
CD4CD38 42,600 (21,900-59,300) 40,100 (23,530-59,830) 44,100 (19,100-58,300)) 0.861
CD4HLA-DR 18,550 (6,720-34,650) 17,300 (7,673-32,480) 19,000 (4,898-39,680)	0.826
CD4KI67 10,500 (0,000-34,900) 10,400 (0,000-33,680) 10,500 (0,000-35,700)	0.895
CD4 Activation ¹ 75,000 (54,700-90,200) 75,800 (52,980-91,580) 75,000 (55,000-89,400) 0.706
CD8 35,700 (25,400-46,400) 35,200 (25,580-48,350) 35,800 (25,000-46,300)) 0.978
CD8CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺ 5,310 (0,000-13,300) 4,170 (0,000-12,350) 6,280 (0,419-14,080)	0.316
CD8CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺ 11,500 (3,233-22,500) 10,300 (3,030-22,300) 13,100 (4,260-24,600)	0.445
CD8CCR5⁺DR ⁺ 11,600 (1,800-25,400) 10,900 (0,729-19,050) 13,200 (2,273-27,130)	0.267
CD8CCR5⁺KI67 ⁺ 3,920 (0,000-19,150) 2,355 (0,000-14,550) 7,275 (0,000-25,300)	0.280
CD8CD38⁺DR ⁺ 12,500 (2,638-30,750) 11,800 (2,060-25,830) 13,100 (2,783-33,700)	0.491
CD8CCR5 31,750 (16,300-53,280) 30,900 (15,400-52,800) 31,900 (18,200-55,200)) 0.802
CD8CD38 37,800 (14,300-56,500) 35,450 (14,080-52,000) 38,700 (15,300-60,400)) 0.455
CD8HLA-DR 35,900 (10,630-58,430) 33,600 (9,418-57,150) 36,850 (11,600-62,530)) 0.628
CD8KI67 13,700 (0,000-40,000) 14,250 (0,000-38,250) 13,600 (0,000-40,400)	0.771
CD8 Activation ¹ 72,800 (53,300-90,500) 72,100 (53,780-91,900) 72,900 (51,200-89,300) 0.970

P-values <0.05 were considered significant. Unpaired nonparametric comparisons were conducted using the Mann Whitney U test. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56+CD16+ markers.

Taken together, the detection of any HPV genotype in CVL specimens was not associated with significant increases in cytokine concentrations, markers of immune cell activation or epithelial barrier integrity. To limit the potential for the inflammatory nature of discharge-associated STIs and BV to mask a contribution of HPV to genital immunity, regression models were used to validate the above observations by controlling for the presence of discharge-associated STIs and nugent score (**Figure 16**; **Appendix B**).

Controlling for an impact of STIs and BV on genital cytokine concentrations, HPV infection was associated with increased concentrations of the chemokine SDF-1a [β = 0.148 pg/ml, P = 0.036; Figure 16A]. Although not statistically significant, being HPV positive was associated with trending decreases of MMP-9 concentrations [β = -0.357 pg/ml, P = 0.092; Figure 16B] and reduced frequencies of CD4 cells [β = -6.315 pg/ml, P = 0.054; Figure 16C].

Based on their respective well-established roles in HIV acquisition, a relationship between genital inflammation (Masson et al., 2015) and HPV status was also investigated. Genital inflammation, as defined by having 5 or more of 9 pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IL-8, IP-10, MCP-1, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β) above the 75th percentile (Masson *et al.*, 2015), did not distinguish HPV-infected from uninfected women (**P** = **0.700**), suggesting that being HPV positive was not associated with this measurement of genital inflammation.

In summary here, *HPV infection predicted increased concentrations of the chemokine SDF-* $l\alpha$, but was not associated with markers of epithelial barrier integrity, immune cell activation, or genital inflammation. Further investigations were therefore conducted to determine whether other features of HPV infection, also associated with HIV infection, had an impact on genital immunity; namely, the number of infecting strains, the oncogenic potential of the HPV, and coinfection with other STI.

(B) Matrix Metalloproteinases

(C) Cellular Subsets





Figure 16. Association between HPV status and biomarkers of genital inflammation. β -coefficients and corresponding P-values were determined using linear regression models. B-coefficients are indicated by shapes and error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Significant P-values (P<0.05) are indicated by (*) and shading, whilst trends (P<0.1) are indicated by shading only. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers. Cytokines are ordered according to functionality: pro-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors, adaptive response and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

6.4. Association between multiple HPV genotypes and genital immunity

To determine whether having multiple concurrent HPV infections contributes to the genital immune response, HPV positive women were stratified into groups based on the number of infecting HPV types. Women were classified as having "1" or "2+" based on whether they had one or multiple HPV genotypes detected in CVL specimens. Concentrations of cytokines, immune cell activation, and epithelial barrier integrity were compared between these groups (**Figure 17**; **Appendix C**).

In univariate analysis, having multiple infecting HPV strains was inversely associated with concentrations of the growth factor M-CSF [β = -0.162 pg/ml, P = 0.044; Figure 17A]. However, after controlling for STI and BV, this significant association with M-CSF was lost, and an association between multiple genotypes and reduced concentrations of the adaptive cytokine IL-5 was observed [β = -0.170 pg/ml; P = 0.033; Figure 17A]. Having multiple concurrent HPV infections was not significantly associated with MMP concentrations (Figure 17B), with immune cell activation (Figure 17C), nor with genital inflammation as defined by elevated levels of 5/9 pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (P = 0.215).

(C) Cellular Subsets

(B) Matrix Metalloproteinases

(A) Cytokines



Figure 17. Association between multiple HPV genotypes and biomarkers of genital inflammation. β -coefficients and corresponding P-values were determined using linear regression models. B-coefficients are indicated by shapes and error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Significant P-values (P<0.05) are indicated by (*) and shading, whilst trends (P<0.1) are indicated by shading only. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers. Cytokines are ordered according to functionality: pro-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors, adaptive response and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

6.5. Association between oncogenic HPV and genital immunity

Soluble protein biomarkers of inflammation and immune cell activation was compared between women with at least 1 HR-HPV type (HPV16, HPV18, HPV31, HPV33, HPV35, HPV39, HPV45, HPV51, HPV52, HPV56, HPV58, HPV59, HPV68) and women infected with LR-HPV types only (**Figure 18**; **Appendix D**).

In univariate analysis, infection with HR-HPV was associated with the chemokine MCP-1 ($\beta = 0.124 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.052), the adaptive cytokine IL-13 ($\beta = 0.119 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.028) and the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12p70 [$\beta = 0.154 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.054; Figure 18A]. Controlling for STI and BV in multivariate regression models, infection with HR-HPV was significantly associated with increased concentrations MCP-1 ($\beta = 0.127 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.046) and IL-13 ($\beta = 0.117 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.031). In addition, although not statistically significant, women with HR-HPV were more inclined to have increased concentrations of the pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-1 β ($\beta = 0.268 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.078) and IL-12P70 ($\beta = 0.150 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.064), chemokines: eotaxin ($\beta = 0.284 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.073), IL-8 ($\beta = 0.222 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.088), IP-10 ($\beta = 0.341 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.055) and MIG ($\beta = 0.268 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.067), growth factor: VEGF ($\beta = 0.175 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.088) and the adaptive cytokine IL-2 [$\beta = 0.307 \text{ pg/ml}$, P = 0.066; Figure 18A]. Even though HR-HPV was associated with several cytokines, no association was observed between oncogenicity and the definition of genital inflammation, suggesting that oncogenic HPV infection was not associated with this measurement of genital inflammation.

HR-HPV infection trended towards an association with increased MMP-3 concentrations [β = 0.239 pg/ml, P = 0.075; Figure 18B]. Further, HR-HPV infection was significantly associated with greater frequencies of lymphocytes [β = 1.987 pg/ml, P = 0.042; Figure 18C]. It is important to note that the number of infecting HPV types did not differ significantly between women with LR-HPV and HR-HPV infections [median 0 (IQR 0 – 2); median 1 (IQR 0 – 3) respectively, P = 0.109].

(A) Cytokines

(C) Cellular Subsets



Figure 18. Association between oncogenic HPV and biomarkers of genital inflammation. β -coefficients and corresponding P-values were determined using linear regression models. B-coefficients are indicated by shapes and error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Significant P-values (P<0.05) are indicated by (*) and shading, whilst trends (P<0.1) are indicated by shading only. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers. Cytokines are ordered according to functionality: pro-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors, adaptive response and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

6.6. HPV, discharge-associated STIs, and biomarkers of inflammation

To investigate a potential compounding effect of co-infecting HPV and inflammatory STI on biomarkers of inflammation, the biomarkers were compared between participants categorised as uninfected (HPV-STI-), having discharge-associated STI only (HPV-STI+), having HPV only (HPV+STI-), and co-infected (HPV+STI+; **Table 8**; **Appendix E**).

6.6.1. Association between HPV, STIs, and genital cytokine concentrations

HPV+STI- women had increased concentrations of the adaptive cytokine IL-5, proinflammatory cytokine IL-6, and the growth factor G-CSF compared to uninfected women, indicating that HPV infection is associated with a distinct cytokine signature [Table 8; Appendix E: Table 10]. However, these associations did not withstand adjustment for multiple comparisons. Infection with STI only was associated with elevated levels of several cytokines relative to uninfected women; with concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , TRAIL, CTACK, IL-16, MIG, MIP-1α, RANTES, β-NGF, FGF, HGF, SCF, SCGF-β and IL-5 remaining significant even after adjustment. Infection with STIs induced a robust pro-inflammatory cytokine response compared to HPV infection [Table 8; Appendix E: Table 10]. Women with an HPV/STI coinfection were associated with a similar cytokine profile as women with STI only, and coinfection was associated with significant increases in additional cytokines: TNFβ, MCP-3, IL-9 and M-CSF relative to uninfected women [Table 8; Appendix E: Table 10]. Additionally, comparisons between the STI only and coinfection groups demonstrated that for some cytokines (IL-6 and IL-1RA) the effect of concomitant HPV infection was a reduction of the cytokine when compared to the concentrations observed in women with STI alone. These data suggested that the inflammatory response observed in co-infected women was solely driven by discharge-associated STIs and HPV infection had limited impact on the cytokine milieu in HPV+STI+ women. As expected, STI was significantly associated with genital inflammation status relative to uninfected women (P = 0.0054), suggesting that infection with non-HPV related pathogens induced an inflammatory response at the genital mucosa.

Taken together, these data suggests that *infection with this panel of discharge-associated agents was related to an inflammatory response, more so than HPV infection alone; and that HPV co-infection with STI has a limited impact on cytokine concentrations.*

	HPV-STI- (N = 67)	HPV ONLY $(N = 66)$	STI ONLY $(N = 14)$	HPV+STI+ ($N = 15$)
-	Median (IOR) log ₁₀	Median (IOR) log ₁₀	Median (IOR) log ₁₀	Median (IOR) log ₁₀
Cytokine	pg/ml	pg/ml	pg/ml	pg/ml
IL-1a	2.032 (1.614-2.473)	2.143 (1.834-2.444) #	2.683 (1.930-3.111)*	2.540 (2.247-2.797)*
IL-16	1.563 (1.009-2.098)	1.557 (1.044-2.251)	2.395 (1.650-2.826)*	2.118 (1.719-2.335)*
IL-6	0,795 (0,522-1,256)	1,004 (0,787-1,351)*	1,207 (0,972-1,735)* #	0,892 (0,711-1,055)
IL-12P40	2,425 (2,296-2,507)	2,423 (2,320-2,520)	2,551 (2,370-2,731)*	2,512 (2,317-2,594)
IL-12P70	1,709 (1,457-1,939)	1,774 (1,476-2,072)	1,892 (1,481-2,160)	1,943 (1,617-2,054)
IL-18	2,351 (1,855-2,677)	2,293 (1,954-2,684)	2,541 (2,037-2,801)	2,219 (2,113-3,025)
MIF	3,551 (3,244-3,904)	3,549 (3,249-3,834)	3,617 (3,197-3,902)	3,487 (3,085-3,948)
TNF-α	0,983 (0,769-1,388)	1,074 (0,906-1,348)	1,369 (1,085-1,874)*	1,209 (1,031-1,483)
TNF-B	0,542 (0,387-0,633)	0,537 (0,405-0,661) #	0,560 (0,403-1,005)	0,734 (0,524-0,848)*
TRAIL	1,420 (1,092-1,738)	1,472 (1,236-1,842) #	1,861 (1,448-2,354)*	1,866 (1,489-2,004)*
CTACK	1,222 (1,040-1,402)	1,216 (1,084-1,405) #	1,392 (1,284-1,759)*	1,481 (1,195-1,590)*
EOTAXIN	0,732 (0,418-0,996)	0,823 (0,475-1,063)	1,003 (0,460-1,299)	0,900 (0,732-1,064)
GRO-A	2,693 (2,192-3,456)	2,956 (2,352-3,484)	3,075 (2,778-3,754)	3,206 (2,532-3,783)
IL-8	2,601 (2,143-3,038)	2,692 (2,344-3,050)	3,028 (2,589-3,638)*	2,962 (2,669-3,221)
IL-16	1,542 (1,349-1,816)	1,578 (1,437-1,890)	1,876 (1,673-2,332)*	1,828 (1,456-2,137)*
IP-10	2,306 (1,599-2,728)	2,322 (1,704-2,959)	2,636 (2,290-3,472)*	2,280 (1,901-3,523)
MCP-1	1,458 (1,368-1,544)	1,469 (1,356-1,611)	1,540 (1,377-1,800)	1,458 (1,316-1,485)
MCP-3	1,036 (0,751-1,156)	0,975 (0,774-1,185) #	1,047 (0,920-1,457)	1,184 (0,958-1,365)*
MIG	2,422 (1,821-2,889)	2,466 (2,059-3,046)	3,200 (2,447-3,821)*	3,247 (2,299-3,516)*
MIP-1a	0,009 (-0,252-0,316)	0,008 (-0,204-0,313)	0,314 (0,028-0,698)*	0,193 (-0,004-0,483)
MIP-1B	1,043 (0,728-1,663)	1,281 (0,846-1,752)	1,487 (1,135-1,877)*	1,224 (1,015-1,940)
RANTES	0,754 (0,340-0,975)	0,793 (0,525-1,114)	1,161 (0,796-1,527)*	1,035 (0,732-1,251)*
IFN-a2	1,225 (1,143-1,345)	1,242 (1,119-1,369) #	1,379 (1,233-1,648)*	1,437 (1,160-1,518)*
β-NGF	-0,131 (-2,000-0,246)	-0,117 (-0,498-0,302)	0,221 (-0,144-0,754)*	0,366 (-0,377-0,630)*
FGF BASIC	1,409 (1,358-1,493)	1,422 (1,371-1,482)	1,503 (1,426-1,587)*	1,481 (1,353-1,562)
G-CSF	2,199 (1,591-2,701)	2,395 (2,066-2,965)*	2,517 (2,202-3,307)*	2,239 (1,800-2,730)
GM-CSF	1,840 (1,789-1,908)	1,855 (1,802-1,907) #	1,890 (1,775-1,932)	1,799 (1,751-1,861)
HGF	2,167 (1,747-2,748)	2,323 (1,918-2,780)	2,788 (2,227-3,329)*	2,575 (2,299-2,915)*
IL-3	2,024 (1,891-2,114)	1,997 (1,951-2,154)	2,118 (1,996-2,479)*	2,258 (1,964-2,326)*
IL-7	0,781 (0,547-1,049)	0,865 (0,683-1,031)	0,992 (0,741-1,073)	0,903 (0,780-1,086)
IL-9	0,655 (0,515-0,844)	0,733 (0,590-0,848)	0,785(0,617-1,021)	$(0,815 (0,717-0,930))^{*}$
	1,0/3 (0,899-1,262)	1,075 (0,936-1,239) #	1,164 (1,100-1,620)*	1,305 (1,216-1,375)*
M-CSF	1,778 (1,565-2,020)	1,926 (1,598-2,121)	1,995 (1,061-2,350)	2,056 (1,729-2,203)*
PDGF-BB	1,0/8 (0,81/-1,500)	1,127 (0,900-1,301)	1,270 (1,040-1,009)*	1,276 (0,971-1,392)*
SCF SCCE 8	0,900(0,094-1,232)	1,010(0,705-1,337)	1,443 (0,894-1,810)*	$1,477(0,887-1,706)^{*}$
SUGF-P	2,548(2,090-2,900)	2,754(2,584-5,057)	$3,137(2,438-3,330)^*$	2,750(2,507-5,094)
SDF-IA VECE	2,505(2,034-2,040) 2,222(1,042,2,571)	2,420(2,188-2,079) 2,405(2,002,2,710)	$2,511(2,575-2,754)^{**}$	2,311(2,210-2,750)
	2,555(1,945-2,571) 1 212 (1 060 1 526)	2,403(2,092-2,710) 1 271 (1 102 1 520)	2,381(2,108-5,038) 1.562(1.222,1.826)*	2,081(2,273-2,855)
IFN-G	1,512(1,000-1,550)	1,571(1,192-1,550) 0.426(0.187,0.680)	$1,302(1,222-1,820)^{*}$	1,448(1,555-1,015) 0 222 (0 405 0 520)
IL-4 II 4	0,440(0,230-0,039) 0.012(0.181,0.158)	0,430(0,187-0,080) 0.025(0.107,0.122)	0,340(0,389-0,880) 0.204(0.024,0.200)*	0,322(-0,495-0,520)
IL-4 II 5	-0.013(-0.101-0.138) -0.051(-1.222-0.403)	0,023 (-0,107-0,133)	0,204 (-0,034-0,399)*	0,095 (-0,000-0,290)
Ш-5 П 12	-0,031(-1,222-0,403) 0,535(0,332,0,728)	$0,243(-0,233-0,300)^{\circ}$ 0.563(0.329,0.733)	$0,490(0,200-0,727)^{+}$ 0,614(0,302,0,813)	$0,427(0,255-0,595)^{\circ}$ 0,543(0,403,0,780)
IL-15 II_15	0,333 (0,332-0,720) 0.093 (-1.260-0.614)	0,505(0,529-0,755) 0 350(-1 260-0 700)	0,014(0,392-0,013) 0 532 (-1 260-0 0/3)	0,545 (0,405-0,760)
II -13 II -17	$1.069(0.937_1.200-0.014)$	1 003 (0 075-1 270)	1 201 (1 034-1 608)*	$1120(0977_1406)$
IL-17 IL-2ra	1,007(0,757-1,200) 1 272 (1 115 $_1$ 420)	$1,075(0,775^{-1},277)$ $1,241(1,081^{-1},420)$ #	1 476 (1 310-1 057)*	1,122(0,277-1,400) 1 562 (1 2/6-1 673)*
II210	1,272(1,113-1,420) 1 606 (1 434-1 715)	1,2+1(1,001-1,420) # 1 626 (1 513-1 815)	1, -1, 0 (1, $519 - 1, 957$)*	1,502(1,2+0-1,075)
IL-1RA	4,107 (3,911-4,211)	4,115 (3,985-4,248) #	4,108 (4,000-4,291) #	3,943 (3,749-4,095)

 Table 8. Cytokine concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV-STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing. Cytokines are ordered according to functionality: pro-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors, adaptive response and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

6.6.2. Association between HPV, STIs, and epithelial barrier integrity

Women with STI only had significantly higher levels of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-8, MMP-9, MMP-12 and MMP-13 compared to uninfected women [**Table 9**; **Appendix E**: **Table 11**]. Coinfection was associated with increases in similar MMPs [MMP-2, MMP-3 and MMP-12] as the HPV-STI+ group. Additionally, women with HPV only had significantly reduced concentrations of MMP-2, MMP-12 and MMP-13 compared to HPV+STI+ women, suggesting that STI alone contributed to increases of these enzymes observed in co-infected women.

Table 9. MMP concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.						
	HPV-STI- (<i>N</i> = 67)	HPV ONLY (<i>N</i> = 66)	STI ONLY (<i>N</i> = 14)	$\mathbf{HPV} + \mathbf{STI} + (N = 15)$		
Protein	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml		
MMP-1	2,690 (3,150-3,440)	2,435 (3,150-3,420)	3,163 (3,550-3,848)*	3,160 (3,350-3,480)		
MMP-2	2,700 (3,340-3,770)	2,838 (3,525-3,780) #	3,415 (4,050-4,355)*	3,400 (3,730-4,160)*		
MMP-3	2,630 (2,810-3,170)	2,510 (2,930-3,273)	2,813 (3,265-3,603)*	2,810 (3,170-3,240)*		
MMP-7	1,810 (2,420-3,110)	2,003 (2,515-3,150)	2,098 (2,760-3,330)	2,210 (2,460-3,610)		
MMP-8	4,190 (5,000-5,920)	4,108 (4,950-6,223)	4,905 (6,560-7,623)*	4,930 (5,240-6,050)		
MMP-9	3,890 (4,500-5,410)	3,680 (4,635-5,443)	4,340 (5,685-6,335)*	4,510 (5,000-5,440)		
MMP-10	2,290 (2,890-3,180)	2,270 (2,960-3,313)	2,793 (3,135-3,538)	2,700 (2,900-3,010)		
MMP-12	2,440 (2,830-3,230)	2,268 (2,855-3,408) #	2,895 (3,330-4,013)*	2,840 (3,240-3,700)*		
MMP-13	1,710 (2,140-2,630)	1,708 (2,185-2,605) #	2,278 (2,595-2,965)*	2,270 (2,490-2,690)		

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing.

6.6.3. Association between HPV, STIs, and immune cell recruitment

The inflammatory nature of STIs extended to the investigation of immune cell subsets in the context of HPV [**Table 10**; **Appendix E**: **Table 12**]. Women with STI only had increased frequencies of activated (CD3⁺CD38⁺), highly activated (CD3⁺CD38⁺DR⁺), total activated and activated CCR5⁺CD3⁺ T cell targets (CD3⁺CCR5⁺CD38⁺, CD3⁺CD38⁺DR⁺CCR5⁺) compared to uninfected women. These T cell associations were attributable to the CD8+ population since activated (CD8⁺CD38⁺), highly activated (CD8⁺CD38⁺DR⁺) and activated CCR5⁺CD8⁺ T cell targets (CD8⁺CCR5⁺CD38⁺, CD8⁺CD38⁺DR⁺CCR5⁺) were significantly higher among HPV-STI+ women relative to uninfected women [**Table 10**; **Appendix E**: **Table 12**]. However, these associations did not withstand multiple comparisons. These same cell subsets were increased among women with a coinfection; in addition, co-infected women had increased frequencies of activated (CD3⁺DR⁺) CD3 cells, activated CCR5⁺CD4⁺ T cell targets (CD4⁺CCR5⁺CD38⁺)

and activated CD8⁺ cells (CD8⁺DR⁺) compared to uninfected women. Furthermore, women with HPV only had reduced frequencies of multiple cellular subsets [(CD3⁺DR⁺, CD3 total activation, CD4⁺CD38⁺, CD4⁺CCR5⁺CD38⁺, CD4 total activation, CD8⁺CD38⁺, CD8⁺DR⁺, CD8⁺CD38⁺DR⁺ and CD8 total activation), **Table 10**; **Appendix E**: **Table 12**] relative to co-infected women, suggesting that *cellular associations observed in HPV+STI+ women were driven by discharge-associated STIs*.

	1 0	,	,	
	HPV-STI- (N = 66)	HPV ONLY $(N = 69)$	STI ONLY $(N = 14)$	HPV+STI+ ($N = 13$)
Cell Type	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)
LYMPHOCYTES	1,083 (2,170-5,350)	0,982 (2,290-5,715)	0,631 (3,520-7,860)	1,050 (2,940-4,365)
CD3	1,178 (10,350-27,730)	2,755 (13,400-23,450)	3,678 (10,190-38,700)	1,290 (11,400-24,350)
CD3CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺	0,829 (4,770-13,530)	1,550 (5,090-13,730)	6,935 (10,300-26,850)*	3,625 (6,450-30,500)
CD3CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺	4,650 (16,400-25,600)	6,170 (17,900-27,800)	13,250 (28,800-42,600)*	15,600 (21,900-40,950)
CD3CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	3,403 (8,990-19,980)	3,883 (11,000-28,500)	8,050 (14,600-51,600)	6,885 (25,200-50,200)*
CD3CCR5 ⁺ KI67 ⁺	0,000 (3,800-13,850)	0,000 (8,765-24,900)	0,074 (17,700-57,350)	0,000 (16,600-28,050)
CD3CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	3,135 (10,200-20,450)	4,680 (11,050-24,550)	13,250 (18,900-28,850)*	6,150 (16,900-47,000)
CD3CCR5 ⁺	21,100 (38,700-59,950)	22,250 (44,600-57,850)	34,200 (57,450-73,050)	30,950 (46,700-84,000)
CD3CD38 ⁺	21,180 (37,600-52,380)	16,900 (42,400-53,650)	32,700 (54,700-73,550)*	26,350 (61,700-75,600)
CD3HLA-DR	10,550 (23,900-40,900)	13,230 (24,950-49,530) #	21,150 (27,800-61,050)	24,000 (34,900-66,500)*
CD3KI67	0,513 (13,500-31,180)	0,049 (21,400-40,750)	0,072 (21,600-63,280)	3,342 (29,000-38,250)
CD3 -	23,650 (41,500-59,780)	21,850 (35,500-58,850)	24,880 (29,750-67,780)	22,550 (33,200-59,800)
NK Cells ²	1,580 (5,520-12,350)	1,830 (4,080-17,500)	0,403 (2,730-20,650)	1,283 (3,745-12,530)
CD3 Activation ¹	53,250 (68,200-91,030)	55,150 (74,600-86,850) #	75,250 (86,050-93,630)*	76,500 (90,100-98,850)*
CD4	49,030 (62,250-72,880)	48,350 (58,000-67,050)	53,780 (64,450-70,300)	29,050 (45,900-63,850)
CD4CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺	0,084 (3,715-10,980)	0,608 (4,125-12,180)	4,065 (7,610-18,900)	1,260 (5,910-15,200)
CD4CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺	3,370 (16,700-30,700)	4,725 (18,600-31,500) #	9,128 (26,950-38,280)	18,300 (27,300-56,000)*
CD4CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	2,270 (8,740-19,380)	2,090 (8,940-28,300)	5,310 (12,600-37,850)	1,260 (9,460-28,450)
CD4CCR5 ⁺ KI67 ⁺	0,000 (3,770-19,250)	0,000 (3,400-27,780)	0,000 (0,275-37,950)	0,000 (18,200-26,550)
CD4CD38 ₊ DR ⁺	1,230 (8,160-17,450)	1,890 (8,770-18,230)	7,685 (12,300-21,750)	2,180 (6,920-21,850)
CD4CCR5	24,800 (44,700-69,200)	19,750 (43,300-62,800)	24,380 (56,550-75,830)	30,700 (54,500-95,450)
CD4CD38	21,280 (39,650-58,100)	17,700 (42,900-54,600) #	26,080 (56,150-74,880)	30,800 (63,600-75,400)
CD4HLA-DR	7,140 (16,800-32,750)	5,500 (19,100-41,550)	9,795 (20,300-43,950)	3,050 (10,800-35,950)
CD4KI67	0,000 (12,050-33,430)	0,000 (8,860-36,850)	0,000 (0,240-44,880)	0,000 (25,000-36,050)
CD4 Activation ¹	50,850 (72,750-91,580)	53,000 (72,700-84,400) #	62,350 (83,050-91,980)	74,650 (84,300-98,950)
CD8	24,080 (35,650-49,100)	24,400 (36,600-45,700)	29,600 (32,350-44,430)	20,700 (35,100-54,000)
CD8CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺	0,000 (3,615-9,955)	0,000 (6,280-13,700)	4,735 (11,600-17,100)*	3,165 (8,320-30,550)
CD8CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺	0,597 (9,300-18,550)	3,585 (12,900-22,850)	9,155 (18,250-46,430)*	6,360 (18,100-36,050)
CD8CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	0,137 (8,110-19,130)	1,958 (12,150-26,500)	8,830 (14,300-27,950)	4,765 (23,600-51,350)
CD8CCR5 ⁺ KI67 ⁺	0,000 (2,380-13,900)	0,000 (5,265-26,180)	0,000 (0,171-47,150)	0,000 (9,520-24,900)
CD8CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	0,163 (10,400-21,600)	1,830 (12,700-30,980) #	15,050 (18,800-34,800)*	5,865 (34,900-68,700)*
CD8CCR5	14,250 (28,500-51,250)	17,450 (31,900-50,000)	24,830 (42,500-64,200)	17,150 (32,600-70,750)
CD8CD38	8,730 (33,200-50,200)	13,150 (38,600-54,100) #	32,050 (50,100-75,680)*	23,700 (67,400-81,800)*
CD8HLA-DR	6,210 (29,900-54,050)	10,550 (36,650-57,150) #	29,350 (40,000-68,150)	28,750 (54,300-85,850)*
CD8KI67	0,000 (13,500-35,100)	0,000 (11,700-41,050)	0,000 (20,000-97,680)	0,000 (26,100-39,700)
CD8 Activation ¹	45,230 (67,950-90,580)	50,500 (70,800-88,150) #	73,580 (85,150-94,200)*	71,900 (88,400-99,750)*

Table 10. Cellular frequencies among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing.¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38.²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers.

7. DISCUSSION

The association between STIs, BV and their contribution to genital inflammation (Levine *et al.*, 1998; Fichorova *et al.*, 2001a; Reddy *et al.*, 2004; Yudin *et al.*, 2003) and increased HIV risk has been well established (Laga *et al.*, 1993; van de Wijgert *et al.*, 2009; Van Der Pol *et al.*, 2008; Mlisana *et al.*, 2012; Masson *et al.*, 2014; Taha *et al.*, 1998). However, even though HPV is one of the most common STIs globally, and is associated epidemiologically with an increased risk of HIV acquisition (Smith-McCune *et al.*, 2010b; Averbach *et al.*, 2010; Auvert *et al.*, 2011; Konopnicki *et al.*, 2013a; Low *et al.*, 2011), the underlying mechanisms of this remain elusive. Therefore, the hypothesis of this study was that the immune responses associated with HPV (whether in the context of multiple concurrent HPV infections, high or low risk HPV infection, and coinfection with other STI) contribute to a genital immune environment conducive to an increased risk of HIV infection. Specifically, associations between HPV and biological factors known to increase HIV risk, namely genital cytokines and inflammation (Nicol *et al.*, 2005; Masson *et al.*, 2015), genital epithelial microabrasions (Herfs *et al.*, 2011; Arnold *et al.*, 2016), and HIV target cells frequencies (Arnold *et al.*, 2016; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2004) were investigated.

The study population included 167 HIV negative, sexually active women aged 18-40 years attending the CAPRISA eThekwini and Vulindela Clinics or their neighbouring public sector family-planning services in KZN. In this study, more than half the population had detectable HPV DNA at baseline. As expected, HPV positive women were significantly younger than their HPV negative counterparts. Younger, sexually active women generally have the highest prevalence of HPV infection and are at greatest risk of acquiring HPV (Burchell et al., 2006; Dunne et al., 2007; Kahn et al., 2007; Manhart et al., 2006). HPV prevalence has often been described as bimodal, with peaks among younger women and those 55 years or older (Herrero et al., 2000; Castle et al., 2005). Younger women are more likely to have a transformation zone remaining on the ectocervix and are at increased risk of developing premalignant lesions of the cervix due to direct exposure to carcinogenic agents (Autier et al., 1996). With increasing age, the transformation zone shifts upward into the endocervix, becoming less susceptible to carcinogenic agents (Autier et al., 1996) such as HPV. Additionally, younger women have a large area of cervical epithelium undergoing squamous metaplasia; and during this period the cervical cells are more vulnerable to HPV infection and persistence (Trottier et al., 2006; Moscicki et al., 1999; Louie et al., 2009; Moscicki et al., 2006; Castle et al., 2006).

HPV positive women were also more likely to have a partner with a higher mean age, and were less likely to be living with a regular partner than HPV negative women. Young women in African countries are known to engage in sexual relationships with older men for financial gain, sexual gratification and recognition from peers, which generally outweigh the concern of acquiring STIs and HIV infection (Longfield et al., 2004). In fact, young women in agedisparate relationships are reportedly more concerned about the risk of becoming pregnant, rather than acquiring STIs and HIV infection (Silberschmidt et al., 2001; Jones, 2006; Nkosana et al., 2007). This age disparate dynamic was further demonstrated in a recent study which showed that young women in KZN acquire HIV infection through sexual relations with older men, who in turn acquired the virus from women of similar age (de Oliveira et al., 2017). Additionally, women in casual relationships are more likely to acquire incident HPV infections. Sexual intercourse with a new partner or multiple partners has also been associated with increased risk of acquiring HPV infection, progression to pre-cancer lesions and invasive cervical cancer (Zitkute et al., 2016; Burk et al., 1996). Programmatic strategies that emphasize the importance of condom use, decreasing peer pressure to pursue such relationships, and improving women's access to alternative sources of income are key in averting age-disparate relationships among young African women (Longfield et al., 2004).

In this cohort of women, parity was also higher among HPV positive women compared to HPV negative women. High parity is known to increase the risk of squamous-cell carcinoma of the cervix among HPV positive women (Boyd *et al.*, 1964; Muñoz *et al.*, 2002; Jensen *et al.*, 2013; Almonte *et al.*, 2011). Although the exact mechanism by which parity influences the risk of cervical cancer is unclear, factors may include: poor nutrition, poorly managed parturition, hormones, the method of delivery and reduced immunity during pregnancy (Muñoz *et al.*, 2002; Autier *et al.*, 1996), all likely to impact the integrity of the genital epithelium, the portal for HPV entry (Stanley, 2012).

Taken together, the baseline epidemiologic findings observed in this study support established demographic, behavioural and clinical associations with HPV infection. Since none of these factors except STIs and nugent score were associated with genital inflammation status at baseline, only these were controlled for in multivariate analyses investigating the impact of HPV infection on biomarkers of inflammation.
In this study, concordant with reports of the inflammatory nature of STIs (Levine *et al.*, 1998; Fichorova *et al.*, 2001a; Reddy *et al.*, 2004; Anahtar *et al.*, 2015; Arnold *et al.*, 2016; Kaul *et al.*, 2008), having a discharge-associated STI alone was significantly associated with several genital cytokines, and genital inflammation status, compared to women uninfected by HPV or discharge-associated STI (HPV-STI- women). These data suggest that infection with these non-HPV pathogens may result in increased HIV risk, since the definition of inflammation used is associated with HIV seroconversion (Masson *et al.*, 2015). Genital inflammation, however, was not associated with prevalent HPV infection, the number of infecting types, or the oncogenic potential of the HPV. These findings were corroborated by other studies using a similar definition of genital inflammation (Kriek *et al.*, 2016; Shannon *et al.*, 2017). Although HPV infection is not associated with this definition of genital inflammation [which was originally generated in association with other discharge and ulcer-related STI (Masson *et al.*, 2014), HPV infection was indeed associated with a more subtle immune response, and further investigation to further characterise this response is warranted.

Prevalent HPV infection was significantly associated with increases in the chemokine SDF-1a at baseline, even after controlling for inflammatory STI and BV. SDF-1 α is involved in cell growth and apoptosis, and is associated with HPV infection (Jaafar et al., 2009) and invasion and metastasis of various cancer types (Feig et al., 2013; Teng et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2015). A recent study by Song *et al.* suggested that the relationship between SDF-1 α and cervical cancer may be mediated by SDF-1a-associated activation of the NF-kB pathway via interactions with its ligand, CXCR4 (Song et al., 2017). This pathway participates in the regulation of cell proliferation, apoptosis and angiogenesis in cervical cancer (Song et al., 2017). Elevated levels of this chemokine among HPV positive women may indicate increased risk of progression to cervical cancer if infection persists. Moreover, CXCR4 is a co-receptor for HIV-1, and the binding of SDF-1α to it inhibits viral entry (Maréchal et al., 1999). In addition to SDF-1 α inhibiting the entry of CXCR4-tropic HIV, it is known to increase the infectivity of the CCR5-tropic HIV-1 envelope (Maréchal et al., 1999). An understanding of whether the association observed between SDF-1 α and HPV infection contributes to protection from CXCR4-tropic HIV, or promotion of CCR5-tropic infectivity in HPV-infected women would require assessments outside the scope of this study e.g. the additional measurement of CXCR4⁺ T cell populations, a longitudinal analysis of HIV outcome, etc. However, the

association between SDF-1 α and HPV infection suggests a potential impact on HIV risk, as well as on progression to cervical cancer.

Prevalent HPV infection was not associated with genital inflammation, immune cell activation, or markers of epithelial barrier integrity. However, although not significant, a trend towards a relationship between prevalent HPV infection and reduced frequencies of CD4 cells was observed, implying that a compromised immune response may be associated with an increased risk HPV acquisition. While this investigation took place in an HIV negative population, this observation of reduced CD4 cells in HPV-infected women is broadly in keeping with numerous studies demonstrating that reduced CD4 count is associated with increased prevalence of HPV infection in HIV positive women (Ortiz et al., 2017; Piper et al., 1999; Denny et al., 2012; da Silva et al., 2015). Among HIV positive women, higher CD4 counts were shown to reduce the risk of persistent infection with HR-HPV types (Konopnicki et al., 2013b; Kang et al., 2012). Some studies even report that CD4 counts are a stronger predictor of HPV infections than HIV viral load (Denny et al., 2012; da Silva et al., 2015; Konopnicki et al., 2013b). Although prevalent HPV infection was not associated with the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines nor immune cell recruitment, further investigations were conducted to determine whether other features of HPV infection, also associated with HIV infection, had an impact on genital immunity.

This study examined the contribution of multiple concurrent HPV infections as the epidemiologic link between HPV infection and increased HIV risk. Although several studies have demonstrated that having multiple infections is associated with a significantly increased risk of HIV infection (Konopnicki *et al.*, 2013a; Averbach *et al.*, 2010), there was no association between infection with multiple HPV types and pro-inflammatory cytokines, immune cell recruitment or epithelial barrier disruption in this study. However, multiple concurrent infections were associated with reduced concentrations of the adaptive cytokine IL-5. IL-5, a Th2-affiliated cytokine, is generally associated with non-specific innate immunity to environmental allergens (Marks *et al.*, 2011b), and is known to regulate the expression of genes involved in the proliferation, maturation and effector functions of B cells and eosinophils. It is possible that this limited immune response among women with multiple infections may be a mechanism whereby HPV evades host immune responses. While we and others (Marks *et al.*, 2011b) observed a signature of elevated IL-5 concentrations in HPV infected women relative

to uninfected women, perhaps indicative of an immune response to current infection, it is interesting that having more than one HPV genotype detectable at the genital epithelium corresponds to reduced levels of this cytokine. This may allude to potential immune evasion strategies that are activated by HPV upon infection with multiple types in an effort to remain undetectable by the host immune responses. Having multiple concurrent HPV infection was not associated with an upregulated immune response at the genital tract as originally postulated. Although other studies corroborate these findings that infection with multiple HPV does not affect the concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines genital tract (Kriek *et al.*, 2016), it was however, associated with a reduction in the concentrations of the adaptive response cytokine IL-5. It is important to note that there are more than 120 HPV types in existence and only 37 types were assessed in this study. Therefore the number of concurrently infecting HPV types may be under-represented and other HPV types may also contribute to an immune response at the genital mucosa.

Since the number of infecting HPV types was not associated with markers of a traditional inflammatory response, it was further investigated whether the type of infecting HPV was associated with biomarkers of inflammation instead. Having a HR-HPV infection predicted significant increases in the chemokine MCP-1 and the adaptive cytokine IL-13. MCP-1 recruits monocytes, memory T cells and DCs to sites of infection (Carr et al., 1994; Xu et al., 1996) and is included in the definition of genital inflammation used here (Masson et al., 2015). MCP-1 has been linked to chronic inflammatory diseases (Baggiolini et al., 1994; Ransohoff et al., 1996), antitumor immunity (Huang et al., 1994; Rollins et al., 1991), atherosclerosis (Charo et al., 2004) and cervical cancer (Kleine-Lowinski et al., 1999; Kleine-Lowinski et al., 2003; Rösl et al., 1994). Several studies have shown that MCP-1 expression and infiltrating cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage were only detectable in premalignant precursor cells and absent in high-grade lesions of cervical cancer patients (Kleine-Lowinski et al., 1999; Riethdorf et al., 1996; Spinillo et al., 1993). Furthermore, HIV-infected women were found to have elevated concentrations of this chemokine compared to HIV negative women (Kriek et al., 2016), suggesting a potential link between increased concentrations of MCP-1 among women with HR-HPV infection and increased risk of HIV acquisition.

The role of IL-13 in genital inflammation and HIV acquisition is unclear. Older women with HR-HPV have been shown to have greater concentrations of IL-13, also a Th2-associated cytokine linked to non-specific innate immunity and response to environmental allergens (Marks *et al.*, 2011b). IL-13, which is responsible for the activation and control of eosinophils (Pope *et al.*, 2001; Rothenberg *et al.*, 1999; Zimmermann *et al.*, 2003), were elevated among women with HR-HPV (Marks *et al.*, 2011a). Eosinophils have been investigated as mediators of tumour immunity, and eosinophilia as a potential prognostic marker in oral cancers (Martinelli-Klay *et al.*, 2009). These data may indicate that increased concentrations of IL-13 are associated with a non-specific immune response toward HR-HPV infection, similar to the host immune response elicited toward environmental allergens.

Although not statistically significant, there was a trend toward increased concentrations of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-12p70; chemokines eotaxin, IL-8, IP-10 and MIG; the growth factor, VEGF; and the adaptive cytokine IL-2 among women with HR-HPV infection. Both IL-1ß and IL-12p70 are pro-inflammatory and elevated concentrations of these cytokines is associated with active STI infection (Masson et al., 2014). In support of these findings, a recent study found that HPV positive participants had upregulated genital concentrations of IP-10 and MIG (Shannon et al., 2017), both of which are IFN-y-induced, bind CXCR3 (Hsieh et al., 2006), and may indicate immune activation. Genital levels of both chemokines are reduced among women who remained HIV negative despite frequent HIV exposure (Lajoie et al., 2012). However, elevated levels of IL-8 and IP-10 are significantly associated with HIV seroconversion among South African women (Masson et al., 2015) and form part of the definition of inflammation used in this study. Although the exact mechanisms by which IP-10 and MIG enhance HIV susceptibility is unknown, Shannon et al. found both chemokines to be moderately correlated with increases in CCR5⁺CD4⁺ T cells (Shannon et al., 2017). It has been suggested that the innate immune response may be critical for HPV clearance (Daud et al., 2011; Scott et al., 2013). In keeping with this, treatment of HR-HPV infections with Imiquimod, a TLR-7 agonist, induces IFN-α, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-12, promotes migration of Langerhans cells and enhances antigen presentation, resulting in the clearance of infection (Stanley, 2002; Schon et al., 2004). Although, the cross-sectional design of this study prevents conclusions to be made regarding HPV clearance, there was a trend towards infection with oncogenic HPV and increased concentrations of IL-1, IL-8 and IL-12, all of which are associated with the clearance of HPV infection (Stanley, 2002; Schon et al., 2004). Moreover,

women with an oncogenic HPV infection were more inclined to have increased concentrations of the adaptive cytokine IL-2. Clearance of HPV infection is mediated by a robust CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocyte response which is characterized by elevated concentrations of IL-2 and IFN- γ (Stanley, 2006). Thus increased levels of IL-2 may be indicative of an attempt to clear HPV infection.

A trend towards increases in eotaxin was also observed among women with HR-HPV. Eotaxin is another Th2-induced chemokine that is primarily responsible for the recruitment and regulation of eosinophils and basophils (Marks *et al.*, 2011b), again suggesting that a non-specific innate immune response may be elicited toward infection with HR-HPV. Even though this study did not assess CIN nor progression to cervical cancer, the trend toward increased concentrations of VEGF among women HR-HPV infection may indicate progression to cervical cancer, since VEGF has been implicated as an early marker of cervical carcinogenesis (Branca *et al.*, 2006).

Although there were no significant associations between oncogenic HPV and markers of epithelial barrier integrity, women with HR-HPV had a trend toward increased concentrations of MMP-3. MMPs play a pivotal role in the degradation of the extracellular matrix and basement membrane and hence, may play a key role in cancer development (Stott-Miller *et al.*, 2011). MMP-3 concentrations are known to be upregulated in tumours and immunohistochemistry has revealed over-expression of MMP-3 in cancers compared to normal cervical epithelium (Rajkumar *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, HPV may facilitate HIV entry and dissemination through disruption of the epithelial barrier (Herfs *et al.*, 2011). However, this study was not designed to address this, and further investigation is warranted.

Additionally, this study demonstrated a significant association between HR-HPV and increased frequencies of lymphocytes. Increased lymphocyte frequencies among women with HR-HPV may indicate immune cell recruitment to the site of infection in an attempt to clear infection. Histological examination of regressing genital warts have shown a large infiltrate into the wart stroma and epithelium of T cells (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) and macrophages (Coleman *et al.*, 1994). The host immune response to HPV is mediated by T-lymphocytes, which are also primary target cells for HIV (Houlihan *et al.*, 2012; Stanley, 2001). Recruitment of HIV target cells (CD4⁺CCR5⁺) to the female genital tract to clear HPV infection may also provide an immune environment conducive to HIV acquisition. Although some of these associations were not

statistically significant, elevated levels of these cytokines, MMPs, and immune cell recruitment among women with HR-HPV may provide a possible mechanistic link between HR-HPV and a contribution toward genital inflammation which is associated with HIV acquisition.

Lastly, investigations were conducted to determine the contribution of HPV infection to genital inflammation in the context of other STI (C. trachomatis, T. vaginalis, M. genitalium and/or N. gonorrhoeae). STIs are a well-established contributor to genital inflammation and increased HIV risk (Levine et al., 1998; Fichorova et al., 2001a; Reddy et al., 2004; Anahtar et al., 2015; Arnold et al., 2016; Kaul et al., 2008). The immune responses that are elicited by the host in order to facilitate pathogen clearance and defend against reinfection also may render individuals more vulnerable to HIV infection (Laga et al., 1993; van de Wijgert et al., 2009; Van Der Pol et al., 2008; Mlisana et al., 2012; Masson et al., 2014; Taha et al., 1998). Infection by sexually transmitted pathogens have been shown to influence the persistence and progression or clearance on concurrent HPV infection (Castle et al., 2003). Multiple STIs were found to be risk factors for cervical cancer, suggesting that non-HPV STIs may act as HPV cofactors (Castle et al., 2003). Among women with HR-HPV infection, antibodies to C. trachomatis was associated with an increased risk of cervical cancer (Smith et al., 2002). A study by Silins et al. demonstrated that history of previous C. trachomatis infection was associated with the persistence of HPV infection (Silins et al., 2005). T. vaginalis has been associated with increased risk of squamous intraepithelial lesions, CIN based on biopsy results and HR-HPV infection (Verteramo et al., 2009; Watts et al., 2005; Noel et al., 2010; Yap et al., 1995). T. vaginalis infection produces microabrasions in the cervical epithelium, thereby facilitating HPV entry (Thurman et al., 2011). Moreover, Neisseria gonorrhoea and Mycoplasma genitalium have been linked to persistence of HR-HPV infection (de Abreu et al., 2016; Biernat-Sudolska et al., 2011).

In this study women with HPV only (HPV+STI-) had greater levels of IL-5, IL-6 and G-CSF compared to uninfected women. However, HPV-STI+ women had elevated levels of these and several other cytokines, MMP concentrations and greater immune cell recruitment compared to HPV-STI- women, indicative of the inflammatory nature of the discharge-associated STIs assessed. A study by *Fichorova et al.* showed that human endocervical, ectocervical and vaginal cell lines that were actively invaded by *N. gonorrhoeae* had elevated concentrations of IL-8 and IL-6 (Fichorova *et al.*, 2001a). Cervical secretions of Chlamydia positive women revealed upregulated recruitment of CD8 lymphocytes to the genital tract and increased

concentrations of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-10 and IL-12 (Reddy *et al.*, 2004), all of which have been broadly substantiated in this study. Moreover, persistent infection with *M. genitalium* has been associated with elevated concentrations of IL-8, MCP-1 and MIP-1 β (McGowin *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, discharge-related STIs were significantly associated with the definition of inflammation validating the findings of Masson *et al.* which additionally demonstrated that chlamydia and gonorrhoea were highly inflammatory relative to the other STIs measured (Masson *et al.*, 2014). Data from these studies are broadly in keeping with the findings here, which demonstrated distinct pro-inflammatory host responses associated with these discharged-related STIs. These immune response associated with STIs in this study, may be associated with increased risk of HIV infection.

On the contrary, women with HPV only also had reduced levels of multiple cytokines, MMPs and several immune cell subsets, (most notably activated CCR5⁺CD4 HIV target cells), relative to HPV+STI+ women. These data indicate that the inflammatory response associated with coinfection was driven by infection with the panel of discharge-associated agents assessed. Furthermore, women with an HPV/STI coinfection had lower concentrations of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 and anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-1RA compared to women with STI only, suggesting that the effect of concomitant HPV infection is a reduction of cytokine production. Anti-inflammatory cytokines function in the downregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in order to maintain homeostasis (Gérard *et al.*, 1993; Howard *et al.*, 1993), however, an excessive anti-inflammatory response may lead to immune suppression (Davidoff, 1996; Fisher *et al.*, 1996). A reduction of these cytokines in HPV+STI+ women may be attributed to the ability of HPV to evade host immune responses. Evasion of the host immunity has been considered vital for HPV to persist and cause HPV-related cancers (Senba *et al.*, 2012).

This study had several limitations, most notably, the cross-sectional design prevented the classification of HPV infections as persistent or transient. It is likely that different immune signatures may have been associated with the persistence or clearance of HPV infection, or even impending acquisition. Additionally, upon categorization of women according to multiple genotypes and oncogenicity, the sample size was considerably reduced and perhaps a larger cohort would demonstrate significant associations rather than several trends as seen in women with HR-HPV. The use of CVL specimens for the measurement of cytokine concentrations may be limiting since CVLs are diluted and may prevent measurement of cytokines present at

lower levels. Perhaps the use of Softcup specimens may be a more suitable method of measuring cytokine concentrations in genital specimens since these samples are concentrated. Several other factors that may have contributed to genital inflammation were not assessed in this study, including: age, oral contraceptive use, menstrual cycles, microbiome composition, HPV viral load, and the use of vaginal insertive products. It is important to note that tight junction proteins and other adhesion molecules may have been better measures of epithelial barrier integrity as a reduction in these would provide HPV with direct access to basal epithelial cells. Finally, disease outcomes such as progression to cervical cancer or HIV seroconversion were not measured in this study, therefore conclusive statements regarding HPV, STIs and disease cannot be made.

It was originally hypothesized that the immune responses associated with prevalent HPV, with having multiple concurrent HPV infections, with oncogenic HPV and an HPV/STI coinfection were associated with a genital immune response conducive to HIV acquisition. When investigating the compounding effect of co-infecting HPV and inflammatory STI on biomarkers of inflammation, several cytokines, MMPs and immune cell subsets were elevated among women with STI only (HPV-STI+) compared to uninfected women (HPV-STI-); suggesting, as expected, that the panel of discharge-associated STIs assessed in this study, are highly inflammatory and significantly associated with genital inflammation. Interestingly, in this analysis, HPV infection in the absence of other STI was associated with reductions in selected cytokine and MMP concentrations, and with reduced frequencies of immune cells relative to women with coinfection, indicative of a modulatory effect on the STI-associated immune response. In multivariate models controlling for STI and BV, HPV infection (not taking into account the number or type of infecting HPV) predicted increased concentrations of the chemokine SDF-1 α , but was not associated with markers of epithelial barrier integrity, or immune cell activation. Further investigations were conducted to determine whether multiple HPV infections, oncogenicity and coinfection with other STI had an impact on genital immunity. Having multiple HPV infections was associated with reduced concentrations of IL-5, but was not, however, significantly associated with MMP concentrations nor with T cell activation. Further, infection with HR-HPV was associated with increased concentrations of MCP-1 and IL-13, and was also significantly associated with greater frequencies of lymphocytes at the genital tract, but not with markers of epithelial barrier integrity. This study demonstrates a distinct immune response associated with HPV infection, and more specifically

oncogenic HPV strains, which may contribute to an environment conducive to HIV infection by virtue of its relationship with cytokines and the recruitment of immune cells. HPV infection is not associated with the traditional definition of genital inflammation and may be associated more with a Th-2 immune response. This study is one of few that investigated immune responses associated with the risk of acquiring HIV infection among HPV positive women in KZN, and one of the first to investigate the contribution of an HPV/STI coinfection on biomarkers of genital inflammation. The HPV prevalence among this population of women may have important public health implication related to the role-out of HPV vaccinations. Furthermore, these findings among women with HR-HPV infection, if validated, has potential to be used in future cancer control strategies.

8. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that while discharge-related STIs are highly inflammatory, a more subtle immune profile was associated with HPV infection, whether in terms of viral oncogenicity, having multiple HPV infections, and even on HPV/STI coinfection. In this study, HPV was unlike discharge-associated STIs in terms of the cytokine profile, the impact on epithelial barrier integrity, and immune activation, and implied a more modest associated immune response that did not overtly relate to an increased potential for HIV risk. However, the observed association between HR-HPV and the genital cytokine and immune cell profiles suggests the need for longitudinal investigation to conclusively assess whether genital inflammation associated with oncogenic persistent HPV infection does indeed translate to increased risk of HIV acquisition.

9. **REFERENCES**

- Acs. 2016. American Cancer Society: What are the risk factors for cervical cancer? [Online]. Available: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cervical-cancer/causes-risks-prevention/risk-factors.html [Accessed 14 August 2017].
- Adimora, A. A.; Ramirez, C.; Auerbach, J. D.; Aral, S. O.; Hodder, S.; Wingood, G.; El-Sadr, W. & Bukusi, E. A. 2013. Preventing HIV infection in women. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 63, S168-173.
- Alberico, S.; Facca, M. C.; Di Bonito, L.; Millo, R.; Casaccia, R. & Mandruzzato, G. P. 1988. Frequency of cervico-vaginal infections (Trichomonas vaginalis; Chlamydia trachomatis -CHL-; herpes simplex virus -HSV-; human papilloma virus -HPV-) in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology*, 9, 252-257.
- Almonte, M.; Ferreccio, C.; Gonzales, M.; Delgado, J. M.; Buckley, C. H.; Luciani, S.; Robles, S. C.; Winkler, J. L.; Tsu, V. D.; Jeronimo, J.; Cuzick, J. & Sasieni, P. 2011. Risk factors for high-risk human papillomavirus infection and cofactors for high-grade cervical disease in Peru. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer*, 21, 1654-1663.
- Anahtar, M. N.; Byrne, E. H.; Doherty, K. E.; Bowman, B. A.; Yamamoto, H. S.; Soumillon, M.; Padavattan, N.; Ismail, N.; Moodley, A.; Sabatini, M. E.; Ghebremichael, M. S.; Nusbaum, C.; Huttenhower, C.; Virgin, H. W.; Ndung'u, T.; Dong, K. L.; Walker, B. D.; Fichorova, R. N. & Kwon, D. S. 2015. Cervicovaginal bacteria are a major modulator of host inflammatory responses in the female genital tract. *Immunity*, 42, 965-976.
- Appleby, P.; Beral, V.; Berrington De Gonzalez, A.; Colin, D.; Franceschi, S.; Goodhill, A.; Green, J.; Peto, J.; Plummer, M. & Sweetland, S. 2007. Cervical cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data for 16,573 women with cervical cancer and 35,509 women without cervical cancer from 24 epidemiological studies. *Lancet*, 370, 1609-1621.
- Arany, I.; Goel, A. & Tyring, S. K. 1995. Interferon response depends on viral transcription in human papillomavirus-containing lesions. *Anticancer Research*, 15, 2865-2869.
- Arnold, K. B.; Burgener, A.; Birse, K.; Romas, L.; Dunphy, L. J.; Shahabi, K.; Abou, M.; Westmacott, G. R.; Mccorrister, S.; Kwatampora, J.; Nyanga, B.; Kimani, J.; Masson, L.; Liebenberg, L. J.; Abdool Karim, S. S.; Passmore, J. A.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; Kaul, R. & Mckinnon, L. R. 2016. Increased levels of inflammatory cytokines in the female reproductive tract are associated with altered expression of proteases, mucosal barrier proteins, and an influx of HIV-susceptible target cells. *Mucosal Immunol*, 9, 194-205.
- Aubin, F.; Martin, M.; Puzenat, E.; Magy-Bertrand, N.; Segondy, M.; Riethmuller, D. & Wendling, D. 2011. Genital human Papillomavirus infection in patients with autoimmune inflammatory diseases. *Joint Bone Spine*, 78, 460-465.
- Autier, P.; Coibion, M.; Huet, F. & Grivegnee, A. R. 1996. Transformation zone location and intraepithelial neoplasia of the cervix uteri. *British Journal of Cancer*, 74, 488-490.
- Auvert, B.; Marais, D.; Lissouba, P.; Zarca, K.; Ramjee, G. & Williamson, A. 2011. High-risk human papillomavirus is associated with HIV acquisition among South African female sex workers. *Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2011.
- Averbach, S. H.; Gravitt, P. E.; Nowak, R. G.; Celentano, D. D.; Dunbar, M. S.; Morrison, C. S.; Grimes, B. & Padian, N. S. 2010. The association between cervical HPV infection and HIV acquisition among women in Zimbabwe. *AIDS (London, England)*, 24, 1035.
- Baay, M. F.; Kjetland, E. F.; Ndhlovu, P. D.; Deschoolmeester, V.; Mduluza, T.; Gomo, E.; Friis, H.; Midzi, N.; Gwanzura, L.; Mason, P. R.; Vermorken, J. B. & Gundersen, S. G. 2004. Human papillomavirus in a rural community in Zimbabwe: the impact of HIV co-infection on HPV genotype distribution. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 73, 481-485.
- Baggiolini, M. & Dahinden, C. A. 1994. CC chemokines in allergic inflammation. *Immunology Today*, 15, 127-133.
- Banura, C.; Franceschi, S.; Doorn, L. J.; Arslan, A.; Wabwire-Mangen, F.; Mbidde, E. K.; Quint, W. & Weiderpass, E. 2008a. Infection with human papillomavirus and HIV among young women in Kampala, Uganda. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 197, 555-562.

- Banura, C.; Franceschi, S.; Van Doorn, L. J.; Arslan, A.; Kleter, B.; Wabwire-Mangen, F.; Mbidde, E. K.; Quint, W. & Weiderpass, E. 2008b. Prevalence, incidence and clearance of human papillomavirus infection among young primiparous pregnant women in Kampala, Uganda. *International Journal of Cancer*, 123, 2180-2187.
- Barton, S. E.; Maddox, P. H.; Jenkins, D.; Edwards, R.; Cuzick, J. & Singer, A. 1988. Effect of cigarette smoking on cervical epithelial immunity: a mechanism for neoplastic change? *The Lancet*, 2, 652-654.
- Baudu, A.; Pretet, J. L.; Riethmuller, D.; Chotard, M.; Mougin, C. & Mercier, M. 2014. Prevalence and risk factors of human papillomavirus infection types 16/18/45 in a cohort of French females aged 15-23 years. *Journal of Epidemiology Global Health*, 4, 35-43.
- Bauer, H. M.; Hildesheim, A.; Schiffman, M. H.; Glass, A. G.; Rush, B. B.; Scott, D. R.; Cadell, D. M.; Kurman, R. J. & Manos, M. M. 1993. Determinants of genital human papillomavirus infection in low-risk women in Portland, Oregon. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 20, 274-278.
- Behbakht, K.; Friedman, J.; Heimler, I.; Aroutcheva, A.; Simoes, J. & Faro, S. 2002. Role of the vaginal microbiological ecosystem and cytokine profile in the promotion of cervical dysplasia: a case–control study. *Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 10, 181-186.
- Belyakov, I. M. & Berzofsky, J. A. 2004. Immunobiology of mucosal HIV infection and the basis for development of a new generation of mucosal AIDS vaccines. *Immunity*, 20, 247-253.
- Bernard, H. U.; Burk, R. D.; Chen, Z.; Van Doorslaer, K.; Zur Hausen, H. & De Villiers, E. M. 2010. Classification of papillomaviruses (PVs) based on 189 PV types and proposal of taxonomic amendments. *Virology*, 401, 70-79.
- Biernat-Sudolska, M.; Szostek, S.; Rojek-Zakrzewska, D.; Klimek, M. & Kosz-Vnenchak, M. 2011. Concomitant infections with human papillomavirus and various mycoplasma and ureaplasma species in women with abnormal cervical cytology. *Advances on Medical Sciences*, 56, 299-303.
- Bodily, J. & Laimins, L. A. 2011. Persistence of human papillomavirus infection: keys to malignant progression. *Trends in Microbiology*, 19, 33-39.
- Boily, M. C.; Baggaley, R. F.; Wang, L.; Masse, B.; White, R. G.; Hayes, R. & Alary, M. 2009. Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 9, 118-29.
- Bosch, F. X.; Broker, T. R.; Forman, D.; Moscicki, A. B.; Gillison, M. L.; Doorbar, J.; Stern, P. L.;
 Stanley, M.; Arbyn, M.; Poljak, M.; Cuzick, J.; Castle, P. E.; Schiller, J. T.; Markowitz, L.
 E.; Fisher, W. A.; Canfell, K.; Denny, L. A.; Franco, E. L.; Steben, M.; Kane, M. A.;
 Schiffman, M.; Meijer, C. J.; Sankaranarayanan, R.; Castellsague, X.; Kim, J. J.; Brotons,
 M.; Alemany, L.; Albero, G.; Diaz, M. & De Sanjose, S. 2013. Comprehensive control of
 human papillomavirus infections and related diseases. *Vaccine*, 31 Supplementary 7, 1-31.
- Boyd, J. T. & Doll, R. 1964. A study of the aetiology of carcinoma of the cervix uteri. *British Journal* of Cancer, 18, 419-434.
- Branca, M.; Giorgi, C.; Santini, D.; Bonito, L. D.; Ciotti, M.; Benedetto, A.; Paba, P.; Costa, S.; Bonifacio, D.; Bonito, P. D.; Accardi, L.; Favalli, C. & Syrjänen, K. 2006. Aberrant expression of VEGF-C is related to grade of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) and high risk HPV, but does not predict virus clearance after treatment of CIN or prognosis of cervical cancer. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 59, 40-47.
- Bruni, L.; Diaz, M.; Castellsagué, M.; Ferrer, E.; Bosch, F. X. & De Sanjosé, S. 2010. Cervical human papillomavirus prevalence in 5 continents: meta-analysis of 1 million women with normal cytological findings. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 202, 1789-1799.
- Burchell, A. N.; Winer, R. L.; De Sanjose, S. & Franco, E. L. 2006. Chapter 6: Epidemiology and transmission dynamics of genital HPV infection. *Vaccine*, 24 Supplementary 3, 52-61.
- Burd, E. M. 2003. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 16, 1-17.
- Burk, R. D.; Ho, G. Y.; Beardsley, L.; Lempa, M.; Peters, M. & Bierman, R. 1996. Sexual behavior and partner characteristics are the predominant risk factors for genital human papillomavirus infection in young women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 174, 679-689.
- Bzhalava, D.; Eklund, C. & Dillner, J. 2015. International standardization and classification of human papillomavirus types. *Virology*, 476, 341-344.

- Campion, M. J.; Singer, A.; Clarkson, P. K. & Mccance, D. J. 1985. Increased risk of cervical neoplasia in consorts of men with penile condylomata acuminata. *Lancet*, 1, 943-946.
- Carias, A. M.; Mccoombe, S.; Mcraven, M.; Anderson, M.; Galloway, N.; Vandergrift, N.; Fought, A. J.; Lurain, J.; Duplantis, M.; Veazey, R. S. & Hope, T. J. 2013. Defining the interaction of HIV-1 with the mucosal barriers of the female reproductive tract. *Journal of Virology*, 87, 11388-11400.
- Carr, M. W.; Roth, S. J.; Luther, E.; Rose, S. S. & Springer, T. A. 1994. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, 91, 3652-3656.
- Castle, P. E. & Giuliano, A. R. 2003. Chapter 4: Genital tract infections, cervical inflammation, and antioxidant nutrients--assessing their roles as human papillomavirus cofactors. *Journal of National Cancer Institute Monographs*, 2003, 29-34.
- Castle, P. E.; Jeronimo, J.; Schiffman, M.; Herrero, R.; Rodriguez, A. C.; Bratti, M. C.; Hildesheim, A.; Wacholder, S.; Long, L. R.; Neve, L.; Pfeiffer, R. & Burk, R. D. 2006. Age-related changes of the cervix influence human papillomavirus type distribution. *Cancer Research*, 66, 1218-1224.
- Castle, P. E.; Schiffman, M.; Herrero, R.; Hildesheim, A.; Rodriguez, A. C.; Bratti, M. C.; Sherman, M. E.; Wacholder, S.; Tarone, R. & Burk, R. D. 2005. A prospective study of age trends in cervical human papillomavirus acquisition and persistence in Guanacaste, Costa Rica. *Journal* of Infectious Diseases, 191, 1808-1816.
- Cdc. 2017. *Centre for disease control and prevention: genital HPV infection fact sheet* [Online]. Available: www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv.htm [Accessed 7 June 2017].
- Charo, I. F. & Taubman, M. B. 2004. Chemokines in the pathogenesis of vascular disease. *Circulation Research*, 95, 858-866.
- Chen, Y.; Gou, X.; Kong, D. K.; Wang, X.; Wang, J.; Chen, Z.; Huang, C. & Zhou, J. 2015. EMMPRIN regulates tumor growth and metastasis by recruiting bone marrow-derived cells through paracrine signaling of SDF-1 and VEGF. *Oncotarget*, 6, 32575-32585.
- Chin-Hong, P. V.; Husnik, M.; Cranston, R. D.; Colfax, G.; Buchbinder, S.; Da Costa, M.; Darragh, T.; Jones, D.; Judson, F. & Koblin, B. 2009. Anal human papillomavirus infection is associated with HIV acquisition in men who have sex with men. *Aids*, 23, 1135-1142.
- Chow, L. T.; Broker, T. R. & Steinberg, B. M. 2010. The natural history of human papillomavirus infections of the mucosal epithelia. *Acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica*, 118, 422-449.
- Chumworathayi, B.; Thinkhamrop, J.; Blumenthal, P. D.; Thinkhamrop, B.; Pientong, C. & Ekalaksananan, T. 2010. Cryotherapy for HPV clearance in women with biopsy-confirmed cervical low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. *International Journal of Gynaecological Obstetrics*, 108, 119-122.
- Clarke, B. & Chetty, R. 2002. Postmodern cancer: the role of human immunodeficiency virus in uterine cervical cancer. *Molecular Pathology*, 55, 19-24.
- Coleman, N.; Birley, H. D.; Renton, A. M.; Hanna, N. F.; Ryait, B. K.; Byrne, M.; Taylor-Robinson, D. & Stanley, M. A. 1994. Immunological events in regressing genital warts. *American Journal* of Clinical Pathology, 102, 768-774.
- Cook, R. T. 1998. Alcohol abuse, alcoholism, and damage to the immune system--a review. *Alcohol Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22, 1927-1942.
- Da Silva Barros, N. K.; Costa, M. C.; Alves, R. R.; Villa, L. L.; Derchain, S. F.; Zeferino, L. C.; Dos Santos Carneiro, M. A. & Rabelo-Santos, S. H. 2012. Association of HPV infection and Chlamydia trachomatis seropositivity in cases of cervical neoplasia in Midwest Brazil. *Journal* of Medical Virology, 84, 1143-1150.
- Da Silva, L.; Miranda, A.; Batalha, R.; Ferreira, L.; Santos, M. & Talhari, S. 2015. High-risk human papillomavirus and cervical lesions among women living with HIV/AIDS in Brazilian Amazon, Brazil. *The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 19, 557-562.
- Daud, I.; Scott, M. E.; Ma, Y.; Shiboski, S.; Farhat, S. & Moscicki, A. B. 2011. Association between toll-like receptor expression and human papillomavirus type 16 persistence. *International Journal of Cancer*, 128, 879-886.

- David, M. P.; Van Herck, K.; Hardt, K.; Tibaldi, F.; Dubin, G.; Descamps, D. & Van Damme, P. 2009. Long-term persistence of anti-HPV-16 and -18 antibodies induced by vaccination with the AS04-adjuvanted cervical cancer vaccine: modeling of sustained antibody responses. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 115, 1-6.
- Davidoff, F. 1996. Everyone sang. Annals of Internal Medicine, 125, 690-691.
- De Abreu, A. L.; Malaguti, N.; Souza, R. P.; Uchimura, N. S.; Ferreira, E. C.; Pereira, M. W.; Carvalho, M. D.; Pelloso, S. M.; Bonini, M. G.; Gimenes, F. & Consolaro, M. E. 2016. Association of human papillomavirus, Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Chlamydia trachomatis coinfections on the risk of high-grade squamous intraepithelial cervical lesion. *American Journal* of Cancer Research, 6, 1371-1383.
- De Oliveira, T.; Kharsany, A. B. M.; Gräf, T.; Cawood, C.; Khanyile, D.; Grobler, A.; Puren, A.; Madurai, S.; Baxter, C.; Abdool Karim, Q. & Abdool Karim, S. S. 2017. Transmission networks and risk of HIV infection in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: a community-wide phylogenetic study. *The Lancet HIV*, 4, 41-50.
- De Sanjose, S.; Brotons, M. & Pavon, M. A. 2017. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 1-12.
- De Villiers, E. M.; Fauquet, C.; Broker, T. R.; Bernard, H. U. & Zur Hausen, H. 2004. Classification of papillomaviruses. *Virology*, 324, 17-27.
- Dempsey, A. F. 2008. Human Papillomavirus: The Usefulness of Risk Factors in Determining Who Should Get Vaccinated. *Reviews in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 1, 122-128.
- Deng, H.; Liu, R.; Ellmeier, W.; Choe, S.; Unutmaz, D.; Burkhart, M.; Di Marzio, P.; Marmon, S.; Sutton, R. E.; Hill, C. M.; Davis, C. B.; Peiper, S. C.; Schall, T. J.; Littman, D. R. & Landau, N. R. 1996. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. *Nature*, 381, 661-666.
- Denny, L.; Adewole, I.; Anorlu, R.; Dreyer, G.; Moodley, M.; Smith, T.; Snyman, L.; Wiredu, E.; Molijn, A.; Quint, W.; Ramakrishnan, G. & Schmidt, J. 2014. Human papillomavirus prevalence and type distribution in invasive cervical cancer in sub-Saharan Africa. *International Journal of Cancer*, 134, 1389-1398.
- Denny, L. A.; Franceschi, S.; De Sanjose, S.; Heard, I.; Moscicki, A. B. & Palefsky, J. 2012. Human papillomavirus, human immunodeficiency virus and immunosuppression. *Vaccine*, 30 Supplementary 5, 168-174.
- Diaz, L. E.; Montero, A.; Gonzalez-Gross, M.; Vallejo, A. I.; Romeo, J. & Marcos, A. 2002. Influence of alcohol consumption on immunological status: a review. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56 Supplementary 3, 50-53.
- Diaz, M. L. 2008. Human papilloma virus: prevention and treatment. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics* of North America, 35, 199-217.
- Didelot-Rousseau, M.; Nagot, N.; Costes-Martineau, V.; Vallès, X.; Ouedraogo, A.; Konate, I.; Weiss, H. A.; Van De Perre, P.; Mayaud, P. & Segondy, M. 2006. Human papillomavirus genotype distribution and cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions among high-risk women with and without HIV-1 infection in Burkina Faso. *British Journal of Cancer*, 95, 355-362.
- Donovan, B.; Franklin, N.; Guy, R.; Grulich, A. E.; Regan, D. G.; Ali, H.; Wand, H. & Fairley, C. K. 2011. Quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccination and trends in genital warts in Australia: analysis of national sentinel surveillance data. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 11, 39-44.
- Doorbar, J. 2005. The papillomavirus life cycle. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 32 Supplementary 1, 7-15.
- Doorbar, J. 2006. Molecular biology of human papillomavirus infection and cervical cancer. *Clinical Science (London)*, 110, 525-41.
- Doorbar, J. 2007. Papillomavirus life cycle organization and biomarker selection. *Disease Markers*, 23, 297-313.
- Doorbar, J.; Quint, W.; Banks, L.; Bravo, I. G.; Stoler, M.; Broker, T. R. & Stanley, M. A. 2012. The biology and life-cycle of human papillomaviruses. *Vaccine*, 30 Suppl 5, F55-70.
- Dunne, E. F.; Unger, E. R.; Sternberg, M.; Mcquillan, G.; Swan, D. C.; Patel, S. S. & Markowitz, L.
 E. 2007. Prevalence of HPV infection among females in the United States. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 297, 813-819.
- Dunne, F. J. 1989. Alcohol and the immune system. British Medical Journal, 298, 543-544.

- Ebrahim, S.; Mndende, X. K.; Kharsany, A. B. M.; Mbulawa, Z. Z. A.; Naranbhai, V.; Frohlich, J.; Werner, L.; Samsunder, N.; Karim, Q. A. & Williamson, A. 2016. High Burden of Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Infection among Young Women in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *PloS One*, 11.
- Egeblad, M. & Werb, Z. 2002. New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. *Nature Reviews: Cancer*, 2, 161-174.
- Eid, S. G.; Mangan, N. E.; Hertzog, P. J. & Mak, J. 2015. Blocking HIV-1 transmission in the female reproductive tract: from microbicide development to exploring local antiviral responses. *Clinical and Translational Immunology*, 4, 43.
- Fahey, J. V.; Schaefer, T. M.; Channon, J. Y. & Wira, C. R. 2005. Secretion of cytokines and chemokines by polarized human epithelial cells from the female reproductive tract. *Human Reproduction*, 20, 1439-1446.
- Fausch, S. C.; Da Silva, D. M.; Rudolf, M. P. & Kast, W. M. 2002. Human papillomavirus virus-like particles do not activate Langerhans cells: a possible immune escape mechanism used by human papillomaviruses. *Journal of Immunology*, 169, 3242-3249.
- Fausch, S. C.; Fahey, L. M.; Da Silva, D. M. & Kast, W. M. 2005. Human papillomavirus can escape immune recognition through Langerhans cell phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation. *Journal of Immunology*, 174, 7172-7178.
- Feig, C.; Jones, J. O.; Kraman, M.; Wells, R. J. B.; Deonarine, A.; Chan, D. S.; Connell, C. M.; Roberts, E. W.; Zhao, Q.; Caballero, O. L.; Teichmann, S. A.; Janowitz, T.; Jodrell, D. I.; Tuveson, D. A. & Fearon, D. T. 2013. Targeting CXCL12 from FAP-expressing carcinomaassociated fibroblasts synergizes with anti–PD-L1 immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110, 20212-20217.
- Feng, Y.; Broder, C. C.; Kennedy, P. E. & Berger, E. A. 1996. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. *Science*, 272, 872-877.
- Feng, Z.; Hu, W.; Hu, Y. & Tang, M. S. 2006. Acrolein is a major cigarette-related lung cancer agent: Preferential binding at p53 mutational hotspots and inhibition of DNA repair. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103, 15404-15409.
- Fernandes, J. V.; Araújo, J. M. G. & Fernandes, T. a. a. M. 2013. Biology and natural history of human papillomavirus infection. *Open Access Journal of Clinical Trials*, 5, 1-12.
- Fichorova, R. N. 2004. Guiding the vaginal microbicide trials with biomarkers of inflammation. *Journal* of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes 37 Supplementary 3, 184-193.
- Fichorova, R. N.; Bajpai, M.; Chandra, N.; Hsiu, J. G.; Spangler, M.; Ratnam, V. & Doncel, G. F. 2004. Interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and IL-8 predict mucosal toxicity of vaginal microbicidal contraceptives. *Biology of Reproduction*, 71, 761-769.
- Fichorova, R. N.; Desai, P. J.; Gibson, F. C. & Genco, C. A. 2001a. Distinct proinflammatory host responses to Neisseria gonorrhoeae infection in immortalized human cervical and vaginal epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 5840-5848.
- Fichorova, R. N.; Tucker, L. D. & Anderson, D. J. 2001b. The molecular basis of nonoxynol-9-induced vaginal inflammation and its possible relevance to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 184, 418-428.
- Finan, R. R.; Tamim, H. & Almawi, W. Y. 2002. Identification of Chlamydia trachomatis DNA in human papillomavirus (HPV) positive women with normal and abnormal cytology. *Archives Gynecology Obstetrics*, 266, 168-171.
- Finkelstein, E. I.; Nardini, M. & Van Der Vliet, A. 2001. Inhibition of neutrophil apoptosis by acrolein: a mechanism of tobacco-related lung disease? *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular* and Molecular Physiology, 281, 732-739.
- Fisher, C. J. J.; Agosti, J. M.; Opal, S. M.; Lowry, S. F.; Balk, R. A.; Sadoff, J. C.; Abraham, E.; Schein, R. M. & Benjamin, E. 1996. Treatment of septic shock with the tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein. The Soluble TNF Receptor Sepsis Study Group. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 334, 1697-1702.
- Ford, N.; Boulle, A. & Egger, M. 2016. Accounting for and responding to HIV-associated mortality. *Aids*, 30, 521-523.
- Fox, J. & Fidler, S. 2010. Sexual transmission of HIV-1. Antiviral Research, 85, 276-285.

- Franco, E. L.; Villa, L. L.; Sobrinho, J. P.; Prado, J. M.; Rousseau, M. C.; Desy, M. & Rohan, T. E. 1999. Epidemiology of acquisition and clearance of cervical human papillomavirus infection in women from a high-risk area for cervical cancer. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 180, 1415-1423.
- Frazer, I. H.; Leggatt, G. R. & Mattarollo, S. R. 2011. Prevention and treatment of papillomavirusrelated cancers through immunization. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 29, 111-138.
- Freeman, E. E.; Weiss, H. A.; Glynn, J. R.; Cross, P. L.; Whitworth, J. A. & Hayes, R. J. 2006. Herpes simplex virus 2 infection increases HIV acquisition in men and women: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *AIDS*, 20, 73-83.
- Garcia-Iglesias, T.; Del Toro-Arreola, A.; Albarran-Somoza, B.; Del Toro-Arreola, S.; Sanchez-Hernandez, P. E.; Ramirez-Duenas, M. G.; Balderas-Pena, L. M.; Bravo-Cuellar, A.; Ortiz-Lazareno, P. C. & Daneri-Navarro, A. 2009. Low NKp30, NKp46 and NKG2D expression and reduced cytotoxic activity on NK cells in cervical cancer and precursor lesions. *BMC Cancer*, 9, 186.
- Geng, Y.; Savage, S. M.; Razani-Boroujerdi, S. & Sopori, M. L. 1996. Effects of nicotine on the immune response. II. Chronic nicotine treatment induces T cell anergy. *Journal of Immunology*, 156, 2384-2390.
- Gérard, C.; Bruyns, C.; Marchant, A.; Abramowicz, D.; Vandenabeele, P.; Delvaux, A.; Fiers, W.; Goldman, M. & Velu, T. 1993. Interleukin 10 reduces the release of tumor necrosis factor and prevents lethality in experimental endotoxemia. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 177, 547-550.
- Giuliano, A. R.; Lazcano, E.; Villa, L. L.; Flores, R.; Salmeron, J.; Lee, J. H.; Papenfuss, M.; Abrahamsen, M.; Baggio, M. L.; Silva, R. & Quiterio, M. 2009. Circumcision and sexual behavior: factors independently associated with human papillomavirus detection among men in the HIM study. *International Journal of Cancer*, 124, 1251-1257.
- Giuliano, A. R.; Sedjo, R. L.; Roe, D. J.; Harri, R.; Baldwi, S.; Papenfuss, M. R.; Abrahamsen, M. & Inserra, P. 2002. Clearance of oncogenic human papillomavirus (HPV) infection: effect of smoking (United States). *Cancer Causes and Control*, 13, 839-846.
- Goedert, J. J.; Cote, T. R.; Virgo, P.; Scoppa, S. M.; Kingma, D. W.; Gail, M. H.; Jaffe, E. S. & Biggar, R. J. 1998. Spectrum of AIDS-associated malignant disorders. *Lancet*, 351, 1833-1839.
- Gonzalez, P.; Hildesheim, A.; Rodriguez, A. C.; Schiffman, M.; Porras, C.; Wacholder, S.; Pineres, A. G.; Pinto, L. A.; Burk, R. D. & Herrero, R. 2010. Behavioral/lifestyle and immunologic factors associated with HPV infection among women older than 45 years. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 19, 3044-3054.
- Grandvaux, N.; Tenoever, B. R.; Servant, M. J. & Hiscott, J. 2002. The interferon antiviral response: from viral invasion to evasion. *Current Opinions in Infectious Diseases*, 15, 259-267.
- Granich, R.; Gupta, S.; Hersh, B.; Williams, B.; Montaner, J.; Young, B. & Zuniga, J. M. 2015. Trends in AIDS Deaths, New Infections and ART Coverage in the Top 30 Countries with the Highest AIDS Mortality Burden; 1990-2013. *PLoS One*, 10, e0131353.
- Griesbeck, M.; Scully, E. & Altfeld, M. 2016. Sex and gender differences in HIV-1 infection. *Clinical Science (London)*, 130, 1435-1451.
- Guess, J. C. & Mccance, D. J. 2005. Decreased migration of Langerhans precursor-like cells in response to human keratinocytes expressing human papillomavirus type 16 E6/E7 is related to reduced macrophage inflammatory protein-3alpha production. *Journal of Virology*, 79, 14852-14862.
- Guslandi, M. 1999. Long-term effects of a single course of nicotine treatment in acute ulcerative colitis: remission maintenance in a 12-month follow-up study. *International Jorunal of Colorectal Diseases*, 14, 261-262.
- Haase, A. T. 2010. Targeting early infection to prevent HIV-1 mucosal transmission. *Nature*, 464, 217-223.
- Hacke, K., Rincon-Orozco, B., Buchwalter, G., Siehler, S. Y., Wasylyk, B., Wiesmuller, L., Rosl, F. 2010. Regulation of MCP-1 chemokine transcription by p53. *Molecular Cancer*, 9, 82.
- Harris, T. G.; Kulasingam, S. L.; Kiviat, N. B.; Mao, C.; Agoff, S. N.; Feng, Q. & Koutsky, L. A. 2004. Cigarette smoking, oncogenic human papillomavirus, Ki-67 antigen, and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *American Journal Epidemiology*, 159, 834-842.

- Harro, C. D.; Pang, Y. Y.; Roden, R. B.; Hildesheim, A.; Wang, Z.; Reynolds, M. J.; Mast, T. C.; Robinson, R.; Murphy, B. R.; Karron, R. A.; Dillner, J.; Schiller, J. T. & Lowy, D. R. 2001. Safety and immunogenicity trial in adult volunteers of a human papillomavirus 16 L1 viruslike particle vaccine. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 93, 284-292.
- Hathaway, J. K. 2012. HPV: diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 55, 671-680.
- Heard, I.; Tassie, J.-M.; Schmitz, V.; Mandelbrot, L.; Kazatchkine, M. D. & Orth, G. 2000. Increased risk of cervical disease among human immunodeficiency virus–infected women with severe immunosuppression and high human papillomavirus load. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 96, 403-409.
- Herfs, M.; Hubert, P.; Moutschen, M. & Delvenne, P. 2011. Mucosal junctions: open doors to HPV and HIV infections? *Trends in microbiology*, 19, 114-120.
- Herrero, R.; Hildesheim, A.; Bratti, C.; Sherman, M. E.; Hutchinson, M.; Morales, J.; Balmaceda, I.; Greenberg, M. D.; Alfaro, M.; Burk, R. D.; Wacholder, S.; Plummer, M. & Schiffman, M. 2000. Population-based study of human papillomavirus infection and cervical neoplasia in rural Costa Rica. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 92, 464-474.
- Hoffmann, M.; Lohrey, C.; Hunziker, A.; Kahn, T. & Schwarz, E. 2004. Human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 genotypes in head-and-neck carcinomas. *Oral Oncology*, 40, 520-524.
- Houlihan, C. F.; Larke, N. L.; Watson-Jones, D.; Smith-Mccune, K. K.; Shiboski, S.; Gravitt, P. E.; Smith, J. S.; Kuhn, L.; Wang, C. & Hayes, R. 2012. HPV infection and increased risk of HIV acquisition. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *AIDS (London, England)*, 26.
- Howard, M.; Muchamuel, T.; Andrade, S. & Menon, S. 1993. Interleukin 10 protects mice from lethal endotoxemia. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 177, 1205-1208.
- Hsieh, M.; Lai, S.; Chen, J.; Sung, J.; Lin, Y.; Wu-Hsieh, B. A.; Gerard, C.; Luster, A. & Liao, F. 2006. Both CXCR3 and CXCL10/IFN-Inducible Protein 10 Are Required for Resistance to Primary Infection by Dengue Virus. *The Journal of Immunology*, 177, 1855-1863.
- Huang, S.; Singh, R. K.; Xie, K.; Gutman, M.; Berry, K. K.; Bucana, C. D.; Fidler, I. J. & Bar-Eli, M. 1994. Expression of the JE/MCP-1 gene suppresses metastatic potential in murine colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 39, 231-8.
- Iarc 2015. Agents Classified by the IARC Monographs. *International Agency for Research on Cancer*, 1–112, 17-18.
- Jaafar, F.; Righi, E.; Lindstrom, V.; Linton, C.; Nohadani, M.; Van Noorden, S.; Lloyd, T.; Poznansky, J.; Stamp, G.; Dina, R.; Coleman, D. V. & Poznansky, M. C. 2009. Correlation of CXCL12 Expression and FoxP3(+) Cell Infiltration with Human Papillomavirus Infection and Clinicopathological Progression of Cervical Cancer. *American Journal of Pathology*, 175, 1525-1535.
- Jamieson, D. J.; Duerr, A.; Burk, R.; Klein, R. S.; Paramsothy, P.; Schuman, P.; Cu-Uvin, S. & Shah, K. 2002. Characterization of genital human papillomavirus infection in women who have or who are at risk of having HIV infection. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 186, 21-27.
- Jefferies, S. & Foulkes, W. D. 2001. Genetic mechanisms in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Oral Oncology*, 37, 115-126.
- Jensen, K. E.; Schmiedel, S.; Norrild, B.; Frederiksen, K.; Iftner, T. & Kjaer, S. K. 2013. Parity as a cofactor for high-grade cervical disease among women with persistent human papillomavirus infection: a 13-year follow-up. *British Journal of Cancer*, 108, 234-239.
- Jones, L. 2006. Sexual discourse and decision-making by urban youth in AIDS-afflicted Swaziland. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 5, 145-157.
- Kahn, J. A.; Lan, D. & Kahn, R. S. 2007. Sociodemographic factors associated with high-risk human papillomavirus infection. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 110, 87-95.
- Kalra, R.; Singh, S. P.; Savage, S. M.; Finch, G. L. & Sopori, M. L. 2000. Effects of cigarette smoke on immune response: chronic exposure to cigarette smoke impairs antigen-mediated signaling in T cells and depletes IP3-sensitive Ca(2+) stores. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 293, 166-171.

- Kang, M. & Cu-Uvin, S. 2012. Association of HIV viral load and CD4 cell count with human papillomavirus detection and clearance in HIV-infected women initiating highly active antiretroviral therapy. *HIV Medicine*, 13, 372-378.
- Kaul, R.; Pettengell, C.; Sheth, P. M.; Sunderji, S.; Biringer, A.; Macdonald, K.; Walmsley, S. & Rebbapragada, A. 2008. The genital tract immune milieu: an important determinant of HIV susceptibility and secondary transmission. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 77, 32-40.
- Khan, M. M. 2008. Chapter 2: Role of Cytokines. Immunopharmacology, 33-59.
- Kharsany, A. B. & Abdool Karim, Q. 2016. HIV Infection and AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa: Current Status, Challenges and Opportunities. *The Open AIDS Journal*, 10, 34-48.
- Kleine-Lowinski, K.; Gillitzer, R.; Kuhne-Heid, R. & Rösl, F. 1999. Monocyte-chemo-attractantprotein-1 (MCP-1)-gene expression in cervical intra-epithelial neoplasias and cervical carcinomas. *International Journal of Cancer*, 82, 6-11.
- Kleine-Lowinski, K.; Rheinwald, J. G.; Fichorova, R. N.; Anderson, D. J.; Basile, J.; Munger, K.; Daly, C. M.; Rösl, F. & Rollins, B. J. 2003. Selective suppression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression by human papillomavirus E6 and E7 oncoproteins in human cervical epithelial and epidermal cells. *International Journal of Cancer*, 107, 407-415.
- Kobayashi, A.; Greenblatt, R. M.; Anastos, K.; Minkoff, H.; Massad, L. S.; Young, M.; Levine, A. M.; Darragh, T. M.; Weinberg, V. & Smith-Mccune, K. K. 2004. Functional attributes of mucosal immunity in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and effects of HIV infection. *Cancer Research*, 64, 6766-6774.
- Konopnicki, D.; De Wit, S. & Clumeck, N. 2013a. HPV and HIV coinfection: a complex interaction resulting in epidemiological, clinical and therapeutic implications. *Future Virology*, 8, 903-915.
- Konopnicki, D.; Manigart, Y.; Gilles, C.; Barlow, P.; De Marchin, J.; Feoli, F.; Larsimont, D.; Delforge, M.; De Wit, S. & Clumeck, N. 2013b. Sustained viral suppression and higher CD4+ T-cell count reduces the risk of persistent cervical high-risk human papillomavirus infection in HIV-positive women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 207, 1723-1729.
- Koromilas, A. E.; Li, S. & Matlashewski, G. 2001. Control of interferon signaling in human papillomavirus infection. *Cytokine Growth Factor Reviews*, 12, 157-170.
- Koshiol, J. E.; Schroeder, J. C.; Jamieson, D. J.; Marshall, S. W.; Duerr, A.; Heilig, C. M.; Shah, K. V.; Klein, R. S.; Cu-Uvin, S.; Schuman, P.; Celentano, D. & Smith, J. S. 2006. Time to clearance of human papillomavirus infection by type and human immunodeficiency virus serostatus. *International Journal of Cancer*, 119, 1623-1629.
- Kreiss, J. K.; Coombs, R.; Plummer, F.; Holmes, K. K.; Nikora, B.; Cameron, W.; Ngugi, E.; Ndinya Achola, J. O. & Corey, L. 1989. Isolation of human immunodeficiency virus from genital ulcers in Nairobi prostitutes. *Journal Infectious Diseases*, 160, 380-384.
- Kriek, J.-M.; Jaumdally, S. Z.; Masson, L.; Little, F.; Mbulawa, Z.; Gumbi, P. P.; Barnabas, S. L.; Moodley, J.; Denny, L.; Coetzee, D.; Williamson, A.-L. & Passmore, J.-a. S. 2016. Female genital tract inflammation, HIV co-infection and persistent mucosal Human Papillomavirus (HPV) infections. *Virology*, 493, 247-254.
- Kumamoto, Y. & Iwasaki, A. 2012. Unique features of antiviral immune system of the vaginal mucosa. *Current Opinions in Immunology*, 24, 411-416.
- Lacey, C. J. 2005. Therapy for genital human papillomavirus-related disease. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 32 Supplementary 1, 82-90.
- Laga, M.; Manoka, A.; Kivuvu, M.; Malele, B.; Tuliza, M.; Nzila, N.; Goeman, J.; Behets, F.; Batter, V. & Alary, M. 1993. Non-ulcerative sexually transmitted diseases as risk factors for HIV-1 transmission in women: results from a cohort study. *Aids*, 7, 95-102.
- Lai, S. K.; Hida, K.; Shukair, S.; Wang, Y. Y.; Figueiredo, A.; Cone, R.; Hope, T. J. & Hanes, J. 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is trapped by acidic but not by neutralized human cervicovaginal mucus. *Journal of Virology*, 83, 11196-11200.
- Lajoie, J.; Juno, J.; Burgener, A.; Rahman, S.; Mogk, K.; Wachihi, C.; Mwanjewe, J.; Plummer, F. A.; Kimani, J.; Ball, T. B. & Fowke, K. R. 2012. A distinct cytokine and chemokine profile at the genital mucosa is associated with HIV-1 protection among HIV-exposed seronegative commercial sex workers. *Mucosal Immunology*, 5, 277-287.
- Le Bon, A. & Tough, D. F. 2002. Links between innate and adaptive immunity via type I interferon. *Current Opinions in Immunology*, 14, 432-436.

- Lee, S. J.; Cho, Y. S.; Cho, M. C.; Shim, J. H.; Lee, K. A.; Ko, K. K.; Choe, Y. K.; Park, S. N.; Hoshino, T.; Kim, S.; Dinarello, C. A. & Yoon, D. Y. 2001. Both E6 and E7 oncoproteins of human papillomavirus 16 inhibit IL-18-induced IFN-gamma production in human peripheral blood mononuclear and NK cells. *Journal of Immunology*, 167, 497-504.
- Leong, C. M.; Doorbar, J.; Nindl, I.; Yoon, H. S. & Hibma, M. H. 2010. Deregulation of E-cadherin by human papillomavirus is not confined to high-risk, cancer-causing types. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 163, 1253-1263.
- Levine, W. C.; Pope, V.; Bhoomkar, A.; Tambe, P.; Lewis, J. S.; Zaidi, A. A.; Farshy, C. E.; Mitchell, S. & Talkington, D. F. 1998. Increase in endocervical CD4 lymphocytes among women with nonulcerative sexually transmitted diseases. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 177, 167-174.
- Li, L. & Holian, A. 1998. Acrolein: a respiratory toxin that suppresses pulmonary host defense. *Reviews* of Environmental Health, 13, 99-108.
- Li, Q.; Estes, J. D.; Schlievert, P. M.; Duan, L.; Brosnahan, A. J.; Southern, P. J.; Reilly, C. S.; Peterson, M. L.; Schultz-Darken, N.; Brunner, K. G.; Nephew, K. R.; Pambuccian, S.; Lifson, J. D.; Carlis, J. V. & Haase, A. T. 2009. Glycerol monolaurate prevents mucosal SIV transmission. *Nature*, 458, 1034-1038.
- Lissouba, P.; Van De Perre, P. & Auvert, B. 2013. Association of genital human papillomavirus infection with HIV acquisition: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 89, 350-356.
- Longfield, K.; Glick, A.; Waithaka, M. & Berman, J. 2004. Relationships between older men and younger women: implications for STIs/HIV in Kenya. *Studies in Family Planning*, 35, 125-134.
- Losina, E.; Bassett, I. V.; Giddy, J.; Chetty, S.; Regan, S.; Walensky, R. P.; Ross, D.; Scott, C. A.; Uhler, L. M. & Katz, J. N. 2010. The "ART" of linkage: pre-treatment loss to care after HIV diagnosis at two PEPFAR sites in Durban, South Africa. *PloS one*, 5, e9538.
- Louie, K. S.; De Sanjose, S. & Mayaud, P. 2009. Epidemiology and prevention of human papillomavirus and cervical cancer in sub-Saharan Africa: a comprehensive review. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 14, 1287-1302.
- Low, A. J.; Clayton, T.; Konate, I.; Nagot, N.; Ouedraogo, A.; Huet, C.; Didelot-Rousseau, M.-N.; Segondy, M.; Perre, P. & Mayaud, P. 2011. Genital warts and infection with human immunodeficiency virus in high-risk women in Burkina Faso: a longitudinal study. *BMC infectious diseases*, 11, 1.
- Maglennon, G. A.; Mcintosh, P. B. & Doorbar, J. 2014. Immunosuppression facilitates the reactivation of latent papillomavirus infections. *Journal of Virology*, 88, 710-716.
- Mammas, I. N.; Sourvinos, G. & Spandidos, D. A. 2009. Human papilloma virus (HPV) infection in children and adolescents. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 168, 267-273.
- Manhart, L. E.; Holmes, K. K.; Koutsky, L. A.; Wood, T. R.; Kenney, D. L.; Feng, Q. & Kiviat, N. B. 2006. Human papillomavirus infection among sexually active young women in the United States: Implications for developing a vaccination strategy. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 33, 502-508.
- Mao, C.; Hughes, J. P.; Kiviat, N.; Kuypers, J.; Lee, S. K.; Adam, D. E. & Koutsky, L. A. 2003. Clinical findings among young women with genital human papillomavirus infection. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 188, 677-684.
- Marais, D. J.; Passmore, J. A.; Denny, L.; Sampson, C.; Allan, B. R. & Williamson, A. L. 2008. Cervical and oral human papillomavirus types in HIV-1 positive and negative women with cervical disease in South Africa. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 80, 953-959.
- Maréchal, V.; Arenzana-Seisdedos, F.; Heard, J. M. & Schwartz, O. 1999. Opposite Effects of SDF-1 on Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Replication. *Journal of Virology*, 73, 3608-3615.
- Marks, M.; Gravitt, P. E.; Gupta, S. B.; Liaw, K. L.; Tadesse, A.; Kim, E.; Phongnarisorn, C.; Wootipoom, V.; Yuenyao, P.; Vipupinyo, C.; Sriplienchan, S. & Celentano, D. D. 2011a. Combined Oral Contraceptive Use Increases HPV Persistence but Not New HPV Detection in a Cohort of Women From Thailand. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 204, 1505-1513.

- Marks, M. A.; Viscidi, R. P.; Chang, K.; Silver, M.; Burke, A.; Howard, R. & Gravitt, P. E. 2011b. Differences in the concentration and correlation of cervical immune markers among HPV positive and negative perimenopausal women. *Cytokine*, 56, 798-803.
- Martin, R.; Soberon, N.; Vazquez, F. & Suarez, J. E. 2008. Vaginal microbiota: composition, protective role, associated pathologies, and therapeutic perspectives. *Enfermedades Infecciosas Y Microbiologia Clinica*, 26, 160-167.
- Martinelli-Klay, C. P.; Mendis, B. R. & Lombardi, T. 2009. Eosinophils and oral squamous cell carcinoma: a short review. *Journal of Oncology*, 2009, 310132.
- Massad, L. S.; Evans, C. T.; Minkoff, H.; Watts, D. H.; Strickler, H. D.; Darragh, T.; Levine, A.; Anastos, K.; Moxley, M. & Passaro, D. J. 2004. Natural history of grade 1 cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in women with human immunodeficiency virus. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 104, 1077-1085.
- Masson, L.; Mlisana, K.; Little, F.; Werner, L.; Mkhize, N. N.; Ronacher, K.; Gamieldien, H.; Williamson, C.; Mckinnon, L. R.; Walzl, G.; Abdool Karim, Q.; Abdool Karim, S. S. & Passmore, J. A. 2014. Defining genital tract cytokine signatures of sexually transmitted infections and bacterial vaginosis in women at high risk of HIV infection: a cross-sectional study. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 90, 580-587.
- Masson, L.; Passmore, J. A.; Liebenberg, L. J.; Werner, L.; Baxter, C.; Arnold, K. B.; Williamson, C.; Little, F.; Mansoor, L. E.; Naranbhai, V.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; Ronacher, K.; Walzl, G.; Garrett, N. J.; Williams, B. L.; Couto-Rodriguez, M.; Hornig, M.; Lipkin, W. I.; Grobler, A.; Abdool Karim, Q. & Abdool Karim, S. S. 2015. Genital inflammation and the risk of HIV acquisition in women. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 61, 260-269.
- Mbulawa, Z. Z. A.; Coetzee, D. & Williamson, A.-L. 2015. Human papillomavirus prevalence in South African women and men according to age and human immunodeficiency virus status. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 15, 459.
- Mbulawa, Z. Z. A.; Marais, D. J.; Johnson, L. F.; Coetzee, D. & Williamson, A.-L. 2012. Impact of human immunodeficiency virus on the natural history of human papillomavirus genital infection in South African men and women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 206, 15-27.
- Mcdonald, A. C.; Tergas, A. I.; Kuhn, L.; Denny, L. & Wright, T. C. J. 2014. Distribution of Human Papillomavirus Genotypes among HIV-Positive and HIV-Negative Women in Cape Town, South Africa. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 4, 48.
- Mcgowin, C. L.; Annan, R. S.; Quayle, A. J.; Greene, S. J.; Ma, L.; Mancuso, M. M.; Adegboye, D. & Martin, D. H. 2012. Persistent Mycoplasma genitalium Infection of Human Endocervical Epithelial Cells Elicits Chronic Inflammatory Cytokine Secretion. *Infection and Immunity*, 80, 3842-3849.
- Mckinnon, L. R.; Nyanga, B.; Chege, D.; Izulla, P.; Kimani, M.; Huibner, S.; Gelmon, L.; Block, K. E.; Cicala, C.; Anzala, A. O.; Arthos, J.; Kimani, J. & Kaul, R. 2011. Characterization of a human cervical CD4+ T cell subset coexpressing multiple markers of HIV susceptibility. *Journal of Immunology*, 187, 6032-6042.
- Mehta, H.; Nazzal, K. & Sadikot, R. T. 2008. Cigarette smoking and innate immunity. *Inflammation Research*, 57, 497-503.
- Mhlongo, S.; Magooa, P.; Müller, E. E.; Nel, N.; Radebe, F.; Wasserman, E. & Lewis, D. A. 2010. Etiology and STI/HIV Coinfections Among Patients With Urethral and Vaginal Discharge Syndromes in South Africa. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 37, 566-570.
- Minkoff, H.; Feldman, J. G.; Strickler, H. D.; Watts, D. H.; Bacon, M. C.; Levine, A.; Palefsky, J. M.; Burk, R.; Cohen, M. H. & Anastos, K. 2004. Relationship between smoking and human papillomavirus infections in HIV-infected and -uninfected women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 189, 1821-1828.
- Mistry, N.; Wibom, C. & Evander, M. 2008. Cutaneous and mucosal human papillomaviruses differ in net surface charge, potential impact on tropism. *Virology Journal*, 5, 118.
- Mlisana, K.; Naicker, N.; Werner, L.; Roberts, L.; Van Loggerenberg, F.; Baxter, C.; Passmore, J. A.; Grobler, A. C.; Sturm, A. W.; Williamson, C.; Ronacher, K.; Walzl, G. & Abdool Karim, S. S. 2012. Symptomatic vaginal discharge is a poor predictor of sexually transmitted infections and genital tract inflammation in high-risk women in South Africa. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 206, 6-14.

- Molina, P. E.; Happel, K. I.; Zhang, P.; Kolls, J. K. & Nelson, S. 2010. Focus on: Alcohol and the immune system. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 33, 97-108.
- Moody, C. A. & Laimins, L. A. 2010. Human papillomavirus oncoproteins: pathways to transformation. *Nature Reviews in Cancer*, 10, 550-560.
- Moreno, V.; Bosch, F. X.; Munoz, N.; Meijer, C. J.; Shah, K. V.; Walboomers, J. M.; Herrero, R. & Franceschi, S. 2002. Effect of oral contraceptives on risk of cervical cancer in women with human papillomavirus infection: the IARC multicentric case-control study. *The Lancet*, 359, 1085-1092.
- Morshed, K.; Polz-Gruszka, D.; Szymanski, M. & Polz-Dacewicz, M. 2014. Human Papillomavirus (HPV) structure, epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Otolaryngologia Polska*, 68, 213-219.
- Moscicki, A. B.; Burt, V. G.; Kanowitz, S.; Darragh, T. & Shiboski, S. 1999. The significance of squamous metaplasia in the development of low grade squamous intraepithelial lesions in young women. *Cancer*, 85, 1139-1144.
- Moscicki, A. B.; Ellenberg, J. H.; Vermund, S. H.; Holland, C. A.; Darragh, T.; Crowley-Nowick, P. A.; Levin, L. & Wilson, C. M. 2000. Prevalence of and risks for cervical human papillomavirus infection and squamous intraepithelial lesions in adolescent girls: impact of infection with human immunodeficiency virus. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 154, 127-134.
- Moscicki, A. B.; Schiffman, M.; Kjaer, S. & Villa, L. L. 2006. Chapter 5: Updating the natural history of HPV and anogenital cancer. *Vaccine*, 24 Supplementary 3, S3/42-51.
- Mukonoweshuro, P.; Oriowolo, A. & Smith, M. 2005. Audit of the histological definition of cervical transformation zone. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 58, 671.
- Münger, K.; Baldwin, A.; Edwards, K. M.; Hayakawa, H.; Nguyen, C. L.; Owens, M.; Grace, M. & Huh, K. W. 2004. Mechanisms of Human Papillomavirus-Induced Oncogenesis. *Journal of Virology*, 78, 11451-11460.
- Muñoz, N.; Franceschi, S.; Bosetti, C.; Moreno, V.; Herrero, R.; Smith, J. S.; Shah, K. V.; Meijer, C. J. L. M. & Bosch, F. X. 2002. Role of parity and human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: the IARC multicentric case-control study. *The Lancet*, 359, 1093-1101.
- Naidoo, S.; Wand, H.; Abbai, N. S. & Ramjee, G. 2014. High prevalence and incidence of sexually transmitted infections among women living in Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, 11, 1.
- Nazli, A.; Chan, O.; Dobson-Belaire, W. N.; Ouellet, M.; Tremblay, M. J.; Gray-Owen, S. D.; Arsenault, A. L. & Kaushic, C. 2010. Exposure to HIV-1 directly impairs mucosal epithelial barrier integrity allowing microbial translocation. *PLoS Pathogens*, 6, e1000852.
- Nelson, S. & Kolls, J. K. 2002. Alcohol, host defence and society. *Nature Reviews in Immunology*, 2, 205-209.
- Ng'andwe, C.; Lowe, J. J.; Richards, P. J.; Hause, L.; Wood, C. & Angeletti, P. C. 2007. The distribution of sexually-transmitted Human Papillomaviruses in HIV positive and negative patients in Zambia, Africa. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 7, 77.
- Ngcapu, S.; Masson, L.; Sibeko, S.; Werner, L.; Mckinnon, L. R.; Mlisana, K.; Shey, M.; Samsunder, N.; Abdool Karim, S.; Abdool Karim, Q. & Passmore, J.-a. S. 2015. Lower concentrations of chemotactic cytokines and soluble innate factors in the lower female genital tract associated with use of injectable hormonal contraceptive. *Journal of Reproductive immunology*, 110, 14-21.
- Nicol, A. F.; Fernandes, A. T.; Grinsztejn, B.; Russomano, F.; E. Silva Jr; Tristao, A.; Perez Mde, A.; Nuovo, G. J.; Martinez-Maza, O. & Bonecini-Almeida Mda, G. 2005. Distribution of immune cell subsets and cytokine-producing cells in the uterine cervix of human papillomavirus (HPV)-infected women: influence of HIV-1 coinfection. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology*, 14, 39-47.
- Nielson, C. M.; Schiaffino, M. K.; Dunne, E. F.; Salemi, J. L. & Giuliano, A. R. 2009. Associations between male anogenital human papillomavirus infection and circumcision by anatomic site sampled and lifetime number of female sex partners. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 199, 7-13.
- Nkosana, J. & Rosenthal, D. 2007. The dynamics of intergenerational sexual relationships: the experience of schoolgirls in Botswana. *Sexual Health*, 4, 181-187.

- Noel, J. C.; Fayt, I.; Romero Munoz, M. R.; Simon, P. & Engohan-Aloghe, C. 2010. High prevalence of high-risk human papillomavirus infection among women with Trichomonas vaginalis infection on monolayer cytology. *Archives of Gynecological Obstetrics*, 282, 503-505.
- Norvell, M. K.; Benrubi, G. I. & Thompson, R. J. 1984. Investigation of microtrauma after sexual intercourse. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, 29, 269-271.
- O'sullivan, S.; Gilmer, J. F. & Medina, C. 2015. Matrix Metalloproteinases in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: An Update. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2015.
- Ortiz, A. P.; Tamayo, V.; Scorsone, A.; Soto-Salgado, M.; Febo, I.; Piovanetti, P.; Venegas-Ríos, H. L.; Yamamura, Y. & Zorrilla, C. 2017. Prevalence and correlates of cervical HPV infection in a clinic-based sample of HIV-positive Hispanic women. *Papillomavirus Research*, 4, 39-44.
- Osborn, L.; Kunkel, S. & Nabel, G. J. 1989. Tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1 stimulate the human immunodeficiency virus enhancer by activation of the nuclear factor kappa B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86, 2336-2340.
- Ozsaran, A. A.; Ates, T.; Dikmen, Y.; Zeytinoglu, A.; Terek, C.; Erhan, Y.; Ozacar, T. & Bilgic, A. 1999. Evaluation of the risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and human papilloma virus infection in renal transplant patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy. *European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology*, 20, 127-130.
- Palefsky, J. M.; Minkoff, H.; Kalish, L. A.; Levine, A.; Sacks, H. S.; Garcia, P.; Young, M.; Melnick, S.; Miotti, P. & Burk, R. 1999. Cervicovaginal human papillomavirus infection in human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV)-positive and high-risk HIV-negative women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 91, 226-236.
- Passmore, J.-a. S. & Williamson, A.-L. 2016. Host immune responses associated with clearance or persistence of Human Papillomavirus infections *Current Obstetrics and Gynecology Reports*, 5, 177-188.
- Patel, P.; Borkowf, C. B.; Brooks, J. T.; Lasry, A.; Lansky, A. & Mermin, J. 2014. Estimating peract HIV transmission risk: a systematic review. *Aids*, 28, 1509-1519.
- Paternoster, D. M.; Cester, M.; Resente, C.; Pascoli, I.; Nanhorngue, K.; Marchini, F.; Boccagni,
 P.; Cillo, U.; Ribaldone, R.; Amoruso, E.; Cocca, N.; Cuccolo, V.; Bertolino, M.; Surico,
 N. & Stratta, P. 2008. Human papilloma virus infection and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in transplanted patients. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 40, 1877-1880.
- Peters, E. J.; Morice, R.; Benner, S. E.; Lippman, S.; Lukeman, J.; Lee, J. S.; Ro, J. Y. & Hong, W. K. 1993. Squamous metaplasia of the bronchial mucosa and its relationship to smoking. *Chest*, 103, 1429-1432.
- Petrova, M. I.; Van Den Broek, M.; Balzarini, J.; Vanderleyden, J. & Lebeer, S. 2013. Vaginal microbiota and its role in HIV transmission and infection. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 37, 762-792.
- Piot, P.; Abdool Karim, S. S.; Hecht, R.; Legido-Quigley, H.; Buse, K.; Stover, J.; Resch, S.; Ryckman, T.; Mogedal, S.; Dybul, M.; Goosby, E.; Watts, C.; Kilonzo, N.; Mcmanus, J. & Sidibe, M. 2015. Defeating AIDS--advancing global health. *The Lancet*, 386, 171-218.
- Piper, M. A.; Severin, S. T.; Wiktor, S. Z.; Unger, E. R.; Ghys, P. D.; Miller, D. L.; Horowitz, I. R.; Greenberg, A. E.; Reeves, W. C. & Vernon, S. D. 1999. Association of human papillomavirus with HIV and CD4 cell count in women with high or low numbers of sex partners. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 75, 253-257.
- Pope, S. M.; Brandt, E. B.; Mishra, A.; Hogan, S. P.; Zimmermann, N.; Matthaei, K. I.; Foster, P. S. & Rothenberg, M. E. 2001. IL-13 induces eosinophil recruitment into the lung by an IL-5and eotaxin-dependent mechanism. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 108, 594-601.
- Poppe, W. A.; Ide, P. S.; Drijkoningen, M. P.; Lauweryns, J. M. & Van Assche, F. A. 1995. Tobacco smoking impairs the local immunosurveillance in the uterine cervix. An immunohistochemical study. *Gynecological and Obstetrics Investigation*, 39, 34-38.
- Rajkumar, T.; Sabitha, K.; Vijayalakshmi, N.; Shirley, S.; Bose, M. V.; Gopal, G. & Selvaluxmy, G. 2011. Identification and validation of genes involved in cervical tumourigenesis. *BMC Cancer*, 11, 80.
- Ramjee, G. & Daniels, B. 2013. Women and HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, 10, 30.

- Ramjee, G.; Williams, B.; Gouws, E.; Van Dyck, E.; De Deken, B. & Abdool Karim, S. 2005. The impact of incident and prevalent herpes simplex virus-2 infection on the incidence of HIV-1 infection among commercial sex workers in South Africa. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 39, 333-339.
- Ransohoff, R. M.; Glabinski, A. & Tani, M. 1996. Chemokines in immune-mediated inflammation of the central nervous system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Reviews*, 7, 35-46.
- Rasmussen, S. J.; Eckmann, L.; Quayle, A. J.; Shen, L.; Zhang, Y. X.; Anderson, D. J.; Fierer, J.; Stephens, R. S. & Kagnoff, M. F. 1997. Secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by epithelial cells in response to Chlamydia infection suggests a central role for epithelial cells in chlamydial pathogenesis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99, 77-87.
- Ravel, J.; Gajer, P.; Abdo, Z.; Schneider, G. M.; Koenig, S. S.; Mcculle, S. L.; Karlebach, S.; Gorle,
 R.; Russell, J.; Tacket, C. O.; Brotman, R. M.; Davis, C. C.; Ault, K.; Peralta, L. & Forney,
 L. J. 2011. Vaginal microbiome of reproductive-age women. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108 Supplentary 1, 4680-4687.
- Reddy, B. S.; Rastogi, S.; Das, B.; Salhan, S.; Verma, S. & Mittal, A. 2004. Cytokine expression pattern in the genital tract of Chlamydia trachomatis positive infertile women - implication for T-cell responses. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 137, 552-558.
- Reis Machado, J.; Da Silva, M. V.; Cavellani, C. L.; Dos Reis, M. A.; Monteiro, M. L.; Teixeira Vde, P. & Miranda Correa, R. R. 2014. Mucosal immunity in the female genital tract, HIV/AIDS. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 350195.
- Remy-Ziller, C.; Germain, C.; Spindler, A.; Hoffmann, C.; Silvestre, N.; Rooke, R.; Bonnefoy, J. Y. & Preville, X. 2014. Immunological characterization of a modified vaccinia virus Ankara vector expressing the human papillomavirus 16 E1 protein. *Clinical Vaccine Immunology*, 21, 147-155.
- Ribeiro, A. A.; Costa, M. C.; Alves, R. R.; Villa, L. L.; Saddi, V. A.; Carneiro, M. A.; Zeferino, L. C. & Rabelo-Santos, S. H. 2015. HPV infection and cervical neoplasia: associated risk factors. *Infectious Agents and Cancer*, 10, 16.
- Richardson, H.; Kelsall, G.; Tellier, P.; Voyer, H.; Abrahamowicz, M.; Ferenczy, A.; Coutlee, F. & Franco, E. L. 2003. The natural history of type-specific human papillomavirus infections in female university students. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 12, 485-490.
- Riethdorf, L.; Riethdorf, S.; Gutzlaff, K.; Prall, F. & Loning, T. 1996. Differential expression of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene in human papillomavirus-16-infected squamous intraepithelial lesions and squamous cell carcinomas of the cervix uteri. *American Journal of Pathology*, 149, 1469-1476.
- Rollins, B. J. & Sunday, M. E. 1991. Suppression of tumor formation in vivo by expression of the JE gene in malignant cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 11, 3125-3131.
- Rosa, M. I.; Medeiros, L. R.; Rosa, D. D.; Bozzeti, M. C.; Silva, F. R. & Silva, B. R. 2009. [Human papillomavirus and cervical neoplasia]. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública* 25, 953-964.
- Rositch, A. F.; Gravitt, P. E. & Smith, J. S. 2013. Growing evidence that HPV infection is associated with an increase in HIV acquisition: exploring the issue of HPV vaccination. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 89, 357.
- Rösl, F.; Lengert, M.; Albrecht, J.; Kleine, K.; Zawatzky, R.; Schraven, B. & Zur Hausen, H. 1994. Differential regulation of the JE gene encoding the monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP-1) in cervical carcinoma cells and derived hybrids. *Journal of Virology*, 68, 2142–2150.
- Rothenberg, M. E.; Zimmermann, N.; Mishra, A.; Brandt, E.; Birkenberger, L. A.; Hogan, S. P. & Foster, P. S. 1999. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: their role in allergic airway disease. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, 19, 250-265.
- Routes, J. M.; Morris, K.; Ellison, M. C. & Ryan, S. 2005. Macrophages kill human papillomavirus type 16 E6-expressing tumor cells by tumor necrosis factor alpha- and nitric oxide-dependent mechanisms. *Journal of Virology*, 79, 116-123.
- Rowhani-Rahbar, A.; Mao, C.; Hughes, J. P.; Alvarez, F. B.; Bryan, J. T.; Hawes, S. E.; Weiss, N. S. & Koutsky, L. A. 2009. Longer term efficacy of a prophylactic monovalent human papillomavirus type 16 vaccine. *Vaccine*, 27, 5612-5619.

- Safaeian, M.; Kiddugavu, M.; Gravitt, P. E.; Gange, S. J.; Ssekasanvu, J.; Murokora, D.; Sklar, M.; Serwadda, D.; Wawer, M. J.; Shah, K. V. & Gray, R. 2008. Determinants of incidence and clearance of high-risk human papillomavirus infections in rural Rakai, Uganda. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 17, 1300-1307.
- Sasagawa, T.; Takagi, H. & Makinoda, S. 2012. Immune responses against human papillomavirus (HPV) infection and evasion of host defense in cervical cancer. *Journal of Infection and Chemotheraphy*, 18, 807-815.
- Sattentau, Q. J.; Dalgleish, A. G.; Weiss, R. A. & Beverley, P. C. 1986. Epitopes of the CD4 antigen and HIV infection. *Science*, 234, 1120-1123.
- Savani, B. N.; Goodman, S. & Barrett, A. J. 2009. Can routine posttransplant HPV vaccination prevent commonly occurring epithelial cancers after allogeneic stem cell transplantation? *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15, 2219-2221.
- Savani, B. N.; Stratton, P.; Shenoy, A.; Kozanas, E.; Goodman, S. & Barrett, A. J. 2008. Increased risk of cervical dysplasia in long-term survivors of allogeneic stem cell transplantation-implications for screening and HPV vaccination. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, 14, 1072-1075.
- Schabath, M. B.; Thompson, Z. J.; Egan, K. M.; Torres, B. N.; Nguyen, A.; Papenfuss, M. R.; Abrahamsen, M. E. & Giuliano, A. R. 2015. Alcohol consumption and prevalence of human papillomavirus (HPV) infection among US men in the HPV in Men (HIM) study. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 91, 61-67.
- Schabath, M. B.; Villa, L. L.; Lazcano-Ponce, E.; Salmeron, J.; Quiterio, M. & Giuliano, A. R. 2012. Smoking and human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in the HPV in Men (HIM) study. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevalence*, 21, 102-110.
- Scheurer, M. E.; Tortolero-Luna, G. & Adler-Storthz, K. 2005. Human papillomavirus infection: biology, epidemiology, and prevention. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer*, 15, 727-746.
- Schiffman, M.; Doorbar, J.; Wentzensen, N.; De Sanjose, S.; Fakhry, C.; Monk, B. J.; Stanley, M. A. & Franceschi, S. 2016. Carcinogenic human papillomavirus infection. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 2, 16086.
- Schiffman, M.; Rodriguez, A. C.; Chen, Z.; Wacholder, S.; Herrero, R.; Hildesheim, A.; Desalle, R.; Befano, B.; Yu, K.; Safaeian, M.; Sherman, M. E.; Morales, J.; Guillen, D.; Alfaro, M.; Hutchinson, M.; Solomon, D.; Castle, P. E. & Burk, R. D. 2010. A population-based prospective study of carcinogenic human papillomavirus variant lineages, viral persistence, and cervical neoplasia. *Cancer Research*, 70, 3159-3169.
- Schon, M. P. & Schon, M. 2004. Immune modulation and apoptosis induction: two sides of the antitumoral activity of imiquimod. *Apoptosis*, 9, 291-298.
- Schwartz, J. L.; Mauck, C.; Lai, J. J.; Creinin, M. D.; Brache, V.; Ballagh, S. A.; Weiner, D. H.; Hillier, S. L.; Fichorova, R. N. & Callahan, M. 2006. Fourteen-day safety and acceptability study of 6% cellulose sulfate gel: a randomized double-blind Phase I safety study. *Contraception*, 74, 133-140.
- Scott, M. E.; Shvetsov, Y. B.; Thompson, P. J.; Hernandez, B. Y.; Zhu, X.; Wilkens, L. R.; Killeen, J.; Vo, D. D.; Moscicki, A. B. & Goodman, M. T. 2013. Cervical cytokines and clearance of incident human papillomavirus infection: Hawaii HPV cohort study. *International Journal of Cancer*, 133, 1187-1196.
- Sekhon, H. S.; Wright, J. L. & Churg, A. 1994. Cigarette smoke causes rapid cell proliferation in small airways and associated pulmonary arteries. *American Journal of Physiology*, 267, 557-563.
- Selhorst, P.; Masson, L.; Ismail, S. D.; Samsunder, N.; Garrett, N.; Mansoor, L. E.; Abdool Karim, Q.; Abdool Karim, S. S.; Passmore, J.-a. S. & Williamson, C. 2017. Cervicovaginal Inflammation Facilitates Acquisition of Less Infectious HIV Variants. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 64, 79-82.
- Sellors, J. W.; Karwalajtys, T. L.; Kaczorowski, J.; Mahony, J. B.; Lytwyn, A.; Chong, S.; Sparrow, J. & Lorincz, A. 2003. Incidence, clearance and predictors of human papillomavirus infection in women. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 168, 421-425.

- Sellors, J. W.; Mahony, J. B.; Kaczorowski, J.; Lytwyn, A.; Bangura, H.; Chong, S.; Lorincz, A.; Dalby, D. M.; Janjusevic, V. & Keller, J. L. 2000. Prevalence and predictors of human papillomavirus infection in women in Ontario, Canada. Survey of HPV in Ontario Women (SHOW) Group. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 163, 503-508.
- Senba, M. & Mori, N. 2012. Mechanisms of virus immune evasion lead to development from chronic inflammation to cancer formation associated with human papillomavirus infection. *Oncology Reviews*, 6, 17.
- Shannon, B.; Yi, T. J.; Perusini, S.; Gajer, P.; Ma, B.; Humphrys, M. S.; Thomas-Pavanel, J.; Chieza, L.; Janakiram, P.; Saunders, M.; Tharao, W.; Huibner, S.; Shahabi, K.; Ravel, J.; Rebbapragada, A. & Kaul, R. 2017. Association of HPV infection and clearance with cervicovaginal immunology and the vaginal microbiota. *Mucosal Immunology*, 10, 1310-1319.
- Shattock, R. J. & Moore, J. P. 2003. Inhibiting sexual transmission of HIV-1 infection. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 1, 25-34.
- Shisana, O.; Rehle, T.; Simbayi, L. C.; Zuma, K.; Jooste, S.; Zungu, N.; Labadarios, D. & Onoya, D. 2014. South African national HIV prevalence, incidence and behaviour survey, 2012.
- Silberschmidt, M. & Rasch, V. 2001. Adolescent girls, illegal abortions and "sugar-daddies" in Dar es Salaam: vulnerable victims and active social agents. *Social Science and Medicine*, 52, 1815-1826.
- Silins, I.; Ryd, W.; Strand, A.; Wadell, G.; Tornberg, S.; Hansson, B. G.; Wang, X.; Arnheim, L.; Dahl, V.; Bremell, D.; Persson, K.; Dillner, J. & Rylander, E. 2005. Chlamydia trachomatis infection and persistence of human papillomavirus. *International Journal of Cancer*, 116, 110-115.
- Simonetti, A. C.; Melo, J. H.; De Souza, P. R.; Bruneska, D. & De Lima Filho, J. L. 2009. Immunological's host profile for HPV and Chlamydia trachomatis, a cervical cancer cofactor. *Microbes and Infection*, 11, 435-442.
- Smith-Mccune, K. K.; Shiboski, S.; Chirenje, M. Z.; Magure, T.; Tuveson, J.; Ma, Y.; Da Costa, M.; Moscicki, A.-B.; Palefsky, J. M. & Makunike-Mutasa, R. 2010a. Type-specific cervicovaginal human papillomavirus infection increases risk of HIV acquisition independent of other sexually transmitted infections. *PLoS One*, 5, e10094.
- Smith-Mccune, K. K.; Shiboski, S.; Chirenje, M. Z.; Magure, T.; Tuveson, J.; Ma, Y.; Da Costa, M.; Moscicki, A. B.; Palefsky, J. M.; Makunike-Mutasa, R.; Chipato, T.; Van Der Straten, A. & Sawaya, G. F. 2010b. Type-specific cervico-vaginal human papillomavirus infection increases risk of HIV acquisition independent of other sexually transmitted infections. *PLoS One*, 5, e10094.
- Smith, J. L.; Campos, S. K. & Ozbun, M. A. 2007. Human papillomavirus type 31 uses a caveolin 1and dynamin 2-mediated entry pathway for infection of human keratinocytes. *Journal of Virology*, 81, 9922-9931.
- Smith, J. S., Melendy, A., Rana, R. K., Pimenta, J. M. 2008. Age-specific prevalence of infection with human papillomavirus in females: a global review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43, S5-25.
- Smith, J. S.; Munoz, N.; Herrero, R.; Eluf-Neto, J.; Ngelangel, C.; Franceschi, S.; Bosch, F. X.; Walboomers, J. M. & Peeling, R. W. 2002. Evidence for Chlamydia trachomatis as a human papillomavirus cofactor in the etiology of invasive cervical cancer in Brazil and the Philippines. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 185, 324-331.
- Smits, P. H. M.; Bakker, R.; Jong, E.; Mulder, J. W.; Meenhorst, P. L.; Kleter, B.; Van Doorn, L.-J. & Quint, W. G. V. 2005. High prevalence of human papillomavirus infections in urine samples from human immunodeficiency virus-infected men. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 43, 5936-5939.
- Song, Z.; Zhang, X.; Ye, X.; Feng, C.; Yang, G.; Lu, Y.; Lin, Y. & Dong, C. 2017. High Expression of Stromal Cell-Derived Factor 1 (SDF-1) and NF-κB Predicts Poor Prognosis in Cervical Cancer. *Medical Science Monitor*, 23, 151-157.
- Sopori, M. 2002. Effects of cigarette smoke on the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2, 372-377.
- Spinillo, A.; Tenti, P.; Zappatore, R.; De Seta, F.; Silini, E. & Guaschino, S. 1993. Langerhans' cell counts and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in women with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 48, 210-213.

Stanley, M. 2006. Immune responses to human papillomavirus. Vaccine, 24 Supplementary 1, S16-S22.

- Stanley, M. A. 2001. Immunobiology of papillomavirus infections. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 52, 45-59.
- Stanley, M. A. 2002. Imiquimod and the imidazoquinolones: mechanism of action and therapeutic potential. *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology*, 27, 571-577.
- Stanley, M. A. 2010. Pathology and epidemiology of HPV infection in females. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 117 Supplementary 2, S5–S10.
- Stanley, M. A. 2012. Epithelial Cell Responses to Infection with Human Papillomavirus. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 25, 216-222.
- Stott-Miller, M.; Houck, J. R.; Lohavanichbutr, P.; Mendéz, E.; Upton, M. P.; Futran, N. D.; Schwartz, S. M. & Chen, C. 2011. Tumor and salivary matrix metalloproteinase levels are strong diagnostic markers of oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers* and Prevention, 20, 2628-2636.
- Syrjänen, K.; Mäntyjärvi, R.; Väyrynen, M.; Castrén, O.; Yliskoski, M. & Saarikoski, S. 1985. Chlamydial cervicitis in women followed-up for human papillomavirus (hpv) lesions of the uterine cervix. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 64, 467-471.
- Syrjanen, K.; Shabalova, I.; Petrovichev, N.; Kozachenko, V.; Zakharova, T.; Pajanidi, J.; Podistov, J.; Chemeris, G.; Sozaeva, L.; Lipova, E.; Tsidaeva, I.; Ivanchenko, O.; Pshepurko, A.; Zakharenko, S.; Nerovjna, R.; Kljukina, L.; Erokhina, O.; Branovskaja, M.; Nikitina, M.; Grunberga, V.; Grunberg, A.; Juschenko, A.; Santopietro, R.; Cintorino, M.; Tosi, P. & Syrjanen, S. 2007. Smoking is an independent risk factor for oncogenic human papillomavirus (HPV) infections but not for high-grade CIN. *European Journal Epidemiology*, 22, 723-735.
- Szabo, G. 1997. Alcohol's contribution to compromised immunity. *Alcohol Health and Research World*, 21, 30-41.
- Taha, T. E.; Hoover, D. R.; Dallabetta, G. A.; Kumwenda, N. I.; Mtimavalye, L. A.; Yang, L. P.; Liomba, G. N.; Broadhead, R. L.; Chiphangwi, J. D. & Miotti, P. G. 1998. Bacterial vaginosis and disturbances of vaginal flora: association with increased acquisition of HIV. *Aids*, 12, 1699-1706.
- Teng, F.; Tian, W. Y.; Wang, Y. M.; Zhang, Y. F.; Guo, F.; Zhao, J.; Gao, C. & Xue, F. X. 2016. Cancer-associated fibroblasts promote the progression of endometrial cancer via the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology* 9, 8.
- Thurman, A. R. & Doncel, G. F. 2011. Innate immunity and inflammatory response to Trichomonas vaginalis and bacterial vaginosis: relationship to HIV acquisition. *Am J Reprod Immunol*, 65, 89-98.
- Toussaint-Smith, E.; Donner, D. B. & Roman, A. 2004. Expression of human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 oncoproteins in primary foreskin keratinocytes is sufficient to alter the expression of angiogenic factors. *Oncogene*, 23, 2988-2995.
- Trottier, H. & Franco, E. L. 2006. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer: burden of illness and basis for prevention. *The American Journal of Managed Care* 12, S462-472.
- Tyring, S. K.; Arany, I.; Stanley, M. A.; Tomai, M. A.; Miller, R. L.; Smith, M. H.; Mcdermott, D. J. & Slade, H. B. 1998. A randomized, controlled, molecular study of condylomata acuminata clearance during treatment with imiquimod. *Journal Infectious Diseases*, 178, 551-555.
- Unaids 2012. Every minute, a young woman is infected with HIV. Geneva, Switzerland: Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS.
- Unaids 2013. Global Report on the Global AIDS epidemic. Geneva, Switzerland: Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS.
- Unaids. 2016. *Global AIDS update* [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/global-aids-update-2016-pub/en/ [Accessed 10 November 2016].
- Unaids. 2017. 'Ending AIDS: Progress towards 90-90-90 targets' [Online]. Available: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2017/20170720_Global_AIDS_update_2017 [Accessed 3 November 2017].

- Vaccarella, S.; Herrero, R.; Snijders, P. J.; Dai, M.; Thomas, J. O.; Hieu, N. T.; Ferreccio, C.; Matos, E.; Posso, H.; De Sanjose, S.; Shin, H. R.; Sukvirach, S.; Lazcano-Ponce, E.; Munoz, N.; Meijer, C. J. & Franceschi, S. 2008. Smoking and human papillomavirus infection: pooled analysis of the International Agency for Research on Cancer HPV Prevalence Surveys. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 37, 536-546.
- Van De Wijgert, J. H. H. M.; Morrison, C. S.; Brown, J.; Kwok, C.; Van Der Pol, B.; Byamugisha, J. K.; Padian, N. & Salata, R. A. 2009. Disentangling contributions of reproductive tract infections to HIV acquisition in African Women. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 36, 357-364.
- Van Der Pol, B.; Kwok, C.; Pierre-Louis, B.; Rinaldi, A.; Salata, R. A.; Chen, P.-L.; Van De Wijgert, J.; Mmiro, F.; Mugerwa, R. & Chipato, T. 2008. Trichomonas vaginalis infection and human immunodeficiency virus acquisition in African women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 197, 548-554.
- Van Seters, M.; Van Beurden, M.; Ten Kate, F. J.; Beckmann, I.; Ewing, P. C.; Eijkemans, M. J.; Kagie, M. J.; Meijer, C. J.; Aaronson, N. K.; Kleinjan, A.; Heijmans-Antonissen, C.; Zijlstra, F. J.; Burger, M. P. & Helmerhorst, T. J. 2008. Treatment of vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia with topical imiquimod. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 358, 1465-1473.
- Veroux, M.; Corona, D.; Scalia, G.; Garozzo, V.; Gagliano, M.; Giuffrida, G.; Costanzo, C. M.; Giaquinta, A.; Palermo, I.; Zappala, D.; Tallarita, T.; Zerbo, D.; Russo, R.; Cappellani, A.; Franchina, C.; Scriffignano, V. & Veroux, P. 2009. Surveillance of human papilloma virus infection and cervical cancer in kidney transplant recipients: preliminary data. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 41, 1191-1194.
- Verteramo, R.; Pierangeli, A.; Mancini, E.; Calzolari, E.; Bucci, M.; Osborn, J.; Nicosia, R.; Chiarini, F.; Antonelli, G. & Degener, A. M. 2009. Human Papillomaviruses and genital coinfections in gynaecological outpatients. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 9, 16.
- Villa, L. L.; Costa, R. L.; Petta, C. A.; Andrade, R. P.; Paavonen, J.; Iversen, O. E.; Olsson, S. E.; Hoye, J.; Steinwall, M.; Riis-Johannessen, G.; Andersson-Ellstrom, A.; Elfgren, K.; Krogh, G.; Lehtinen, M.; Malm, C.; Tamms, G. M.; Giacoletti, K.; Lupinacci, L.; Railkar, R.; Taddeo, F. J.; Bryan, J.; Esser, M. T.; Sings, H. L.; Saah, A. J. & Barr, E. 2006. High sustained efficacy of a prophylactic quadrivalent human papillomavirus types 6/11/16/18 L1 virus-like particle vaccine through 5 years of follow-up. *British Journal of Cancer*, 95, 1459-1466.
- Vinodhini, K.; Shanmughapriya, S.; Das, B. C. & Natarajaseenivasan, K. 2012. Prevalence and risk factors of HPV infection among women from various provinces of the world. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics 285, 771-777.
- Wang, C.; Wright, T. C.; Denny, L. & Kuhn, L. 2011. Rapid rise in detection of human papillomavirus (HPV) infection soon after incident HIV infection among South African women. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 203, 479-486.
- Wang, H.; Wolock, T. M.; Carter, A.; Nguyen, G.; Kyu, H. H.; Gakidou, E.; Hay, S. I.; Mills, E. J.; Trickey, A.; Msemburi, W.; Coates, M. M.; Mooney, M. D.; Fraser, M. S.; Sligar, A.; Salomon, J.; Larson, H. J.; Friedman, J.; Abajobir, A. A.; Abate, K. H.; Abbas, K. M., *et al.* 2016. Estimates of global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and mortality of HIV, 1980-2015: the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet HIV*, 3, 361-387.
- Watts, D. H.; Fazarri, M.; Minkoff, H.; Hillier, S. L.; Sha, B.; Glesby, M.; Levine, A. M.; Burk, R.; Palefsky, J. M.; Moxley, M.; Ahdieh-Grant, L. & Strickler, H. D. 2005. Effects of Bacterial Vaginosis and Other Genital Infections on the Natural History of Human Papillomavirus Infection in HIV-1–Infected and High-Risk HIV-1–Uninfected Women. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 191, 1129-1139.
- Wawer, M. J.; Tobian, A. a. R.; Kigozi, G.; Kong, X.; Gravitt, P. E.; Serwadda, D.; Nalugoda, F.; Makumbi, F.; Ssempiija, V.; Sewankambo, N.; Watya, S.; Eaton, K. P.; Oliver, A. E.; Chen, M. Z.; Reynolds, S. J.; Quinn, T. C. & Gray, R. H. 2011. Effect of circumcision of HIV-negative men on transmission of human papillomavirus to HIV-negative women: a randomised trial in Rakai, Uganda. *The Lancet (London, England)*, 377, 209-218.
- Weaver, B. A.; Feng, Q.; Holmes, K. K.; Kiviat, N.; Lee, S. K.; Meyer, C.; Stern, M. & Koutsky, L. A. 2004. Evaluation of genital sites and sampling techniques for detection of human papillomavirus DNA in men. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 189, 677-685.

- Wilkinson, D.; Connolly, A.-M.; Harrison, A.; Lurie, M. & Abdool Karim, S. S. 1998. Sexually transmitted disease syndromes in rural South Africa: results from health facility surveillance. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 25, 20-23.
- Winer, R. L.; Lee, S. K.; Hughes, J. P.; Adam, D. E.; Kiviat, N. B. & Koutsky, L. A. 2003. Genital human papillomavirus infection: incidence and risk factors in a cohort of female university students. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 157, 218-226.
- Wira, C. R.; Rodriguez-Garcia, M. & Patel, M. V. 2015. The role of sex hormones in immune protection of the female reproductive tract. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15, 217-230.
- Wise-Draper, T. M. & Wells, S. I. 2008. Papillomavirus E6 and E7 proteins and their cellular targets. *Front Bioscience*, 13, 1003-17.
- Wright, J. L.; Jeng, A. Y. & Battistini, B. 2001. Effect of ECE and NEP inhibition on cigarette smokeinduced cell proliferation in the rat lung. *Inhalation Toxicology*, 13, 497-511.
- Wright, J. L.; Lawson, L. M.; Pare, P. D.; Wiggs, B. J.; Kennedy, S. & Hogg, J. C. 1983. Morphology of peripheral airways in current smokers and ex-smokers. *The American Review of Respiratory Diseases*, 127, 474-477.
- Xu, L. L.; Warren, M. K.; Rose, W. L.; Gong, W. & Wang, J. M. 1996. Human recombinant monocyte chemotactic protein and other C-C chemokines bind and induce directional migration of dendritic cells in vitro. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 60, 365-371.
- Yamada, R.; Sasagawa, T.; Kirumbi, L. W.; Kingoro, A.; Karanja, D. K.; Kiptoo, M.; Nakitare, G. W.; Ichimura, H. & Inoue, M. 2008. Human papillomavirus infection and cervical abnormalities in Nairobi, Kenya, an area with a high prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 80, 847-855.
- Yang, D. Y. & Bracken, K. 2016. Update on the new 9-valent vaccine for human papillomavirus prevention. *Canadian Family Physician*, 62, 399-402.
- Yap, E. H.; Ho, T. H.; Chan, Y. C.; Thong, T. W.; Ng, G. C.; Ho, L. C. & Singh, M. 1995. Serum antibodies to Trichomonas vaginalis in invasive cervical cancer patients. *Genitourinary Medicine*, 71, 402-404.
- Yudin, M. H.; Landers, D. V.; Meyn, L. & Hillier, S. L. 2003. Clinical and cervical cytokine response to treatment with oral or vaginal metronidazole for bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy: a randomized trial. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 102, 527-534.
- Zhang, J. M. & An, J. 2007. Cytokines, Inflammation and Pain. *International Anesthesiology Clinics*, 45, 27-37.
- Zhao, K. N.; Gu, W.; Fang, N. X.; Saunders, N. A. & Frazer, I. H. 2005. Gene codon composition determines differentiation-dependent expression of a viral capsid gene in keratinocytes in vitro and in vivo. *Molecualr and Cell Biology*, 25, 8643-8655.
- Zimmermann, N.; Hershey, G. K.; Foster, P. S. & Rothenberg, M. E. 2003. Chemokines in asthma: cooperative interaction between chemokines and IL-13. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 111, 227-242.
- Zitkute, V. & Bumbuliene, Z. 2016. Risk Factors Affecting HPV Infection, Persistence and Lesion Progression in Women and Men. *Clinical Research and Infectious Diseases* 3, 1026.
- Zur Hausen, H. 1977. Human papillomaviruses and their possible role in squamous cell carcinomas. *Currents Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 78, 1-30.

APPENDIX A



31 May 2016

Ms J Jewanraj (211502126) Discipline of Medical Microbiology School Of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences Health Sciences Janine.jewanraj@gmail.com

Dear Ms Jewanraj

Protocol: Multiple concurrent human papillomavirus infections, oncogenicity and co-infection as risk factors for human immunodeficiency virus infection. Degree: MMedSc

BREC reference number: BEZ48/16

The Biomedical Research Ethics Committee has considered and noted your application received on Q8 April 2016.

The conditions have been met and the study is given full ethics approval.

This approval is valid for one year from 31 May 2016. To ensure uninterrupted approval of this study beyond the approval expiry date, an application for recertification must be submitted to BREC on the appropriate BREC form 2-3 months before the expiry date.

Any amendments to this study, unless urgently required to ensure safety of participants, must be approved by BREC prior to implementation.

Your acceptance of this approval denotes your compliance with South African National Research Ethics Guidelines (2015), South African National Good Clinical Practice Guidelines (2006) (if applicable) and with UKZN BREC ethics requirements as contained in the UKZN BREC Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures, all available at <u>http://research.ukzn.ac.za/Research-Ethics.Bood</u>.

BREC is registered with the South African National Health Research Ethics Council (REC-290408-009), BREC has US Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) Federal-wide Assurance (FWA 678).

The sub-committee's decision will be **RATIFIED** by a full Committee at its meeting taking place on 12. July 2016.

We wish you well with this study. We would appreciate receiving copies of all publications arising out of this study.

Yours sincerely

Professor J Tsoka-Gwegweni Chair: Blomedical Research Ethics Committee

cc supervisor: <u>lening. (lebenbergovcapifsatovg</u> cc postgraduate officer: <u>tariam@ukantag.za</u>



Figure 1. BREC Approval Letter.

UNIVERSITY OF KWAZULU-NATAL INVLIVESI AKWAZULU-NATAL RESEARCH OFFICE BROWEDKAL RESEARCH ETHICS ADMINISTRATION Weddylic Comput Goven Mbekt Building Private Big X B4001 1000 KweZulu-Ratel, SOUTH ARE CA 1000 KWEZULU-RATEL 1000 KWEZULU

28 March 2017

Ms J Jewanraj (211502126) Discipline of Medical Microbiology School Of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences Health Sciences Janine, jewanraj@gmail.com

Dear Ms Jewanraj

Protocol: Multiple concurrent human papillomavirus infections, oncogenicity and coinfection as risk factors for human immunodeficiency virus infection, Degree: MMedSc. BREC reference number: BE248/16

RECERTIFICATION APPLICATION APPROVAL NOTICE

Approved: 31 May 2017 Expiration of Ethical Approval: 30 May 2018

I wish to advise you that your application for Recertification received on 20 March 2017 for the above protocol has been noted and approved by a sub-committee of the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (BREC) for another approval period. The start and end dates of this period are indicated above.

If any modifications or adverse events occur in the project before your next scheduled review, you must submit them to BREC for review. Except in emergency situations, no change to the protocol may be implemented until you have received written BREC approval for the change.

This approval will be ratified by a full Committee at its meeting taking place on 11 April 2017.

Yours sincerely

Mrs A Marimuthu Senior Administrator: Biomedical Research Ethics

Figure 2. BREC Recertification Approval Letter.

APPENDIX B

Table 1. Cy	tokine concent	rations among l	HPV- $(n =$	81) and HPV+	(n = 82) wome	n.	
	Unadjusted Adjusted						
Cytokine	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	
IL-1α	0,080	(-0,085-0,244)	0,341	0,064	(-0,091-0,219)	0,419	
IL-1β	-0,033	(-0,276-0,209)	0,787	-0,060	(-0,287-0,166)	0,599	
IL-6	0,055	(-0,113-0,223)	0,520	0,049	(-0,118-0,216)	0,563	
IL-12P40	0,062	(-0,131-0,254)	0,527	0,063	(-0,128-0,254)	0,518	
IL-12P70	0,075	(-0,041-0,190)	0,204	0,074	(-0,042-0,189)	0,208	
IL-18	0,031	(-0,153-0,214)	0,742	0,026	(-0,156-0,209)	0,775	
MIF	0,037	(-0,162-0,236)	0,714	0,033	(-0,167-0,233)	0,745	
ΤΝΓ-α	0,013	(-0,121-0,146)	0,852	0,002	(-0,127-0,131)	0,974	
TNF-β	0,022	(-0,084-0,128)	0,679	0,025	(-0,078-0,129)	0,631	
TRAIL	0,076	(-0,110-0,262)	0,420	0,073	(-0,106-0,252)	0,422	
CTACK	0,034	(-0,097-0,166)	0,606	0,032	(-0,096-0,160)	0,623	
EOTAXIN	0,171	(-0,084-0,427)	0,187	0,157	(-0,096-0,410)	0,223	
GRO-a	0,135	(-0,142-0,412)	0,337	0,156	(-0,114-0,425)	0,256	
IL-8	0,021	(-0,178-0,220)	0,837	0,017	(-0,181-0,215)	0,865	
IL-16	0,082	(-0,089-0,252)	0,346	0,077	(-0,093-0,247)	0,371	
IP-10	0,136	(-0,145-0,416)	0,341	0,171	(-0,082-0,424)	0,183	
MCP-1	0,000	(-0,086-0,085)	0,992	0,002	(-0,084-0,087)	0,972	
MCP-3	0,021	(-0,153-0,196)	0,812	0,022	(-0,151-0,195)	0,805	
MIG	0,139	(-0,099-0,377)	0,251	0,153	(-0,069-0,376)	0,176	
MIP-1α	0,081	(-0,104-0,266)	0,391	0,069	(-0,112-0,249)	0,453	
MIP-1β	0,087	(-0,091-0,265)	0,338	0,086	(-0,090-0,262)	0,336	
RANTES	0,187	(-0,030-0,403)	0,090	0,174	(-0,037-0,386)	0,105	
IFN-α2	0,041	(-0,042-0,123)	0,331	0,040	(-0,040-0,120)	0,325	
SDF-1a	0,142	(0,001-0,284)	0,049 <mark>*</mark>	0,148	(0,010-0,287)	0,036 <mark>*</mark>	
β-NGF	0,124	(-0,154-0,402)	0,380	0,125	(-0,147-0,397)	0,366	
FGF BASIC	-0,002	(-0,046-0,043)	0,944	-0,005	(-0,048-0,038)	0,813	
G-CSF	0,143	(-0,071-0,357)	0,188	0,145	(-0,068-0,359)	0,180	
GM-CSF	-0,007	(-0,034-0,021)	0,632	-0,006	(-0,033-0,021)	0,670	
HGF	0,050	(-0,131-0,231)	0,587	0,037	(-0,137-0,212)	0,672	
IL-3	0,051	(-0,057-0,160)	0,351	0,051	(-0,056-0,158)	0,347	
IL-7	0,099	(-0,020-0,218)	0,103	0,091	(-0,027-0,208)	0,128	
IL-9	0,045	(-0,038-0,128)	0,282	0,040	(-0,041-0,120)	0,332	
LIF	0,037	(-0,070-0,144)	0,500	0,029	(-0,074-0,133)	0,577	
M-CSF	0,067	(-0,047-0,182)	0,245	0,058	(-0,053-0,170)	0,300	
PDGF-BB	0,087	(-0,017-0,190)	0,101	0,077	(-0,023-0,177)	0,130	
SCF	0,148	(-0,039-0,335)	0,120	0,155	(-0,024-0,333)	0,089	
SCGF-β	0,169	(-0,040-0,378)	0,112	0,169	(-0,038-0,375)	0,109	
VEGF	0,081	(-0,068-0,229)	0,284	0,078	(-0,069-0,225)	0,298	
IFN-γ	0,019	(-0,086-0,124)	0,725	0,009	(-0,092-0,111)	0,855	
IL-2	-0,048	(-0,291-0,196)	0,700	-0,055	(-0,298-0,188)	0,656	
IL-4	0,036	(-0,046-0,118)	0,383	0,029	(-0,050-0,108)	0,473	
IL-5	0,193	(-0,032-0,419)	0,092	0,169	(-0,045-0,384)	0,122	
IL-13	0,033	(-0,056-0,121)	0,466	0,027	(-0,060-0,115)	0,536	
IL-15	0,145	(-0,142-0,433)	0,320	0,136	(-0,153-0,425)	0,354	
IL-17	0,045	(-0,056-0,145)	0,381	0,041	(-0,057-0,139)	0,411	
IL-2rα	-0,025	(-0,124-0,074)	0,623	-0,029	(-0,124-0,067)	0,553	
IL-1ra	0,028	(-0,061-0,116)	0,537	0,032	(-0,056-0,120)	0,472	
IL-10	0,044	(-0,022-0,110)	0,193	0,044	(-0,022-0,110)	0,192	

Association between prevalent HPV and soluble protein biomarkers of inflammation

P-values were determined using linear regression models. *P*<0.05 indicated by (*) and trending *p*-values in **bold**. Cytokine/Chemokine functions: Pro-inflammatory, Chemokines, Growth Factors, Adaptive response, Anti-inflammatory.

Table 2. MMP concentrations among HPV- $(n = 81)$ and HPV+ $(n = 82)$ women.									
		Unadjusted			Adjusted				
Protein	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value			
MMP-1	-0,099	(-0,377-0,179)	0,483	-0,110	(-0,387-0,167)	0,434			
MMP-2	0,017	(-0,321-0,354)	0,922	-0,002	(-0,331-0,328)	0,434			
MMP-3	0,029	(-0,168-0,226)	0,769	0,018	(-0,175-0,210)	0,857			
MMP-7	0,161	(-0,116-0,438)	0,253	0,172	(-0,104-0,448)	0,221			
MMP-8	0,019	(-0,771-0,808)	0,962	0,023	(-0,767-0,813)	0,955			
MMP-9	-0,341	(-0,764-0,082)	0,114	-0,357	(-0,772-0,059)	0,092			
MMP-10	0,018	(-0,265-0,300)	0,901	0,004	(-0,277-0,285)	0,977			
MMP-12	-0,057	(-0,325-0,210)	0,674	-0,067	(-0,329-0,195)	0,615			
MMP-13	-0,011	(-0,289-0,266)	0,937	-0,028	(-0,299-0,243)	0,838			
P-values wer	e determined using	linear regression mo	dels. Trending	values indicated in	bold.				

|--|

	Unadjusted				Adjusted			
Cell Type	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value		
LYMPHOCYTES	-0,559	(-2,140-1,021)	0,486	-0,479	(-2,067-1,108)	0,552		
CD3	-0,819	(-5,771-4,132)	0,744	-0,692	(-5,701-4,318)	0,785		
CD3CD38DR+CCR5+	1,999	(-2,286-6,283)	0,358	2,235	(-2,028-6,498)	0,302		
CD3CCR5+CD38+	0,979	(-5,206-7,165)	0,755	1,367	(-4,790-7,525)	0,662		
CD3CCR5+DR+	3,249	(-3,587-10,085)	0,349	3,688	(-3,061-10,437)	0,282		
CD3CCR5+KI67+	3,393	(-3,604-10,390)	0,340	3,608	(-3,417-10,632)	0,312		
CD3CD38+DR+	2,066	(-3,277-7,408)	0,446	2,426	(-2,853-7,706)	0,365		
CD3CCR5+	-0,283	(-8,567-8,002)	0,946	0,295	(-7,938-8,528)	0,944		
CD3CD38+	0,228	(-7,769-8,225)	0,955	0,790	(-7,109-8,689)	0,844		
CD3HLA-DR	2,860	(-4,920-10,639)	0,469	3,516	(-4,144-11,175)	0,366		
CD3KI67	2,939	(-5,332-11,210)	0,484	3,191	(-5,145-11,527)	0,451		
CD3 -	-2,286	(-9,404-4,831)	0,527	-2,161	(-9,370-5,048)	0,555		
NK Cells ²	0,067	(-4,472-4,606)	0,977	0,218	(-4,424-4,859)	0,926		
CD3 Activation ¹	-0,924	(-8,772-6,924)	0,816	-0,105	(-7,747-7,538)	0,978		
CD4	-5,858	(-12,251-0,535)	0,072	-6,315	(-12,728-0,098)	0,054		
CD4CD38DR+CCR5+	0,273	(-3,324-3,870)	0,881	0,463	(-3,140-4,065)	0,800		
CD4CCR5+CD38+	0,955	(-5,552-7,462)	0,772	1,463	(-4,982-7,908)	0,655		
CD4CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	-0,389	(-6,881-6,103)	0,906	-0,206	(-6,760-6,348)	0,951		
CD4CCR5 ⁺ KI67 ⁺	1,383	(-5,638-8,405)	0,698	1,556	(-5,540-8,652)	0,666		
CD4CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	-0,520	(-4,778-3,738)	0,810	-0,246	(-4,515-4,024)	0,910		
CD4CCR5	-1,393	(-10,376-7,590)	0,760	-0,871	(-9,878-8,135)	0,849		
CD4CD38	-1,495	(-9,675-6,684)	0,719	-0,923	(-9,039-7,193)	0,823		
CD4HLA-DR	-0,837	(-7,923-6,249)	0,816	-0,547	(-7,711-6,618)	0,880		
CD4KI67	0,514	(-7,978-9,007)	0,905	0,601	(-8,006-9,209)	0,890		
CD4 Activation ¹	-3,120	(-11,541-5,301)	0,465	-2,539	(-10,966-5,887)	0,553		
CD8	-1,271	(-6,601-4,059)	0,638	-1,106	(-6,488-4,275)	0,685		
CD8CD38DR+CCR5+	3,035	(-1,387-7,457)	0,177	3,194	(-1,157-7,546)	0,149		
CD8CCR5 ⁺ CD38 ⁺	2,805	(-2,900-8,511)	0,333	3,145	(-2,506-8,795)	0,273		
CD8CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	3,340	(-3,470-10,149)	0,334	3,676	(-3,121-10,473)	0,287		
CD8CCR5 ⁺ KI67 ⁺	3,661	(-3,457-10,779)	0,311	3,722	(-3,463-10,907)	0,308		
CD8CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	4,023	(-2,478-10,524)	0,223	4,493	(-1,794-10,780)	0,160		
CD8CCR5	0,857	(-7,291-9,006)	0,836	1,267	(-6,915-9,449)	0,760		
CD8CD38	2,951	(-5,593-11,495)	0,496	3,642	(-4,742-12,025)	0,392		
CD8HLA-DR	2,519	(-6,778-11,817)	0,593	3,343	(-5,747-12,433)	0,469		
CD8KI67	1,089	(-8,781-10,960)	0,828	1,219	(-8,746-11,185)	0,809		
CD8 Activation ¹	-0,416	(-9,523-8,691)	0,928	0,532	(-8,382-9,446)	0,906		

P-values were determined using linear regression models. Trending *p*- values in **bold**. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers.

APPENDIX C

Association between multiple co	oncurrent HPV	' infections a	and soluble p	protein bio	markers of
inflammation					

Table 4. Cyt	ble 4. Cytokine concentrations among women 1 ($n = 48$) vs 2+ ($n = 37$) HPV genotype							
		Unadjusted		Adjusted				
Cytokine	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value		
IL-1a	-0,178	(-0,371-0,014)	0,069	-0,054	(-0,146-0,038)	0,248		
IL-1ß	-0,078	(-0,405-0,249)	0,635	-0,020	(-0,175-0,135)	0,798		
IL-6	0,019	(-0,195-0,233)	0,858	-0,010	(-0,118-0,098)	0,851		
IL-12P40	0,039	(-0,190-0,268)	0,737	0,034	(-0,082-0,150)	0,560		
IL-12P70	-0,050	(-0,211-0,112)	0,544	-0,006	(-0,089-0,077)	0,881		
IL-18	-0,078	(-0,304-0,148)	0,495	0,020	(-0,095-0,135)	0,733		
MIF	-0,108	(-0,355-0,139)	0,386	-0,036	(-0,163-0,091)	0,573		
TNF-α	-0,089	(-0,250-0,072)	0,277	-0,023	(-0,104-0,057)	0,564		
TNF-β	0,004	(-0,141-0,149)	0,958	0,018	(-0,054-0,090)	0,622		
TRAİL	0,068	(-0,174-0,309)	0,578	0,044	(-0,077-0,164)	0,473		
CTACK	0,001	(-0,183-0,184)	0,994	0,038	(-0,053-0,130)	0,408		
EOTAXIN	0,142	(-0,178-0,462)	0,380	0,062	(-0,099-0,223)	0,444		
GRO-a	-0,222	(-0,610-0,165)	0,257	-0,072	(-0,267-0,122)	0,462		
IL-8	-0,142	(-0,401-0,116)	0,276	-0,050	(-0,182-0,083)	0,458		
IL-16	-0,013	(-0,237-0,211)	0,910	0,009	(-0,104-0,123)	0,871		
IP-10	-0,029	(-0,416-0,358)	0,881	0,009	(-0,173-0,190)	0,926		
MCP-1	-0,035	(-0,163-0,094)	0,593	-0,028	(-0,093-0,037)	0,391		
MCP-3	-0,039	(-0,267-0,189)	0,736	-0,039	(-0,153-0,075)	0,501		
MIG	-0,014	(-0,321-0,293)	0,928	0,023	(-0,127-0,172)	0,764		
MIP-1a	0,050	(-0,176-0,275)	0,662	0,007	(-0,106-0,119)	0,906		
ΜΙΡ-1β	0,035	(-0,225-0,295)	0,788	0,000	(-0,133-0,133)	0,997		
RANTES	0,040	(-0,279-0,359)	0,805	-0,023	(-0,184-0,138)	0,776		
IFN-a2	-0,055	(-0,151-0,040)	0,253	-0,004	(-0,053-0,044)	0,853		
SDF-1a	-0,065	(-0,213-0,084)	0,387	0,001	(-0,075-0,077)	0,976		
β-NGF	-0,129	(-0,504-0,246)	0,497	-0,039	(-0,230-0,151)	0,684		
FGF BASIC	-0,034	(-0,084-0,015)	0,175	-0,006	(-0,031-0,019)	0,617		
G-CSF	-0,159	(-0,430-0,111)	0,245	-0,064	(-0,203-0,074)	0,357		
GM-CSF	-0,010	(-0,045-0,025)	0,583	0,001	(-0,017-0,018)	0,936		
HGF	-0,082	(-0,307-0,144)	0,473	-0,026	(-0,138-0,085)	0,639		
IL-3	-0,035	(-0,145-0,075)	0,531	-0,003	(-0,058-0,053)	0,929		
IL-7	-0,083	(-0,217-0,050)	0,217	-0,041	(-0,108-0,027)	0,234		
IL-9	-0,081	(-0,192-0,030)	0,152	-0,044	(-0,100-0,012)	0,120		
LIF	-0,083	(-0,230-0,063)	0,261	-0,018	(-0,092-0,056)	0,628		
M-CSF	-0,162	(-0,3210,004)	0,044	-0,053	(-0,133-0,028)	0,197		
PDGF-BB	-0,034	(-0,168-0,100)	0,614	-0,028	(-0,096-0,040)	0,411		
SCF	-0,013	(-0,248-0,221)	0,910	0,001	(-0,114-0,115)	0,993		
SCGF-β	0,018	(-0,238-0,274)	0,889	0,008	(-0,122-0,139)	0,898		
VEGF	-0,072	(-0,276-0,133)	0,489	-0,011	(-0,115-0,094)	0,839		
IFN-γ	-0,071	(-0,199-0,057)	0,272	-0,022	(-0,087-0,043)	0,497		
IL-2	-0,050	(-0,398-0,298)	0,776	-0,044	(-0,214-0,126)	0,609		
1L-4	-0,050	(-0,146-0,046)	0,305	-0,031	(-0,079-0,017)	0,203		
IL-5	-0,169	(-0,487-0,150)	0,295	-0,170	(-0,3260,014)	0,033*		
IL-13	-0,065	(-0,173-0,043)	0,234	-0,020	(-0,076-0,035)	0,466		
IL-15	0,153	(-0,250-0,556)	0,452	0,069	(-0,131-0,270)	0,494		
IL-17	-0,038	(-0,160-0,084)	0,536	-0,017	(-0,079-0,045)	0,582		
IL-2ra	-0,094	(-0,230-0,043)	0,177	-0,027	(-0,094-0,041)	0,438		
IL-1ra	0,008	(-0,107-0,122)	0,895	0,002	(-0,054-0,057)	0,955		
IL-10	-0,048	(-0,135-0,040)	0,279	-0,012	(-0,057-0,032)	0,583		

P-values were determined using linear regression models. *P*<0.05 indicated by (*) and trending *p*-values in **bold**. Cytokine/Chemokine functions: *Pro-inflammatory*, Chemokines, Growth Factors, Adaptive response, Anti-inflammatory.

Table 5. MMP concentrations among women 1 ($n = 48$) vs 2+ ($n = 37$) HPV genotypes.								
		Unadjusted			Adjusted			
Protein	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value		
MMP-1	-0,247	(-0,653-0,159)	0,229	-0,225	(-0,634-0,184)	0,277		
MMP-2	0,306	(-0,190-0,802)	0,223	0,334	(-0,161-0,828)	0,183		
MMP-3	0,117	(-0,151-0,385)	0,388	0,129	(-0,140-0,398)	0,343		
MMP-7	0,230	(-0,119-0,578)	0,194	0,208	(-0,125-0,541)	0,217		
MMP-8	-0,390	(-1,570-0,790)	0,512	-0,392	(-1,597-0,812)	0,519		
MMP-9	-0,190	(-0,635-0,256)	0,400	-0,173	(-0,606-0,261)	0,430		
MMP-10	-0,197	(-0,576-0,182)	0,304	-0,188	(-0,572-0,196)	0,333		
MMP-12	-0,023	(-0,412-0,365)	0,905	-0,002	(-0,391-0,386)	0,990		
MMP-13	-0,081	(-0,468-0,305)	0,676	-0,057	(-0,436-0,321)	0,764		
P-values w	ere calculated usi	ng linear regressio	on models.					

Table 6. Cell frequencies among women 1 (n = 47) vs 2+ (n = 36) HPV genotypes.

		Unadjusted			Adjusted	
Cell Type	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value
LYMPHOCYTES	1,655	(-0,256-3,566)	0,089	1,603	(-0,333-3,538)	0,103
CD3	0,462	(-5,967-6,892)	0,887	0,133	(-6,418-6,685)	0,968
CD3CD38DR+CCR5+	-2,079	(-9,212-5,054)	0,563	-2,193	(-9,413-5,027)	0,547
CD3CCR5+CD38+	-3,556	(-12,644-5,532)	0,439	-3,718	(-12,812-5,375)	0,418
CD3CCR5+DR+	0,064	(-10,385-10,514)	0,990	0,021	(-10,349-10,392)	0,997
CD3CCR5+KI67+	0,863	(-9,447-11,173)	0,868	0,652	(-9,677-10,981)	0,900
CD3CD38+DR+	-3,691	(-12,021-4,639)	0,380	-3,784	(-12,086-4,518)	0,367
CD3CCR5 ⁺	-2,020	(-14,101-10,061)	0,740	-2,062	(-14,021-9,897)	0,732
CD3CD38 ⁺	-9,549	(-20,989-1,891)	0,101	-9,553	(-20,873-1,768)	0,097
CD3HLA-DR	1,188	(-10,114-12,490)	0,835	1,031	(-10,133-12,194)	0,855
CD3KI67	-2,980	(-14,762-8,802)	0,616	-3,169	(-14,909-8,570)	0,592
CD3-	3,421	(-6,522-13,364)	0,495	3,141	(-7,076-13,358)	0,542
NK Cells ²	-0,282	(-6,622-6,058)	0,929	-0,401	(-6,894-6,091)	0,542
CD3 Activation ¹	-5,386	(-17,224-6,451)	0,368	-5,395	(-16,878-6,088)	0,352
CD4	-4,353	(-13,838-5,131)	0,364	-4,325	(-13,502-4,852)	0,351
CD4CD38DR ⁺ CCR5 ⁺	0,244	(-5,054-5,541)	0,927	0,160	(-5,172-5,491)	0,953
CD4CCR5+CD38+	-2,263	(-11,675-7,150)	0,634	-2,170	(-11,229-6,888)	0,635
CD4CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	2,972	(-5,782-11,726)	0,501	2,735	(-6,149-11,619)	0,542
CD4CCR5+KI67+	4,021	(-5,903-13,944)	0,422	3,813	(-6,175-13,801)	0,449
CD4CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	-1,223	(-7,086-4,641)	0,679	-1,425	(-7,318-4,469)	0,632
CD4CCR5	2,288	(-10,836-15,413)	0,730	2,280	(-10,618-15,178)	0,726
CD4CD38	-8,401	(-19,589-2,787)	0,139	-8,244	(-19,198-2,711)	0,138
CD4HLA-DR	2,652	(-7,039-12,342)	0,588	2,161	(-7,678-12,000)	0,663
CD4KI67	0,772	(-11,092-12,635)	0,897	0,477	(-11,521-12,475)	0,937
CD4 Activation ¹	-2,781	(-15,615-10,054)	0,668	-2,860	(-15,598-9,877)	0,656
CD8	1,695	(-6,000-9,390)	0,662	1,708	(-5,985-9,402)	0,660
CD8CD38DR+CCR5+	-2,386	(-9,710-4,937)	0,519	-2,305	(-9,546-4,936)	0,528
CD8CCR5+CD38+	-3,662	(-12,544-5,219)	0,414	-3,736	(-12,686-5,215)	0,409
CD8CCR5 ⁺ DR ⁺	3,981	(-6,049-14,011)	0,432	3,963	(-6,104-14,030)	0,409
CD8CCR5+KI67+	2,354	(-8,159-12,867)	0,657	2,307	(-8,346-12,960)	0,668
CD8CD38 ⁺ DR ⁺	-3,237	(-13,534-7,059)	0,533	-2,995	(-12,814-6,824)	0,545
CD8CCR5	1,811	(-9,939-13,562)	0,760	1,748	(-10,175-13,671)	0,771
CD8CD38	-7,023	(-19,305-5,259)	0,259	-6,916	(-19,013-5,182)	0,259
CD8HLA-DR	6,162	(-7,186-19,511)	0,361	6,168	(-6,954-19,289)	0,352
CD8KI67	-0,479	(-14,383-13,424)	0,945	-0,351	(-14,416-13,713)	0,960
CD8 Activation ¹	1,396	(-12,025-14,816)	0,837	1,373	(-11,963-14,710)	0,838

P-values were calculated using linear regression models. Trending values indicated in **bold**. ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers.

APPENDIX D

Association between	oncogenic	HPV in	fections	and soluble	protein	biomarkers	of
inflammation							

Table 7. Cyt	ble 7. Cytokine concentrations among women with LR ($n = 39$) and HR ($n = 43$) H							
		Unadjusted		Adjusted				
Cytokine	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value		
IL-1a	0,099	(-0,095-0,293)	0,312	0,087	(-0,095-0,268)	0,344		
IL-1β	0,280	(-0,039-0,599)	0,084	0,268	(-0,031-0,567)	0,078		
IL-6	0,088	(-0,123-0,300)	0,407	0,098	(-0,114-0,309)	0,359		
IL-12P40	0,082	(-0,145-0,308)	0,475	0,074	(-0,154-0,303)	0,518		
IL-12P70	0,154	(-0,003-0,311)	0,054 <mark>*</mark>	0,150	(-0,009-0,309)	0,064		
IL-18	-0,035	(-0,260-0,191)	0,761	-0,044	(-0,270-0,183)	0,702		
MIF	-0,027	(-0,273-0,219)	0,828	-0,028	(-0,278-0,222)	0,821		
TNF-α	0,124	(-0,035-0,282)	0,125	0,120	(-0,037-0,277)	0,132		
TNF-β	0,094	(-0,048-0,237)	0,192	0,086	(-0,055-0,227)	0,228		
TRAIL	0,207	(-0,029-0,443)	0,085	0,192	(-0,042-0,425)	0,107		
CTACK	0,113	(-0,068-0,293)	0,217	0,103	(-0,077-0,282)	0,259		
EOTAXIN	0,285	(-0,028-0,598)	0,074	0,284	(-0,027-0,595)	0,073		
GRO-a	0,142	(-0,245-0,528)	0,468	0,131	(-0,252-0,515)	0,497		
IL-8	0,228	(-0,026-0,481)	0,077	0,222	(-0,034-0,479)	0,088		
IL-16	0,171	(-0,049-0,390)	0,125	0,163	(-0,058-0,383)	0,146		
IP-10	0,355	(-0,022-0,731)	0,064	0,341	(-0,008-0,690)	0,055		
MCP-1	0,124	(-0,001-0,249)	0,052 <mark>*</mark>	0,127	(0,002-0,252)	0,046 <mark>*</mark>		
MCP-3	-0,012	(-0,238-0,215)	0,918	-0,024	(-0,249-0,201)	0,834		
MIG	0,287	(-0,010-0,585)	0,058	0,268	(-0,020-0,556)	0,067		
MIP-1a	0,107	(-0,116-0,329)	0,344	0,099	(-0,121-0,319)	0,372		
MIP-1β	0,034	(-0,225-0,292)	0,796	0,028	(-0,233-0,290)	0,829		
RANTES	0,198	(-0,115-0,512)	0,212	0,188	(-0,126-0,502)	0,237		
IFN-α2	0,081	(-0,013-0,175)	0,088	0,075	(-0,018-0,169)	0,111		
SDF-1a	0,037	(-0,111-0,184)	0,624	0,033	(-0,116-0,182)	0,663		
β-NGF	0,163	(-0,208-0,535)	0,384	0,149	(-0,225-0,522)	0,430		
FGF BASIC	0,027	(-0,023-0,076)	0,284	0,024	(-0,025-0,073)	0,332		
G-CSF	0,139	(-0,131-0,408)	0,309	0,146	(-0,126-0,418)	0,289		
GM-CSF	0,019	(-0,016-0,054)	0,278	0,021	(-0,013-0,056)	0,219		
HGF	0,139	(-0,083-0,361)	0,216	0,130	(-0,087-0,348)	0,237		
IL-3	0,027	(-0,082-0,136)	0,626	0,022	(-0,088-0,131)	0,695		
IL-7	0,110	(-0,022-0,241)	0,101	0,106	(-0,026-0,238)	0,113		
IL-9 LIE	0,070	(-0,041-0,181)	0,214	0,065	(-0,046-0,175)	0,248		
LIF	0,049	(-0,097-0,195)	0,505	0,045	(-0,102-0,188)	0,550		
M-CSF DDCE DD	0,125	(-0,030-0,281)	0,128	0,117	(-0,041-0,273)	0,143		
r DGr-DD SCE	0,103	(-0,027-0,234)	0,120	0,101	(-0,030-0,233)	0,130		
SCF SCCF R	0,179	(-0,030-0,408)	0,124	0,103	(-0,039-0,380)	0,149		
VECE	0,039	(-0,194-0,313) (-0,018-0,382)	0,042	0,032	(-0,204-0,308) (-0,027-0,377)	0,089		
	0,102	(-0,010-0,302)	0,074	0,175	(-0,027-0,377)	0,000		
II - 2	0,100	(-0,01)-0,232)	0,090	0,105	(-0,021-0,230)	0,102		
IL-2 II -4	0.073	(-0,003-0,017) (-0,022-0,167)	0,109	0,071	(-0.023-0.165)	0,137		
IL-5	0.070	(-0.248-0.388)	0.662	0.066	(-0.250-0.381)	0.679		
Ш 12	0,110	(0.013 0.224)	0,002	0,000	$(0.011 \ 0.224)$	0.031*		
II -15	0,119	(0,013-0,224)	0 352	0.211	(0,011-0,224) (-0.182-0.603)	0.288		
II13 II17	0,104	(-0,211-0,387)	0,352	0,211	(-0, 102 - 0, 003)	0,200		
IL-17	0,104	(-0,013-0,223) (-0,032-0,238)	0.134	0,100	(-0,020-0,219) (-0,040-0,225)	0,101		
IL-10	0.064	(-0.022-0.150)	0 144	0.063	(-0.024-0.150)	0.152		
IL-1ra	0,021	(-0,093-0,134)	0,717	0,028	(-0,082-0,137)	0,618		

P-values were determined using linear regression models. *P*<0.05 indicated with (*) and trends in **bold**. Cytokine/Chemokine functions: *Pro-inflammatory*, *Chemokines*, *Growth Factors*, *Adaptive response*, *Anti-inflammatory*.

	Unadjusted			Adjusted			
Protein	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	β-Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value	
MMP-1	0,169	(-0,235-0,573)	0,408	0,163	(-0,245-0,571)	0,429	
MMP-2	0,371	(-0,118-0,860)	0,135	0,349	(-0,142-0,840)	0,161	
MMP-3	0,247	(-0,014-0,508)	0,063	0,239	(-0,025-0,503)	0,075	
MMP-7	-0,002	(-0,351-0,347)	0,991	-0,031	(-0,365-0,303)	0,854	
MMP-8	0,285	(-0,885-1,455)	0,630	0,236	(-0,962-1,434)	0,696	
MMP-9	0,378	(-0,057-0,814)	0,088	0,347	(-0,078-0,772)	0,108	
MMP-10	0,103	(-0,275-0,480)	0,590	0,090	(-0,294-0,473)	0,643	
MMP-12	0,289	(-0,090-0,669)	0,133	0,280	(-0,100-0,661)	0,147	
MMP-13	0,200	(-0,181-0,581)	0,299	0,177	(-0,197-0,552)	0,349	
P-values we	ere calculated usir	ng linear regressio	on model. Tre	ending values indi	cated in bold .		

Table 8. MMP concentrations among women with LR (n = 39) and HR (n = 43) HPV.

Table 9. Cellular frequencies among women with LR (n = 39) and HR (n = 44) HPV.

Cell Type β-Coefficient 95% CI P-Value β-Coefficient 95% CI P-Value LYMPHOCYTES 1,910 (0,024-3,795) 0,047* 1,987 (0,077-3,898) 0,042 CD3 -1,913 (-8,284-4,458) 0,552 -2,214 (-8,725-4,296) 0,500	ue *)
LYMPHOCYTES1,910(0,024-3,795)0,047*1,987(0,077-3,898)0,042CD3-1,913(-8,284-4,458)0,552-2,214(-8,725-4,296)0,500	*) / /
CD3 -1,913 (-8,284-4,458) 0,552 -2,214 (-8,725-4,296) 0,500) 7
	1
CD3CD38DR+CCR5 + -0,567 (-7,645-6,512) 0,874 -1,055 (-8,252-6,142) 0,771	7
CD3CCR5+CD38+ -0,154 (-9,212-8,904) 0,973 -0,886 (-9,986-8,214) 0,847	`
CD3CCR5+DR + -2,303 (-12,639-8,034) 0,659 -3,346 (-13,637-6,945) 0,519	,
CD3CCR5+KI67 + 0,680 (-9,532-10,892) 0,895 0,741 (-9,536-11,018) 0,886	5
CD3CD38+DR + -1,533 (-9,816-6,750) 0,714 -2,409 (-10,695-5,877) 0,564	ł
CD3CCR5 + 0,982 (-11,021-12,984) 0,871 -0,198 (-12,126-11,731) 0,974	ł
CD3CD38 + -4,731 (-16,235-6,773) 0,416 -5,913 (-17,321-5,495) 0,305	;
CD3HLA-DR -3,654 (-14,821-7,514) 0,517 -5,074 (-16,124-5,976) 0,363	\$
CD3KI67 0,384 (-11,333-12,101) 0,948 0,523 (-11,199-12,245) 0,929)
CD3- 1,964 (-7,914-11,842) 0,693 1,757 (-8,398-11,913) 0,731	L
NK Cells ² 4,036 (-2,205-10,276) 0,201 4,096 (-2,336-10,527) 0,207	1
CD3 Activation ¹ -3,892 (-15,675-7,891) 0,513 -5,519 (-16,961-5,922) 0,340)
CD4 -0,306 (-9,772-9,160) 0,949 0,060 (-9,139-9,258) 0,990)
CD4CD38DR+CCR5 + 0,829 (-4,415-6,073) 0,754 0,535 (-4,769-5,839) 0,841	l
CD4CCR5+CD38+ -0,005 (-9,365-9,355) 0,999 -1,057 (-10,096-7,982) 0,817	/
CD4CCR5+DR + 1,558 (-7,130-10,246) 0,722 1,239 (-7,618-10,095) 0,781	l
CD4CCR5+KI67 + 5,725 (-4,061-15,511) 0,248 5,802 (-4,086-15,690) 0,246	5
CD4CD38+DR + 0,144 (-5,670-5,958) 0,961 -0,104 (-5,976-5,768) 0,972	2
CD4CCR5 5,641 (-7,341-18,624) 0,390 4,508 (-8,318-17,333) 0,486	5
CD4CD38 -3,517 (-14,752-7,718) 0,535 -4,684 (-15,708-6,340) 0,400)
CD4HLA-DR 0,537 (-9,078-10,152) 0,912 0,347 (-9,455-10,148) 0,944	ł
CD4KI67 7,105 (-4,572-18,781) 0,230 7,251 (-4,596-19,098) 0,227	/
CD4 Activation ¹ 1,815 (-10,938-14,568) 0,778 0,638 (-12,073-13,348) 0,921	
CD8 3,336 (-4,279-10,950) 0,386 3,554 (-4,082-11,190) 0,357	/
CD8CD38DR+CCR5 + 2,441 (-4,811-9,693) 0,505 1,524 (-5,691-8,740) 0,675	5
CD8CCR5+CD38 + 2,821 (-6,013-11,655) 0,527 2,035 (-6,914-10,985) 0,652	2
CD8CCR5+DR + 3,662 (-6,277-13,601) 0,466 2,632 (-7,407-12,671) 0,603	3
CD8CCR5+KI67 + 1,193 (-9,229-11,615) 0,820 1,373 (-9,235-11,981) 0,797	/
CD8CD38+DR + -1,936 (-12,150-8,278) 0,707 -3,665 (-13,422-6,093) 0,457	/
CD8CCR5 6,483 (-5,104-18,070) 0,269 5,905 (-5,911-17,720) 0,323	3
CD8CD38 -4,179 (-16,437-8,080) 0,500 -5,675 (-17,765-6,414) 0,353	;
CD8HLA-DR 1,459 (-11,828-14,745) 0,828 -0,360 (-13,490-12,769) 0,957	/
CD8KI67 2,094 (-11,704-15,892) 0,763 2,617 (-11,390-16,623) 0,711	L
CD8 Activation ¹ 1,631 (-11,694-14,955) 0,808 0,356 (-12,940-13,652) 0,958	}

P-values were calculated using linear regression models. P < 0.05 are indicated by (*). ¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers.
APPENDIX E

Association between HPV, STI and soluble protein biomarkers of inflammation

Table 10. Cytokine concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.							
	HPV-STI- (<i>N</i> = 67)	HPV ONLY $(N = 66)$	STI ONLY $(N = 14)$	HPV+STI+ ($N = 15$)			
Critalina	Median (IQR) log ₁₀	Median (IQR) log ₁₀	Median (IQR) log10	Median (IQR) log ₁₀	D Volue		
Cytokine	pg/ml	pg/ml	pg/ml	pg/ml	r-value		
IL-1a	2,032 (1,614-2,473)	2,143 (1,834-2,444) #	2,683 (1,930-3,111)*	2,540 (2,247-2,797)*	0.006 ^a		
IL-1β	1,563 (1,009-2,098)	1,557 (1,044-2,251)	2,395 (1,650-2,826)*	2,118 (1,719-2,335)*	0.005 ^a		
IL-6	0,795 (0,522-1,256)	1,004 (0,787-1,351)*	1,207 (0,972-1,735)*#	0,892 (0,711-1,055)	0.004 ^a		
IL-12P40	2,425 (2,296-2,507)	2,423 (2,320-2,520)	2,551 (2,370-2,731)*	2,512 (2,317-2,594)	0.065		
IL-12P70	1,709 (1,457-1,939)	1,774 (1,476-2,072)	1,892 (1,481-2,160)	1,943 (1,617-2,054)	0.230		
IL-18	2,351 (1,855-2,677)	2,293 (1,954-2,684)	2,541 (2,037-2,801)	2,219 (2,113-3,025)	0.352		
MIF	3,551 (3,244-3,904)	3,549 (3,249-3,834)	3,617 (3,197-3,902)	3,487 (3,085-3,948)	0.960		
TNF-α	0,983 (0,769-1,388)	1,074 (0,906-1,348)	1,369 (1,085-1,874)*	1,209 (1,031-1,483)	0.029 ^a		
TNF-B	0,542 (0,387-0,633)	0,537 (0,405-0,661) #	0,560 (0,403-1,005)	0,734 (0,524-0,848)*	0.072		
TRAIL	1,420 (1,092-1,738)	1,472 (1,236-1,842) #	1,861 (1,448-2,354)*	1,866 (1,489-2,004)*	0.001 ^a		
CTACK	1,222 (1,040-1,402)	1,216 (1,084-1,405) #	1,392 (1,284-1,759)*	1,481 (1,195-1,590)*	0.004 ^a		
EOTAXIN	0,732 (0,418-0,996)	0,823 (0,475-1,063)	1,003 (0,460-1,299)	0,900 (0,732-1,064)	0.117		
GRO-A	2,693 (2,192-3,456)	2,956 (2,352-3,484)	3,075 (2,778-3,754)	3,206 (2,532-3,783)	0.311		
IL-8	2,601 (2,143-3,038)	2,692 (2,344-3,050)	3,028 (2,589-3,638)*	2,962 (2,669-3,221)	0.108		
IL-16	1,542 (1,349-1,816)	1,578 (1,437-1,890)	1,876 (1,673-2,332)*	1,828 (1,456-2,137)*	0.022 ^a		
IP-10	2,306 (1,599-2,728)	2,322 (1,704-2,959)	2,636 (2,290-3,472)*	2,280 (1,901-3,523)	0.153		
MCP-1	1,458 (1,368-1,544)	1,469 (1,356-1,611)	1,540 (1,377-1,800)	1,458 (1,316-1,485)	0.465		
MCP-3	1,036 (0,751-1,156)	0,975 (0,774-1,185) #	1,047 (0,920-1,457)	1,184 (0,958-1,365)*	0.091		
MIG	2,422 (1,821-2,889)	2,466 (2,059-3,046)	3,200 (2,447-3,821)*	3,247 (2,299-3,516)*	0.004 ^a		
MIP-1a	0,009 (-0,252-0,316)	0,008 (-0,204-0,313)	0,314 (0,028-0,698)*	0,193 (-0,004-0,483)	0.026		
MIP-1B	1,043 (0,728-1,663)	1,281 (0,846-1,752)	1,487 (1,135-1,877)*	1,224 (1,015-1,940)	0.070		
RANTES	0,754 (0,340-0,975)	0,793 (0,525-1,114)	1,161 (0,796-1,527)*	1,035 (0,732-1,251)*	0.005 ^a		
IFN-a2	1,225 (1,143-1,345)	1,242 (1,119-1,369) #	1,379 (1,233-1,648)*	1,437 (1,160-1,518)*	0.011		
β-NGF	-0,131 (-2,000-0,246)	-0,117 (-0,498-0,302)	0,221 (-0,144-0,754)*	0,366 (-0,377-0,630)*	0.016 ^a		
FGF BASIC	1,409 (1,358-1,493)	1,422 (1,371-1,482)	1,503 (1,426-1,587)*	1,481 (1,353-1,562)	0.043 ^a		
G-CSF	2,199 (1,591-2,701)	2,395 (2,066-2,965)*	2,517 (2,202-3,307)*	2,239 (1,800-2,730)	0.053		
GM-CSF	1,840 (1,789-1,908)	1,855 (1,802-1,907) #	1,890 (1,775-1,932)	1,799 (1,751-1,861)	0.165		
HGF	2,167 (1,747-2,748)	2,323 (1,918-2,780)	2,788 (2,227-3,329)*	2,575 (2,299-2,915)*	0.005 ^a		
IL-3	2,024 (1,891-2,114)	1,997 (1,951-2,154)	2,118 (1,996-2,479)*	2,258 (1,964-2,326)*	0.030		
IL-7	0,781 (0,547-1,049)	0,865 (0,683-1,031)	0,992 (0,741-1,073)	0,903 (0,780-1,086)	0.166		
IL-9	0,655 (0,515-0,844)	0,733 (0,590-0,848)	0,785 (0,617-1,021)	0,815 (0,717-0,930)*	0.068		
LIF	1,073 (0,899-1,262)	1,075 (0,936-1,239) #	1,164 (1,100-1,620)*	1,305 (1,216-1,375)*	0.006 ^a		
M-CSF	1,778 (1,565-2,020)	1,926 (1,598-2,121)	1,995 (1,661-2,350)	2,056 (1,729-2,203)*	0.065		
PDGF-BB	1,078 (0,817-1,300)	1,127 (0,966-1,361)	1,270 (1,040-1,669)*	1,276 (0,971-1,392)*	0.040		
SCF	0,960 (0,694-1,232)	1,010 (0,765-1,337)	1,443 (0,894-1,810)*	1,477 (0,887-1,706)*	0.012 ^a		
SCGF-β	2,548 (2,090-2,900)	2,734 (2,384-3,037)	3,137 (2,438-3,350)*	2,756 (2,367-3,094)	0.036 ^a		
SDF-1A	2,303 (2,054-2,646)	2,426 (2,188-2,679)	2,511 (2,375-2,734)*	2,511 (2,216-2,736)	0.109		
VEGF	2,333 (1,943-2,571)	2,405 (2,092-2,710)	2,581 (2,108-3,058)	2,681 (2,275-2,833)	0.164		
IFN-G	1,312 (1,060-1,536)	1,3/1 (1,192-1,530)	1,562 (1,222-1,826)*	1,448 (1,335-1,615)	0.087		
IL-2 IL-4	0,446 (0,236-0,659)	0,436(0,187-0,680)	0,546 (0,589-0,886)	0,322 (-0,495-0,520)	0.264		
1L-4 II 5	-0,015(-0,181-0,158)	0,025(-0,107-0,155) 0.242(-0.252,0.500)*	0,204 (-0,034-0,399)*	0,093 (-0,000-0,290)	0.040		
IL-5	-0,051 (-1,222-0,403)	0,243 (-0,253-0,500)*	$0,490(0,200-0,727)^*$	0,427 (0,255-0,593)*	0.001		
1L-13 H 15	0,555(0,552-0,728)	0,503(0,529-0,733)	0,014 (0,392-0,813)	0,545(0,403-0,780)	0.05/		
1L-15 II 17	0,095 (-1,200-0,014)	0,330 (-1,200-0,700)	0,332 (-1,200-0,943)	0,100 (-1,200-0,490)	0.1/1		
IL-1/ II 2rc	1,007(0,957-1,200) 1 272 (1 115 1 420)	1,075(0,775-1,279) 1 241 (1 081 1 420) #	$1,201(1,034-1,090)^{+}$ 1 476 (1 210 1 057)*	1,127(0,777-1,400) 1 567(1 776 1 672)*	0.034 0.003a		
IL-210 II 10	1,2/2 (1,113-1,420) 1,606 (1,424,1,715)	1,241(1,001-1,420) # 1,626(1,512,1,915)	1,4/0 (1,319-1,937)* 1 604 (1 519 1 972)*	$1,302(1,240-1,073)^{*}$ 1,640(1,609(1,772))	0.004		
IL-IV IL-IRA	4.107 (3.911-4.211)	4.115 (3.985-4.248) #	4,108(4,000-4,291) #	3.943 (3.749-4.095)	0.130		

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing. Cytokines are ordered according to functionality: pro-inflammatory, chemokines, growth factors, adaptive response and anti-inflammatory cytokines.

	HPV-STI- (<i>N</i> = 67)	HPV ONLY (<i>N</i> = 66)	STI ONLY (<i>N</i> = 14)	HPV+STI+ (<i>N</i> = 15)	
Protein	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	Median (IQR) log10 pg/ml	P-Value
MMP-1	2,690 (3,150-3,440)	2,435 (3,150-3,420)	3,163 (3,550-3,848)*	3,160 (3,350-3,480)	0.018
MMP-2	2,700 (3,340-3,770)	2,838 (3,525-3,780) #	3,415 (4,050-4,355)*	3,400 (3,730-4,160)*	0.002 ^a
MMP-3	2,630 (2,810-3,170)	2,510 (2,930-3,273)	2,813 (3,265-3,603)*	2,810 (3,170-3,240)*	0.027
MMP-7	1,810 (2,420-3,110)	2,003 (2,515-3,150)	2,098 (2,760-3,330)	2,210 (2,460-3,610)	0.199
MMP-8	4,190 (5,000-5,920)	4,108 (4,950-6,223)	4,905 (6,560-7,623)*	4,930 (5,240-6,050)	0.020 ^a
MMP-9	3,890 (4,500-5,410)	3,680 (4,635-5,443)	4,340 (5,685-6,335)*	4,510 (5,000-5,440)	0.017 ^a
MMP-10	2,290 (2,890-3,180)	2,270 (2,960-3,313)	2,793 (3,135-3,538)	2,700 (2,900-3,010)	0.310
MMP-12	2,440 (2,830-3,230)	2,268 (2,855-3,408) #	2,895 (3,330-4,013)*	2,840 (3,240-3,700)*	0.013
MMP-13	1.710 (2.140-2.630)	1.708 (2.185-2.605) #	2,278 (2,595-2,965)*	2,270 (2,490-2,690)	0.027

 Table 11. MMP concentrations among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing.

Table 12. Cellular frequencies among HPV-STI-, HPV+STI-, HPV-STI+ and HPV+STI+ women.

	HPV-STI- (N = 66)	HPV ONLY (N = 69)	STI ONLY $(N = 14)$	HPV+STI+ ($N = 13$)	
Cell Type	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)	Median % (IQR)	P-Value
LYMPHOCYTES	1,083 (2,170-5,350)	0,982 (2,290-5,715)	0,631 (3,520-7,860)	1,050 (2,940-4,365)	0.971
CD3	1,178 (10,350-27,730)	2,755 (13,400-23,450)	3,678 (10,190-38,700)	1,290 (11,400-24,350)	0.773
CD3CD38DR+CCR5+	0,829 (4,770-13,530)	1,550 (5,090-13,730)	6,935 (10,300-26,850)*	3,625 (6,450-30,500)	0.060
CD3CCR5+CD38+	4,650 (16,400-25,600)	6,170 (17,900-27,800)	13,250 (28,800-42,600)*	15,600 (21,900-40,950)	0.056
CD3CCR5+DR+	3,403 (8,990-19,980)	3,883 (11,000-28,500)	8,050 (14,600-51,600)	6,885 (25,200-50,200)*	0.081
CD3CCR5+KI67+	0,000 (3,800-13,850)	0,000 (8,765-24,900)	0,074 (17,700-57,350)	0,000 (16,600-28,050)	0.353
CD3CD38+DR+	3,135 (10,200-20,450)	4,680 (11,050-24,550)	13,250 (18,900-28,850)*	6,150 (16,900-47,000)	0.037
CD3CCR5+	21,100 (38,700-59,950)	22,250 (44,600-57,850)	34,200 (57,450-73,050)	30,950 (46,700-84,000)	0.163
CD3CD38+	21,180 (37,600-52,380)	16,900 (42,400-53,650)	32,700 (54,700-73,550)*	26,350 (61,700-75,600)	0.045
CD3HLA-DR	10,550 (23,900-40,900)	13,230 (24,950-49,530) #	21,150 (27,800-61,050)	24,000 (34,900-66,500)*	0.111
CD3KI67	0,513 (13,500-31,180)	0,049 (21,400-40,750)	0,072 (21,600-63,280)	3,342 (29,000-38,250)	0.656
CD3-	23,650 (41,500-59,780)	21,850 (35,500-58,850)	24,880 (29,750-67,780)	22,550 (33,200-59,800)	0.909
NK Cells ²	1,580 (5,520-12,350)	1,830 (4,080-17,500)	0,403 (2,730-20,650)	1,283 (3,745-12,530)	0.972
CD3 Activation ¹	53,250 (68,200-91,030)	55,150 (74,600-86,850) <mark>#</mark>	75,250 (86,050-93,630)*	76,500 (90,100-98,850)*	0.007^{a}
CD4	49,030 (62,250-72,880)	48,350 (58,000-67,050)	53,780 (64,450-70,300)	29,050 (45,900-63,850)	0.135
CD4CD38DR+CCR5+	0,084 (3,715-10,980)	0,608 (4,125-12,180)	4,065 (7,610-18,900)	1,260 (5,910-15,200)	0.375
CD4CCR5+CD38+	3,370 (16,700-30,700)	4,725 (18,600-31,500) #	9,128 (26,950-38,280)	18,300 (27,300-56,000)*	0.098
CD4CCR5+DR+	2,270 (8,740-19,380)	2,090 (8,940-28,300)	5,310 (12,600-37,850)	1,260 (9,460-28,450)	0.843
CD4CCR5+KI67+	0,000 (3,770-19,250)	0,000 (3,400-27,780)	0,000 (0,275-37,950)	0,000 (18,200-26,550)	0.959
CD4CD38+DR+	1,230 (8,160-17,450)	1,890 (8,770-18,230)	7,685 (12,300-21,750)	2,180 (6,920-21,850)	0.409
CD4CCR5	24,800 (44,700-69,200)	19,750 (43,300-62,800)	24,380 (56,550-75,830)	30,700 (54,500-95,450)	0.337
CD4CD38	21,280 (39,650-58,100)	17,700 (42,900-54,600) #	26,080 (56,150-74,880)	30,800 (63,600-75,400)	0.074
CD4HLA-DR	7,140 (16,800-32,750)	5,500 (19,100-41,550)	9,795 (20,300-43,950)	3,050 (10,800-35,950)	0.894
CD4KI67	0,000 (12,050-33,430)	0,000 (8,860-36,850)	0,000 (0,240-44,880)	0,000 (25,000-36,050)	0.978
CD4 Activation ¹	50,850 (72,750-91,580)	53,000 (72,700-84,400) #	62,350 (83,050-91,980)	74,650 (84,300-98,950)	0.092
CD8	24,080 (35,650-49,100)	24,400 (36,600-45,700)	29,600 (32,350-44,430)	20,700 (35,100-54,000)	0.995
CD8CD38DR+CCR5+	0,000 (3,615-9,955)	0,000 (6,280-13,700)	4,735 (11,600-17,100)*	3,165 (8,320-30,550)	0.067
CD8CCR5+CD38+	0,597 (9,300-18,550)	3,585 (12,900-22,850)	9,155 (18,250-46,430)*	6,360 (18,100-36,050)	0.084
CD8CCR5+DR+	0,137 (8,110-19,130)	1,958 (12,150-26,500)	8,830 (14,300-27,950)	4,765 (23,600-51,350)	0.157
CD8CCR5+KI67+	0,000 (2,380-13,900)	0,000 (5,265-26,180)	0,000 (0,171-47,150)	0,000 (9,520-24,900)	0.694
CD8CD38+DR+	0,163 (10,400-21,600)	1,830 (12,700-30,980) #	15,050 (18,800-34,800)*	5,865 (34,900-68,700)*	0.030
CD8CCR5	14,250 (28,500-51,250)	17,450 (31,900-50,000)	24,830 (42,500-64,200)	17,150 (32,600-70,750)	0.470
CD8CD38	8,730 (33,200-50,200)	13,150 (38,600-54,100) #	32,050 (50,100-75,680)*	23,700 (67,400-81,800)*	0.033
CD8HLA-DR	6,210 (29,900-54,050)	10,550 (36,650-57,150) #	29,350 (40,000-68,150)	28,750 (54,300-85,850)*	0.072
CD8KI67	0,000 (13,500-35,100)	0,000 (11,700-41,050)	0,000 (20,000-97,680)	0,000 (26,100-39,700)	0.902
CD8 Activation ¹	45.230 (67.950-90.580)	50.500 (70.800-88.150) #	73,580 (85,150-94,200)*	71,900 (88,400-99,750)*	0.014

Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare medians between groups. P-values<0.05 were considered significant. * denote significant differences between HPV-STI- and HPV only, or STI only or HPV+STI+; while # represents a statistical difference in medians between HPV+STI+ and HPV only, or STI only. * or # in red print indicate p values significant after multiple comparisons adjustment by Dunn's post-testing.¹Activation refers to cells expressing CCR5, HLA-DR and/or CD38. ²NK cells refers to those expressing CD56⁺CD16⁺ markers.